

Expert Advisory Group on revalidation Final report

August 2017

Contents

Part A2
Chair's message 2
Executive summary
Key findings: Continuing professional development
Key findings: Proactively identifying and assessing 'at-risk' and poorly performing practitioners13
Recommendations for strengthened CPD20
Recommendations for managing the risk of poor performance22
Part B: Context
Part C: The evidence for change
Strengthening continuing professional development29
Optimal CPD: The evidence and practice
Proactive management of risk from practitioner performance46
Part D: Appendices
Appendix A: Submissions received70
Appendix B: State and territory stakeholder forums and meetings73
Appendix C: Terms of reference of the Revalidation Expert Advisory Group75
Appendix D: Biographies of EAG members77
Appendix E: Terms of reference for the Consultative Committee on the revalidation of medical practitioners
Appendix F: Glossary81
Appendix G: Acronyms
Appendix H: References

Part A

Chair's message

The Expert Advisory Group on revalidation (EAG) is pleased to deliver this report offering options to ensure that medical practitioners in Australia maintain and enhance their skills throughout their working lives. In this report, this is called revalidation.

Undertaking this work has been a challenge and a privilege. We have had the opportunity to research widely and think deeply about how best to shape the landscape of medical practice in Australia, in the interests of the community and to promote public safety. We have been mindful of the Medical Board of Australia's (MBA) clear request for advice and recommendations that are practical, implementable and fair.

We consulted extensively on our interim report and thank all the individuals and organisations who contributed their thoughts and ideas. In particular, we are grateful to the specialist colleges who invested their time and shared their considerable expertise. A summary of what we heard in the consultation is included in this report. The feedback we gathered helped to sharpen our thinking and refine our proposals.

We thank the members of the Revalidation Consultative Committee for their rigorous discussions and constructive advice.

I am grateful to the MBA and in particular, its Chair, Dr Joanna Flynn, for her confidence and trust in asking me to lead this important project. The diligence, helpful guidance and tireless good humour of the AHPRA Medical Team, Helen Tierney, Nicole Newton and Dr Joanne Katsoris, has been invaluable. As Chair, I would like to thank my colleagues on the EAG for their thoughtful contributions and spirited engagement with the issues at the heart of this report.

We commend it to you.

Professor Elizabeth Farmer Chair, Expert Advisory Group

Executive summary

The fundamental purpose of revalidation is to ensure public safety in healthcare.

In August 2016, the Medical Board of Australia's (MBA or Board) Expert Advisory Group on revalidation (EAG) released an interim report on revalidation. It proposed a two-part approach to supporting medical practitioners to maintain and enhance their professional skills and knowledge and remain fit to practise medicine:

- strengthened continuing professional development (CPD), and
- increased proactive identification and assessment of 'at-risk' and poorly performing practitioners.

This final report builds on our interim report, heeds much of the advice and suggestions made by stakeholders during an extensive consultation process and represents our best advice to the Board.

We recommend an integrated approach to revalidation that will help improve public safety and better identify and manage risk in the Australian healthcare setting by:

- maintaining and enhancing the performance of all doctors practising in Australia through efficient, effective, contemporary, evidence-based CPD relevant to their scope of practice, and
- proactively identifying doctors who are either performing poorly or are at risk of performing poorly, assessing their performance and if necessary, supporting their remediation.

The revalidation process itself should be supportive not punitive, with significant overlap of purpose and outcome from activities designed to strengthen CPD and the activities that proactively identify potential risk and manage it effectively.

Guiding principles

This approach to revalidation in Australia is evolutionary. It is practical, proportionate and tailored to the Australian healthcare setting. It is based on these guiding principles:

- smarter not harder: strengthened CPD should increase value and effectiveness
- integration: all recommended approaches should be integrated with – and draw on –

existing systems where possible to avoid duplication of effort, and

 relevant, practical and proportionate: all recommended improvements should be relevant to the Australian healthcare environment, feasible and practical to implement and proportionate to public risk.

While revalidation in its many forms is progressing internationally, we do not believe Australia should simply adopt an existing model from another jurisdiction. We note that the MBA has ruled out UK-style revalidation and formal examination processes for Australia.

We have tailored our recommendations to the Australian healthcare context and as requested by the Board, made recommendations that are practical, implementable and fair.

To avoid confusion, we advise the MBA to replace the term 'revalidation' with a new description of the actions they propose to take to support medical practitioners to maintain and enhance their professional skills and knowledge and remain fit to practise medicine.

Strengthened CPD

Strengthened CPD builds on what has already been achieved in current Australian CPD programs that are relevant to the individual practitioner's scope of practice. We are not proposing to develop and implement fundamentally new processes, but to extract more value from existing CPD programs and encourage development and innovation.

The EAG recommends a strengthened system of CPD that is robust, evidence-based, flexible to meet future needs and clearly linked to patient safety and improved performance. This involves:

- raising the quality and effectiveness of CPD by:
 - requiring the accreditation of all CPD programs
 - eliminating self-directed CPD undertaken outside accredited programs
 - prescribing the extent, proportion and broad types of CPD to be undertaken by all registered medical practitioners

- requiring all medical practitioners to nominate a CPD program as their 'CPD home'¹
- requiring all medical practitioners to prepare a professional development plan (PDP) for each CPD period that is relevant to their scope of practice, and
- requiring CPD programs to recognise legitimate CPD activities undertaken in the workplace or through other providers
- ensuring equitable access to diverse CPD programs relevant to practitioners' scope of practice by:
 - enabling new CPD programs to be established
 - ensuring existing programs are accessible to all practitioners with a relevant scope of practice
 - ensuring CPD programs guide practitioners who do not provide direct patient care in selecting relevant CPD activities
- supporting improved access to relevant data-sets so medical practitioners can better measure their outcomes and review their performance, and
- improving transition support for medical practitioners changing their scope of practice or planning for retirement.

We also recognise that careful planning and a phased transition will be needed to enable the smooth implementation of the proposed arrangements.

Proactively identifying and assessing 'at-risk' and poorly performing practitioners

International research indicates that about six per cent of medical practitioners are poorly performing at any one time. No Australian research has yet reliably identified how many medical practitioners in Australia fall into this category and future Australia-specific research should ratify this number. In the meantime, action is required to identify, assess and where possible remediate all of these practitioners, in the public interest.

Prevention is also better than cure. We need to be able to identify 'at-risk' practitioners early;

assess, support and remediate them when possible; and manage any ongoing risk to public safety. Patients have a right to expect this and as a profession, doctors have a responsibility to ensure it.

Many recommended activities to strengthen CPD will also help to more effectively identify and manage risk. For example, performance review and outcome measurement through strengthened CPD will constructively identify practitioners' performance gaps that may otherwise pose risk to patients, but can be addressed with targeted education or professional development. Equally, increased peer review in a standard CPD process will increase engagement and feedback and provide additional support for professionally isolated practitioners.

We have identified three broad areas of risk and proposed a range of strategies to address them:

Individual characteristics

Address age related risk of poor performance by:

- requiring doctors at 70 years and every three years thereafter to undertake a confidential health check, including cognitive screening and undertake a formal managed performance review process with feedback, credited to the practitioner's CPD
- encouraging CPD providers, medical indemnity insurers and employers to increase support, including promoting annual health checks for later career doctors
- commission research to evaluate the outcomes of the health and performance screening processes and the utility of this approach in detecting performance or health concerns that may influence fitness to practise.

Increasing system responses to practitioners with multiple complaints and/or notifications by:

- requiring practitioners with three or more substantiated notifications and/or complaints over a five-year period, to undertake additional assessments to investigate the potential risks to the public
- interrogating the notifications data it holds about doctors with multiple notifications, to identify patterns of potential underperformance and poor performance
- develop memoranda of understanding (MOUs) with relevant organisations may

¹ Where a practitioner holds registration in more than one specialty, they may have more than one 'CPD home'

assist in information sharing about complaints or potential risks.

Practice contexts

Manage risk from professional isolation by:

- developing agreed indicators to identify and manage risk from professional isolation
 - requiring doctors who meet the agreed indicators for professional isolation to direct the 25 per cent of unallocated CPD activities within their minimum CPD requirements towards managing identified risk from practice context.

Health systems and culture

- Work with jurisdictions, employers, and medical indemnity insurers to address underdeveloped and fragmented systems for the early identification and effective local management of underperformance
- Establish MOUs on processes to facilitate and strengthen robust information sharing about performance concerns/issues between relevant agencies and stakeholders
- Address poor professional behaviours in early career doctors by alerting stakeholders to the future risk to patient safety from early poor professionalism
- Lead work, in partnership with other stakeholders, to develop a shared understanding of the roles and responsibilities of employers, colleges and other health sector stakeholders for identifying issues and managing remediation
- Work with stakeholders and holders of large datasets to find ways to create and share good quality individual, team and comparative data.

About this report

Part A of this report details our key findings and recommendations.

Part B provides the context for this report. It includes the role of medical regulation in Australia, the status of revalidation around the world, outlines the consultation process we undertook in developing this report and gives an account of what we learnt from it. Part C makes the case for change and provides the evidence to support our findings and recommendations.

Part D contains the appendices, including the glossary and references.

Key findings: Continuing professional development

Introduction

Continuing professional development (CPD) is the means by which members of the medical profession maintain, improve and broaden their knowledge, expertise and competence, and develop the personal qualities required in their professional lives. Contemporary standards frameworks such as CanMEDS 2015¹ define a range of domains of professional practice beyond medical expertise. These include the practitioner's role as an advocate, teacher, communicator and collaborator with others. This report asserts that these domains of professional practice are important and should be included in all practitioners' CPD activities, alongside those that strengthen specific medical expertise.

The MBA has set the standard for CPD that all registered medical practitioners in Australia must meet. Setting this standard, and holding doctors to account against it, is a requirement of the Board set out in the Health Practitioner Regulation National Law as in force in each state and territory (the National Law).

A detailed glossary is included on page 81 of this report. It explains what we mean by the terms used widely in this section such as CPD program, CPD home and CPD activity.

1. Inconsistent CPD requirements exist

The MBA CPD registration standard sets out the CPD requirements of all registered medical practitioners. It is the core regulatory tool requiring all doctors to undertake professional development activities to maintain and enhance the knowledge and skills needed for ongoing fitness to practise.

However, there are inconsistent CPD requirements between medical practitioners with specialist and general registration in the current registration standard. Practitioners on the specialist register must meet all requirements set by their accredited college CPD program. Practitioners with general registration may undertake 'self-directed CPD',² subject to certain general requirements.

2. Self-directed CPD undertaken outside accredited programs does not assure quality

The MBA is not currently able to monitor the quality or educational value of CPD undertaken by medical practitioners when it is organised

6

entirely outside an accredited program or framework.

To provide robust assurance about CPD programs and activities, and enable them to be monitored and evaluated, CPD that is undertaken entirely outside an accredited program should not be recognised. This will align CPD requirements and assure consistency in structure, standards, educational value and monitoring of compliance in all CPD programs for medical practitioners with specialist and general registration.

Accredited CPD programs may continue to include relevant CPD activities that individual practitioners undertake through self-directed learning.

Under the proposed model, all registered medical practitioners would apply to participate in the CPD program of the specialist college most relevant to their scope of practice, or to another relevant accredited CPD program.

3. Accredited CPD programs should be accessible to any medical practitioner with a relevant scope of practice

For different reasons, medical practitioners with specialist registration may choose not to continue their association with their original specialist medical college, or may have transitioned to a scope of practice better suited in whole or in part to another college, without necessarily gaining an additional specialist qualification.

These practitioners should be able to access the most relevant CPD program that reflects their actual or intended scope of practice, rather than their original scope of practice.

Accredited CPD programs – or modules within them – should, by negotiation be accessible to all medical practitioners with a relevant scope of practice, including those with general registration. Specialist colleges should allow access to their CPD standards and activities to all practitioners whose scope of practice is relevant, at a reasonable cost.

4. Opportunity for new CPD programs

The National Law encourages innovation in the education of practitioners, which allows for new providers to establish alternative, accredited CPD programs. New CPD programs may, for example, cater for practitioners with scopes of practice outside current college-based programs.

5. Accreditation of all CPD programs is necessary

To align standards, all CPD programs should be accredited for their educational functions. This would assure program quality and quality assurance/monitoring.

The MBA assigns the accreditation of existing CPD programs to the Australian Medical Council (AMC). Each CPD program either delivers CPD activities directly, or approves, recognises or endorses CPD activities delivered by other agencies. Currently, specialist medical colleges are the only accredited providers of CPD programs.

To assure the quality and relevance of all CPD programs, both specialist college and providers of new CPD programs need clear advice about baseline or minimum educational requirements, quality parameters, the level, type and scope of performance-based and outcomes-based improvement activities to be undertaken and clear standards and advice on monitoring and evaluation requirements.

6. The same quality standards in accreditation and monitoring processes should apply to all CPD programs

A recognised accreditation body must be able to accredit and monitor any emerging new CPD programs against the same standards expected of existing CPD programs.

7. Increased diversity and flexibility of CPD activities within and between programs is required to meet current and future healthcare needs

All CPD programs should maintain and enhance innovation and develop new activities and structures to meet emerging healthcare and practitioner needs. They should retain the ability to approve, endorse or recognise other suitable CPD activities, while remaining responsible for the overall quality of CPD activities. This emphasises the diversity, relevance, responsiveness and accessibility of current and future activities.

Flexibility and tailoring of CPD activities to individual scopes of practice should be encouraged, to align CPD more effectively to individual practitioner needs at all stages of their careers.

8. All doctors should undertake their CPD through the accredited program most relevant to their scope of practice

Colleges have already developed detailed professional standards that outline the knowledge, skills, behaviours and experience needed for their medical specialists to be capable of safe, independent practice in a relevant scope of practice.

Each college is therefore well placed to define the relevant baseline or minimum CPD program requirements for the majority of their own specialist practitioners and provide a suitable structure within which these specialist practitioners can undertake high quality CPD activities.

CPD programs should also support and enable participants who undertake non-clinical or extended scopes of practice to complete their CPD requirements.

9. Every registered medical practitioner needs a 'CPD home'

To ensure clarity and mutual responsibility, practitioners will need to select an accredited CPD program as their 'CPD home'.

Each CPD home would therefore have an identified cohort of medical practitioners doing their program and have a specific responsibility to work with these practitioners to make sure that the CPD activities they undertake are relevant to their current and intended scope of practice. CPD programs would continue to be able to provide relevant CPD activities to practitioners with other CPD homes.

CPD homes would need to provide clear guidance to practitioners about the type and balance of CPD activities required to meet their CPD program requirements. This could include:

- CPD activities provided directly by the CPD program
- CPD activities provided by external agencies that have been recognised, approved or endorsed by the CPD home, and
- self-directed activities recognised, approved or endorsed by the CPD home.

Accredited CPD programs should be able to reasonably accept or decline their role as the nominated CPD home to individual practitioners, based on the fit of their programs to the individual's scope of practice and intended professional development plan.

7

10. CPD for doctors holding specialist registration in more than one specialty

A practitioner may hold specialist registration in more than one specialty. These practitioners are required under the Board's CPD standard to meet the CPD requirements for every specialty in which they hold specialist registration.

These practitioners would therefore have two or more CPD homes. To avoid unnecessary duplication of effort, recognition of relevant CPD activities across CPD programs should be encouraged.

11. CPD must be evidence-based

Evidence-based approaches to CPD best drive knowledge and skills acquisition and retention, practice improvement and generate better patient outcomes. Evidence-based guiding principles for CPD are set out in Part C of this report. To ensure the effectiveness of CPD, all CPD programs should ensure their program, including any CPD activities they recognise or endorse, align with these principles.

12. CPD should be based on a professional development plan

A written professional development plan (PDP) helps ensure that medical practitioners reflect on the value and appropriateness of proposed CPD activities before and after undertaking them. The PDP should take into account all factors that may influence doctors' fitness to practise.

Practitioners should write a concise PDP for each CPD period. This plan should outline the type of proposed CPD activities that will meet their individual professional development needs. The process should not in itself be a major undertaking, but a 'road map' guiding selection and reflection on relevant activities.

Practitioners will have different levels of experience in developing PDPs and their professional development needs may vary across a CPD period. Significant changes in scope of practice during a CPD period may require the PDP to be amended and the practitioner to reflect on the alignment of their CPD with their scope of practice.

Each CPD program is responsible for guiding the practitioners for whom they are the CPD 'home' participants to examine their current and intended scope of practice, as well as their learning needs and interests, so practitioners can develop and reflect on their own PDP over time. The random audit processes conducted by the MBA and accredited CPD programs should cover practitioner's individual PDPs and personal reflections, as well as their completion of CPD activities.

13. Minimum annual requirements for each practitioner's CPD activities are required

CPD is an ongoing professional development activity that needs to be undertaken regularly to support continuous learning, reflection and professional development.

While CPD can be expressed as categories, points and hours, all registered medical practitioners must complete the equivalent of **at least** 50 hours per year, each year. This is the current minimum requirement for doctors holding general registration and should remain:

- because better aligned, not just more CPD will best drive practice improvement and improve patient safety
- to be consistent with New Zealand requirements for bi-national colleges, and
- to reflect the guiding principles set out in Part C of this report.

This is a minimum requirement and many doctors regularly exceed this.

14. Medical practitioners should participate in three core types of CPD

CPD needs to be broadly based, to improve all aspects of practice. We recommend requiring medical practitioners to participate in three core types of CPD, with activities prioritised to strengthen individual performance. All recognised CPD activities need to be evidencebased and involve a prescribed, balanced mix of:

- validated educational activities
- reviewing performance, and
- measuring outcomes.

Most practitioners are time-pressured and must be able to balance the demands of patient care and CPD. It is vital, however, that all practitioners undertake more effective, not simply more, CPD to improve their knowledge, performance and clinical outcomes. Individual medical practitioners will remain financially responsible for their CPD activities so it is important that CPD developments are well-designed to stay as far as possible within the cost and time structures that are currently in place.

The work of all registered practitioners has potential implications for patient care. As a

result, all practitioners, including those who do not provide direct patient care, should identify and review the performance and outcomes benchmarks relevant to their scope of practice.

Figure 1 indicates activities from each type of CPD. It is not an exhaustive list and CPD programs are best placed to identify which CPD type best describes any CPD activity.

15. CPD activities should be allocated proportionately each year across three types

Practitioners must allocate their minimum 50 hours of annual CPD proportionally across each of the three types of CPD described in Section C, as follows:

• at least 25 per cent of the minimum CPD required annually should be 'validated educational activities'

- at least 25 per cent of the minimum CPD required annually should 'review performance'
- at least 25 per cent of the minimum CPD required annually should 'measure outcomes', and
- the remaining 25 per cent of the minimum CPD distributed across any types of CPD.

CPD undertaken that exceeds these minimum requirements can be of any type, provided the requirements of the specific accredited program are met.

Determining the balance and proportion of CPD activity undertaken by individual practitioners should result from collaboration between the individual practitioner and their CPD home and be reflected in their PDP.



Figure 1. Types of CPD

9

16. Australian doctors need better access to high-quality data

Currently, there are significant gaps in the ready availability of data to support individual clinicians' audit activities in different specialties. This is a major impediment to individuals, teams and institutions improving patient outcomes.

Active engagement with the holders of potential practice-based and larger or aggregated data sources (such as from Medicare, health departments, hospitals, Primary Health Networks, practices and clinical registries) is necessary to enable doctors to receive individual and comparative data that will support more effective and efficient reflection on their performance and outcomes.

17. Guidance will be needed for practitioners in non-clinical roles

Some doctors are not directly involved in patient care. Doctors with roles that do not wholly or partly involve direct patient care, such as those with leadership or executive management roles, usually have a primary specialty. The extent to which CPD relating to this specialty is relevant to these doctors' current scope of practice is determined by the balance of clinical and nonclinical work in their scope of practice.

Mainstream specialty CPD activities provided by a doctor's specialist college may not be fully relevant to a doctor who no longer practises in the specialty. Flexible CPD arrangements and recognition between accredited CPD programs may meet the broader CPD needs of doctors with a balance of clinical and non-clinical roles.

Some specialist colleges have created suitable pathways and activities so members who do not provide direct patient care at different stages of their career can demonstrate professional outcomes under the existing CPD framework. For example, a non-operating surgeon who now undertakes medico-legal reporting can undertake a structured audit of their reports as an outcome measure. Leadership and continuing development of this sphere of activity should be encouraged.

The same overall framework for CPD balanced across educational activities, reviewing performance and measuring outcomes – is equally applicable to doctors who provide direct patient care and those who don't. However, practitioners in partly or entirely non-clinical roles will need clear guidance, examples and support from their CPD home to make sure that their PDP and CPD activities reflect their current scope of practice.

18. CPD effort is currently duplicated

Many medical practitioners undertake activities at work that meet the requirements of the MBA's CPD registration standard and warrant recognition as legitimate CPD activity recognisable by CPD programs.

To avoid unnecessary duplication of effort, CPD programs need to have sufficient flexibility to recognise legitimate work-based professional development activities, such as hospital-based audits, quality-assurance and relevant quality improvement activities, multi-source feedback (MSF) and performance appraisals.

19. Employers should support quality CPD

While individual medical practitioners are responsible for meeting regulatory standards for CPD, employers have a clinical governance responsibility to invest in supporting quality CPD in their environment for the doctors they employ. Employers are valuable stakeholders in enabling in-house education, peer review processes and in providing data-rich environments that support the assessment of performance and improvement of patient outcomes.

20. There is an important role for consumers

It is essential that the public understands how a doctor's CPD works to improve health care. The public should be aware of all aspects of revalidation and its stated aims. To encourage active patient involvement in CPD activities, they should be well informed about how doctors may use their feedback, peer visits and de-identified healthcare outcomes to improve the quality of their care. Consumers should also be able to contribute actively to developments in and evaluation of CPD approaches.

21. There is inadequate support for medical practitioners transitioning to retirement

International evidence shows that older doctors may be at higher risk of poor performance and be reluctant to retire. However, little guidance is available to support doctors' transition to retirement. Improved education and support programs for assisting later career medical practitioners to transition to retirement are needed. Colleges, other CPD providers, employers, doctors' health advisory services, and insurers have a clear role in developing and disseminating guidance on these issues and promoting annual health checks for all doctors.

CPD programs should have – or enable access to – specific activities to support practitioners to successfully transition to retirement. Employers and managers also play a valuable role through employment and credentialing processes. Similarly, medical indemnity insurers and superannuation companies may provide a substantial and confidential form of support and planning advice for effective transitions to retirement which should begin early in a practitioner's career.

22. Reporting obligations for completion of CPD

The MBA's CPD registration standard sets out the Board's requirements of all registered medical practitioners in relation to CPD activity. Accredited CPD programs must work actively with all practitioners for whom they are the CPD home, to help them meet their program requirements.

The MBA needs to know which medical practitioners have met the CPD registration standard and be able to consider whether any further regulatory action is needed for those who have not. CPD homes should report noncompliant practitioners for whom they are the CPD home, no more than three months after the end of the nominated CPD cycle.

Registered medical practitioners must continue to make a declaration on their annual medical registration renewal application about their compliance with the MBA's annual CPD requirements. They will also need to identify their CPD home provider(s).

23. A phased transition period is required

Accredited CPD programs will need to ensure that the CPD they approve demonstrates clearly that it not only focuses on knowledge but also aims to improve performance in practice and patient outcomes for each individual doctor.

Careful planning is required to enable the smooth implementation of an evidence-based best practice approach to CPD. Stakeholders actively involved in CPD will need to work systematically towards common goals to accelerate the progress towards quality CPD programs for all doctors. A phased transition will minimise stress on resources, enable new providers to emerge and a robust accreditation framework for them to be established.

Implications of strengthened CPD

There are implications for medical practitioners and accredited CPD providers in strengthening CPD.

For medical practitioners

To ensure that all registered medical practitioners maintain and enhance their professional skills and knowledge effectively and remain fit to practise medicine throughout their working lives, they should:

- nominate an accredited CPD program as their CPD home
- participate in a CPD program that meets the MBA's requirements, as set out in the CPD registration standard
- develop an individual professional development plan (PDP) for each CPD period, which identifies their planned activities to meet professional development needs
- undertake a minimum of 50 hours per year of CPD activities that meet the requirements of their CPD home
- ensure their minimum required CPD is allocated proportionally across three types of CPD as follows:
 - at least 25 per cent of the minimum CPD undertaken annually should be an educational activity
 - at least 25 per cent of the minimum CPD undertaken annually should review performance
 - at least 25 per cent of the minimum CPD undertaken annually should measure outcomes, and
 - the remaining 25 per cent of the minimum CPD can be distributed across any type of CPD.
- undertake any CPD that exceeds minimum requirements from any type of CPD
- complete and reflect on their CPD activities and review their PDP for the period.

For accredited CPD programs

Specialist medical college CPD programs or other accredited CPD programs will need to:

• ensure their CPD program meets the MBA's requirements

- provide a flexible CPD program accessible by all registered medical practitioners with a relevant scope of clinical and/or non-clinical practice
- have an identifiable cohort of medical practitioners for whom they are the nominated CPD home
- assist their identified cohort of practitioners as required to reflect on their learning needs and current/future scopes of practice and ensure these are reflected in each practitioner's PDP
- support their identified cohort of practitioners to undertake a suitable CPD program
- critically evaluate and refine their CPD program to support continuous quality improvement, and
- report to the MBA at the end of the CPD cycle the practitioners for whom they are the CPD home who have not successfully completed the CPD program.

Key findings: Proactively identifying and assessing 'at-risk' and poorly performing practitioners

Introduction

Australians trust their doctors. They also expect that measures are in place to identify poorly performing doctors and protect patients from them. The MBA, the medical profession and individual registered medical practitioners have a responsibility to ensure this trust is justified and that these expectations are met.

The EAG believes it is time for the MBA, and other stakeholders in the medical profession, to take steps to proactively identify, assess and manage 'at risk' and poorly performing practitioners. This will complement recommended steps to strengthen CPD.

There is currently no single, valid, reliable, and practical screening tool in use internationally to identify potential poor performance. Despite this, it is essential for public safety to find ways to identify, assess and if necessary remediate 'at risk' practitioners.

Among international health practitioner regulators, risks from performance deficits have typically been managed responsively. Efforts are usually made after a complaint or notification is lodged. Some regulators, however, apply focused screening interventions for performance to all doctors as well as specific, identified high-risk groups.

There has been increased awareness of the complexity of risk and the modification of risk by better supports to safe practice. The interplay of these factors is now the focus of increasing international regulatory attention, action, research and evaluation.

Areas of risk

International literature and practice now shows that there are a number of identifiable and significant risks to patient safety from medical practitioners at risk of poor performance that can be managed or minimised through action or leadership by the MBA.

These identifiable risks arise from three broad areas and within these, the EAG believes the following are specific and manageable risks to be addressed as a priority:

1. Individual characteristics

- a) age related risk of poor performance, and
- b) medical practitioners who are the subject of multiple complaints or notifications.
- 2. Practice contexts
- a) professionally isolated practitioners.

3. Health systems and culture

- a) underdeveloped and fragmented systems for the early identification and effective management of underperformance
- b) barriers to inter-agency information sharing about risk
- c) poor professional behaviours in doctors are not fully addressed
- d) variable structures for remediation and patchy access for practitioners, and
- e) barriers to accessing patient outcome data for improving safety and quality.

The EAG has identified and analysed these risks and recommends actions the MBA can take alone and in partnership to address them in the short, medium and longer term.

1. Individual characteristics

a) Age related risk of poor performance

In March 2017 in Australia, there were 5,596 medical practitioners aged 70 years and over and 865 aged 80 years and over, who are registered to practise medicine.³ Many of these doctors play an important role in our health system, practise effectively and should remain in practice as long as quality of care and patient safety are not endangered. However, there are increasing numbers of older doctors who may also face declining physical and cognitive health. Given our knowledge of age and healthrelated risks to performance, we have a responsibility to actively manage these to ensure that older doctors provide safe and effective care for patients.

Age related risks are multi-factorial

Studies about how quality of care evolves over a doctor's career are the focus of increasing attention. While studies suggest that doctors' performance, on average, declines with increasing years in medical practice, the effect

of age on an individual doctor's outcomes is variable.

Importantly, age related risks of poor performance are likely to be multi-factorial. For example, older doctors might have decreased clinical knowledge, adhere less often to standards of appropriate treatment or prescribing, perform worse on process measures of health care quality in relation to diagnosis, screening, and preventive care and maintain substandard clinical records. They may have had variable levels and quality of CPD over their careers or be more likely to work in collegially unsupported environments.

Recent studies also suggest that age may be associated with reduced patient outcomes, especially for practitioners in low volume practice.

Physical and cognitive decline may affect a doctor's performance

Evidence indicates that some older doctors experience physical and cognitive decline, which may affect their ability to provide safe care. Applying current research findings, it is possible that a significant number of currently registered medical practitioners aged 70 and over are at risk of poor performance caused by cognitive decline and many more that are experiencing physical decline. Physical decline in an individual is often easier to recognise than cognitive impairment. Cognitive decline is cumulative and may be less obvious to the affected practitioner.

Given the unpredictable trajectory of physical and cognitive decline, there is a need to ensure practitioners are aware of their current health and any potential impacts of this on their performance. Older practitioners may be able to modify their scope and style of practice and increase supports to mitigate physical and/or cognitive changes and this should be encouraged.

The potential risks need to be managed

Risks to patient safety from poor performance and/or undetected physical or cognitive decline in doctors aged 70 and over needs to be managed.

International regulatory practice designed specifically to address these risks includes routine mandatory screening of the performance of practitioners over a certain age or length of clinical career, most commonly initially through multi-source feedback and/or a peer review process.

These approaches, whether focussed on known risks due to age or applied to all registered practitioners, aim to proactively identify practitioners at risk of poor performance. If initial screening identifies performance concerns, practitioners are assessed more closely to identify the nature and extent of performance concerns. Tailored interventions and follow-up are applied to support and ensure return to safe practice.

Any process that routinely screens older doctors in Australia needs to balance the responsibility to protect patients from harm from undetected poor performance with the costs and benefits. It must be fair to all doctors, including those who have no performance concerns, and avoid unnecessary loss of workforce.

Mandatory health and performance review is appropriate

Section nine of the MBA's *Good Medical Practice:* A code of conduct for doctors in *Australia*, sets standards to help doctors maintain their health and wellbeing and specialist colleges commonly recommend their members have annual health checks.

There is increasing evidence that regular mandatory health checks, including cognitive screening of doctors aged 70 and over, are necessary to protect public safety by identifying and assessing doctors at risk of undetected poor performance.

If no performance concerns are identified, these doctors can remain in active, safe practice. If performance concerns are identified, action can be taken to return these individuals to safe practice when possible, or support their transition to different professional roles that do not pose risk to patients, or to retirement. Colleges, employers and medical indemnity organisations each have significant roles in supporting these activities.

Given the potential risk to the public from poor performance and undetected physical or cognitive decline in doctors aged 70 and over, screening interventions are clearly warranted.

Further research into potential risks to the public is needed

While there may be legal obstacles to taking action to manage this known risk, the evidence clearly indicates a significant risk to public safety. If legal barriers prevent action to manage this known risk, then as a minimum, further research is required to investigate the risk to public safety from undetected poor performance and/or physical and cognitive decline from doctors in Australia aged 70 years and over.

The results of robust research and evaluation are essential to provide evidence to guide future regulatory practice in Australia concerning the fitness to practise of older doctors.

There is inadequate support for doctors' career-planning for retirement

Doctors need increased support for career planning for transition to retirement strategies to manage these transitions successfully. There is an important role for CPD providers, employers and medical indemnity insurers to contribute to different aspects of these supports.

b) Medical practitioners who are the subject of multiple complaints

In Australia, a small proportion of doctors are the subject of frequent complaints. Studies show that medical practitioners who attract multiple complaints also have a very high probability of incurring further complaints. While Australian health practitioner regulators currently use a range of strategies to deal with these doctors, more needs to be done. This will require accessing information about individual poor performance that is held by different agencies, but rarely shared.

It is also important to differentiate between complaints made and complaints substantiated. Notifications and complaints may occur for a range of reasons and not all are substantiated. As well, not all of those substantiated involve the risk of harm to patients. In the context of revalidation, we are referring to notifications and complaints that are substantiated and may pose a risk to patient safety.

Some doctors are prone to multiple complaints

A three-year study, the largest of its kind ever conducted in Australia, found about three per cent of Australia's medical workforce accounts for nearly half of all complaints made to health practitioner regulators or complaints entities.⁴

This disproportionately high risk of continuing complaints in a very small number of doctors makes clearly evident the pressing need for earlier intervention to prevent the escalation of further complaints and, when relevant, action to protect public safety.

Failing to rule out potential risk cannot be justified

Identifying complaint-prone doctors early provides an important opportunity for the Australian Health Practitioner Regulation Agency (AHPRA) and the MBA to assess the performance of these practitioners more closely, identify potential unsafe practice and remedy any problematic clinical and professional deficits. Action to improve the care being provided by a relatively small number of these 'high-risk' practitioners is economical, will improve safety and quality and quantifiably improve the current regulatory system.

It is not yet clear how, or at what point, multiple complaints indicates a performance issue that increases public risk, but failing to rule out or act on potential risk to patients from practitioners with multiple complaints is unjustified.

Closer examination of patterns and frequency of complaints about poor performance is warranted

Closer assessment of practitioners with multiple notifications aims to identify potential unsafe practice. Assessment should be tailored and scaled to the level and type of potential risk. If further assessment identifies a significant potential risk to patients, then a structured, MBA-mandated performance assessment may be warranted.

If performance deficits are identified, practical and effective interventions will be required that balance public protection with remediation and the return of the practitioner to safe practice. Early identification and intervention would therefore lead to improved quality of care for patients and further reduce complaints.

Research should continue to examine the performance deficits of complaint-prone doctors. The outcomes of managed, targeted interventions to improve performance should be evaluated. In addition to doctors at high-risk of recurring complaints, a deeper understanding of patterns and frequency of complaints about underperformance or poor performance in general is needed. This information is valuable to many other stakeholders including individual doctors who wish to better understand their risk, CPD providers, employers and insurers.

2. Practice contexts

a) Professionally isolated practitioners

The impact of professional isolation

Practice context has significant potential to impact positively and negatively on practitioner performance. Supportive clinical governance frameworks, working with peers and in team environments combine to improve performance. Equally, professional isolation can expose individuals to greater risks of poor performance. For example, practitioners who work in isolation from peers have limited daily opportunity to discuss or compare their clinical decisions or challenges with their peers compared with colleagues who work in team environments in which peer interactions and quality assurance systems are readily available.

Professional isolation is not the same as geographic isolation, although there may be overlap. Professionally isolated doctors are collegially unsupported. They may practise in contexts removed from clinical governance structures, as locums or in deputising positions; in part-time positions with limited patient contact hours; in solo private office-based practice; by practising for a high number of hours of patient contact; or providing afterhours on-call work with little non-clinical time.

Educational interventions for professionally isolated doctors through CPD

Doctors who work in practice environments with limited peer interactions should be supported to address this by prioritising peer-based educational interventions in their personalised professional development plan (PDP).

For example, professionally isolated practitioners should prioritise CPD activities that increase their regular access to peer support, feedback and engagement. This could occur through activities including formal and informal peer networking, peer review processes, peer visits, clinical sessions with peers, obtaining multi-source feedback and regular video/teleconferencing. When feasible, clinical networks could assist practitioners to compare aspects of their patient outcomes with benchmarks established by peers in similar practices, through data comparison.

Under the proposed model, individual practitioners will develop their PDP in partnership with their CPD home. CPD programs should proactively build practitioners' awareness of the possible risks inherent in their practice context and enable them to develop a tailored CPD program to mitigate these by increasing supports. Employers (where relevant), have a responsibility to ensure that professionally isolated doctors have adequate non-clinical contact time to engage in the peer processes described above.

3. Health systems and culture

a) Underdeveloped and fragmented systems for the early identification and effective management of underperformance

There are fragmented and weak structures for the early identification of poor performance in Australia's health system and no common understanding of roles and responsibilities of different agencies for managing identified concerns.

Systems and cultural change

Early proactive identification of potential or actual poor performance in the workplace (upstream identification) is strongly supported by professional, regulatory and consumer stakeholders. While there is currently no obvious simple solution to achieve this, international studies indicate that substantial gains can be made by taking a systems-based approach.

Essential features in identifying and managing underperformance early and returning practitioners to safe practice as soon as possible include:

- strengthening appropriate avenues in the workplace for raising concerns about risks
- challenging perceptions that raising concerns early about risk or performance of colleagues is not collegial
- building effective structures and commitment to sharing information about risks within and between work environments

- upskilling health professionals in giving and receiving constructive feedback, and
- improving access to local interventions or remediation for identified concerns.

Cultural change in the medical and wider health professions embracing the importance of early identification and improvement is essential to achieving desired outcomes. Stepped and proportionate approaches have been shown to provide a supportive, non-punitive, educationally orientated approach that enables the rapid resolution of concerns and addresses small issues before they escalate.

The EAG notes the MBA does not have direct control over these system-wide issues. However, it is a vital central agency that can support progress towards these goals.

An approach to early identification and proportionate interventions

Intervention approaches have been developed and applied nationally and internationally in different settings for the early identification of concerns about performance and behaviour in the medical workforce. The fundamental features are:

- establishing specific communication and governance systems to enable performance concerns in the workplace to be raised early
- providing effective collegial feedback with stepped and proportionate local interventions where concerns are identified
- fostering a culture of effective feedback and continuous learning leading to performance improvement.

The fundamental features of these approaches should be further developed in the Australian context to help address underperformance proactively. Types of stepped interventions could include:

- raising awareness and enabling selfcorrection: An informal, confidential oneon-one direct feedback session with a peer or colleague when a possible performance concern or area for improvement has been raised. For example, through formative feedback provided in CPD activities or the workplace by a trained peer.
- raising awareness and creating specific options for addressing concerns: Formal meeting(s) with trained peers for discussing repeated performance concerns or issues. This would be accompanied by the development of options and follow up.

- prescribed guided interventions to remediate more serious concerns: Tailored interventions, remediation and follow up provided by employers, peers, colleges, CPD providers, or other suitable education providers including medical indemnity insurers.
- regulatory referral as a last resort unless mandatory reporting provisions apply.

This stepped approach provides a supportive, non-punitive, educationally orientated approach to promote the rapid resolution of concerns and address smaller issues before they escalate into larger ones.

The knowledge jigsaw: Information sharing about under-performing doctors

A range of health-sector stakeholders may have knowledge or concern about at-risk and poorly performing doctors, including patients, peers, colleagues, co-workers, employers, specialist colleges, Coroners, jurisdictions, insurers, other data collection agencies, regulators and health complaints entities (HCEs).

However, Australia lacks a common, shared understanding of what each group is responsible for doing with this knowledge, who information should be shared with and who is responsible for addressing under-performance. There are also barriers to inter-agency information sharing about risk. Some of these are legal, some historical, some attitudinal and almost all resolvable with a shared commitment to improving public safety.

b) Barriers to interagency information sharing about risk

There is consensus among stakeholders consulted during this process that a shared understanding of the roles and responsibilities of different agencies for dealing with identified concerns is currently lacking and that a systemwide approach would be beneficial.

Recent initiatives by the Royal Australasian College of Surgeons (RACS) to address bullying and harassment, in partnership with health service providers, indicate that with a common commitment, legal impediments can be overcome. Cultural impediments can also be addressed individually and through partnerships between employers and educational institutions, where there is a shared commitment to improvement. To achieve change, we need a shared understanding of the roles and responsibilities of employers, colleges and other health sector stakeholders for identifying issues and managing remediation, and consensus about the threshold for regulatory referral. This would address the current confusion about who knows what, whose job is it to do something about it, and when the regulator should be informed.

c) Poor professional behaviours in early career doctors are not fully addressed

High standards of professional behaviours are as important as a doctor's clinical knowledge and skills. The MBA has identified the standards of behaviour necessary for professional practice which are shown in the glossary. Colleges should be proactive in promoting these standards of professional behaviours to their members and addressing deficits among individual members.

Poor professional behaviours among medical students and recent graduates are recognised in the international literature as an indicator of future unprofessional performance. The public is therefore at risk if poor professionalism in medical students or early career doctors is not satisfactorily addressed.

Teaching strategies that promote good professional behaviours are not fully developed. Lack of professionalism is also recognised as an extremely difficult deficit to address and as such, if necessary, preventing unfit students from entering the profession or unfit trainees from becoming specialists is critical to prevent adverse outcomes.

Further development of curricula and advocacy for necessary action is required to improve the ability of educational institutions to address these challenges. This is a system-wide responsibility.

Appropriate professional behaviours should be a mandatory requirement for graduation and for specialist qualifications, given it is now a requirement of the current accreditation standards of the AMC for medical education programs.

Research has also shown that risk of future notifications and complaints is related to other deficits in examination performance in medical school or speciality training. This should be further examined.

d) Patchy access to remediation and variable structures for it

Gaps in solving performance issues and failed remediation both create a risk to patients. The current system of remediation in Australia is fragmented and evidence about successful approaches is limited and poorly shared. The lack of readily available resources and facilitating structures, including supervision, limits the access of all parties to effective remediation. Follow up to ensure remediation has been successful is essential, but inconsistently done.

There are no nationally consistent and accessible structures available to support poorly performing practitioners return to safe practice

When a practitioner's poor performance has been identified, there should be an effective and timely process of remediation to support their return to safe practice. The type of remediation must be individualised to reflect the practitioner's needs, including the nature of identified performance issues, their health and capacity to undertake remediation.

The current system of remediation is fragmented and the literature provides scant guidance on successful approaches. The lack of readily available resources and facilitating structures, including supervision, limits the access of all parties to effective remediation and follow up after remediation has finished is necessary to ensure remediation has been successful.

Multi-institutional, multi-stakeholder collaboration is needed

Multi-institutional, multi-stakeholder collaboration is needed to develop a universal, robust and accessible system for remediation of poor performance of medical practitioners in Australia. We need an integrated system in which health-sector stakeholders with existing concerns about or knowledge of practitioners who are performing poorly, clearly understand their responsibilities:

- to act on the knowledge or concerns that they have
- for information-sharing in the public interest, and
- to ensure effective intervention to support remediation or action to protect public safety.

Many stakeholders should be involved in remediation, including:

- accredited colleges and related specialty societies
- other accredited CPD providers
- universities
- employers
- jurisdictions
- medical indemnity insurers
- regulators
- health complaints entities
- training programs (e.g. GP regional training providers)
- private providers
- rural workforce agencies
- Primary Health Networks (PHNs)
- doctors health advisory services (psychological support)

Remediation needs to occur as close as possible to where the doctor works, within a nationally consistent and accessible structure. Further work needs to be done to identify the best model for ensuring effective and equitably accessible remediation opportunities in Australia.

The MBA is in a prime position to lead this work, which will also need to identify the role of the regulator in any structure and in supporting its development.

A possible new model to manage remediation

A possible new model to be considered could involve an agreed national framework, supported by a series of local or regional clusters of expertise to manage individuals' programs, support doctors and providers of remediation services locally and undertake follow-up and reporting. Providers of remediation may include colleges including any specialty divisions, employers, insurers and groups with special expertise as required.

The current model for the Doctors' Health Service Pty Ltd – which is funded by the MBA as a national framework and run at arms-length - could be usefully examined. It may be helpful to consider aspects of this model when developing a robust remediation framework for Australia.

e) Barriers to accessing patient outcome data for improving safety and quality

There are currently inadequate accessible patient outcomes data in many areas of medical practice, which represents a major challenge to safety and quality improvement for individuals, teams and institutions.

Readily available, good quality patient outcome data are necessary for doctors and teams to work most effectively on improving their patient outcomes.

Active engagement of a diverse group of stakeholders from electronic medical record software companies and Primary Health Networks to the holders of 'large data' sources (such as Medicare, health departments, hospitals and clinical registries) is necessary to provide all doctors with access to good quality individual, team and comparative data.

Recommendations for strengthened CPD

1. Accreditation

- a) The MBA should ensure a suitable accreditation body accredits all CPD programs for their educational functions to assure program quality, quality assurance and monitoring.
- b) All registered medical practitioners should undertake CPD within an accredited program relevant to their scope of practice.

2. CPD home

- a) Individual medical practitioners should choose an accredited CPD program to be their 'CPD home'.
- b) CPD homes, in partnership with their cohort of practitioners, should ensure that any CPD activities undertaken with other CPD providers are relevant to the practitioner's scope of practice.
- c) All CPD homes should report to the MBA any practitioners doing their program who have not fully complied with their CPD program requirements, no more than three months after the end of the CPD period.

3. Professional development plans

- a) The MBA should require all registered medical practitioners to prepare a professional development plan (PDP) that is relevant to their scope of practice for each CPD period.
- All CPD homes should assist their practitioners with the process of professional development planning as required.
- c) The MBA should provide general guidance about professional development plans for CPD.

4. Type and amount of CPD

- a) All registered medical practitioners must complete at least 50 hours of CPD per year.
- b) Practitioners must allocate their 50 hours of annual CPD proportionally across each of the three types of CPD, as follows:
 - at least 25 per cent of the minimum CPD required annually should be 'validated educational activities'
 - at least 25 per cent of the minimum CPD required annually should 'review performance'

- at least 25 per cent of the minimum CPD required annually should 'measure outcomes', and
- the remaining 25 per cent of the minimum CPD can be distributed across any types of CPD.
- c) The structure and content of CPD programs must be based on contemporary evidence and best practice.

Ensuring equitable access to diverse CPD programs relevant to practitioners' scope of practice

- a) The MBA should no longer recognise selfdirected CPD undertaken outside an accredited CPD program.
- b) All accredited CPD programs (including those provided by specialist medical colleges) must provide access to their CPD standards and programs to all practitioners whose scope of practice is relevant (i.e. college programs should not be restricted to fellows of that college).
- c) The MBA should enable the establishment of new CPD programs in addition to those provided by specialist medical colleges.
- Accredited CPD programs should be sufficiently flexible to recognise legitimate workplace-based CPD activities.

6. Practitioners who do not provide direct patient care

 Accredited CPD programs should cater for practitioners who do not provide direct patient care, and include support for them to measure their outcomes and review their performance.

7. Supporting improved access to relevant data-sets

 a) To facilitate doctors' measuring outcomes, the MBA should lead the active engagement of stakeholders including the holders of 'large data' sources (such as Medicare, health departments, hospitals and clinical registries), Primary Health Networks and electronic medical records software companies to find ways to provide all doctors with ready access good quality individual, team and comparative data.

8. Improving career transition support

a) Accredited CPD programs should offer general strategies and encourage or enable

access to specific educational opportunities to help medical practitioners actively manage career transitions (when there is a change in their scope of practice) and their transition to retirement.

9. The role of healthcare consumers

 a) The MBA should work with consumer groups to publicise and promote their processes for ensuring that doctors are up to date and fit to practise, and how their input is used to promote safety and quality of care.

10. Supporting system change: Implementation and transition

- a) The MBA should review and amend the *Continuing professional development* registration standard to reflect the recommendations in this report.
- b) The MBA should plan for a transition period to enable the implementation of these recommendations.
- c) Employers should support quality CPD by enabling in-house education, peer review processes and in providing data-rich environments that support the assessment of performance and improvement of patient outcomes.

Recommendations for managing the risk of poor performance

Risk from individual characteristics

11. Age related risk

The MBA has the power to make changes that will strengthen public safety by better managing age related risk.

- a) Subject to the provisions of the National Law and other relevant Commonwealth, state and territory laws, the MBA should:
 - require doctors at 70 years and every three years thereafter to undertake a confidential health check by a suitably qualified medical practitioner, including cognitive screening using a prescribed validated screening tool
 - require doctors at 70 years and every three years thereafter to undertake a formal managed performance review process with feedback, with credit for CPD, and
 - provide guidance on the requirements for the health and performance screenings, including the processes for dealing with the outcomes.
- b) CPD providers, medical indemnity insurers and employers should:
 - promote annual health checks for later career doctors
 - work closely and constructively with medical practitioners over the age of 70:
 - to raise awareness of potential risks that may affect performance and improve supports for safe clinical practice, and
 - to increase supports for later career doctors considering and, where appropriate, managing changes to their scope of practice or transition to retirement, including providing written guidance, CPD education activities and the use of 'retirement ambassadors' to provide peer role models of successful retirement planning for doctors.
- c) The MBA should:
 - commission an independent research group to receive, de-identify and analyse data on participant demographics (e.g. age, gender, practice environment, type

and extent of patient care, notifications and complaints history and CPD) and outcomes of the health and performance screening processes for doctors over 70 years

- rigorously evaluate outcomes for the utility of this approach in detecting performance or health concerns that may influence fitness to practise (including seeking feedback from participating medical practitioners their CPD providers and any remediation providers), and undertake a cost-benefit analysis.
- d) If there are insurmountable legal obstacles to taking mandatory actions to investigate and address the potential risk from doctors over 70, as a minimum the MBA should commission further research to examine the risk of poor performance from doctors in this age group. This may include voluntary participation in appropriate pilot studies that reflect the above criteria and further collaborative research efforts investigating risks shown by notifications and complaints data for older doctors.

12. Risk indicated by multiple complaints

The MBA should:

- a) interrogate the notifications data it holds about doctors with multiple notifications, to identify patterns of potential underperformance and poor performance and clarify the points at which risk to the public is occurring, including investigating the number, type and frequency of performance complaints and the corresponding levels of risk
- b) increase system responses to practitioners with multiple complaints and or notifications by requiring practitioners with three or more substantiated notifications and/or complaints over a five-year period, to undertake additional assessments to investigate the potential risks to the public. This should include input from others involved in, or with knowledge of, the practitioners' performance to determine if there are specific performance issues and/or broader undetected performance risks that need to be addressed

- c) develop MOUs with relevant organisations may assist in information sharing about complaints or potential risks
- d) improve the coding systems in datasets held by AHPRA and health complaints entities to enable targeted research and greater insight, through consistent and accurate categorisation of complaints and notifications
- e) systematically evaluate the outcomes from these increased system responses to:
 - characterise the different types of performance-related complaints and their level of risk
 - identify hotspots of risk that need to be more fully or differently addressed, and
 - consider whether three substantiated complaints over a five-year period is the appropriate threshold for closer scrutiny or assessment.

Risk from practice context

13. Professionally isolated practitioners

The MBA should work with providers of accredited CPD programs and other stakeholders to develop agreed indicators about the hallmarks and risks from practice context, including professional isolation and/or lack of collegial supports and:

- a) provide clear guidance to the profession about identifying and managing risk from professional isolation
- b) encourage doctors who meet the agreed indicators for professional isolation to direct the 25 per cent of unallocated CPD activities within their minimum CPD requirements towards managing identified risk from practice context. This should emphasise peer activities such as performance review, peer reviews, peer visits, formal and informal clinical networking, mentoring, other forms of increased collegial supports and outcomes measurement.

Risk from health systems and culture

14. Underdeveloped and fragmented systems for the early identification and effective management of underperformance

The MBA should work with jurisdictions, employers, and medical indemnity insurers to address underdeveloped and fragmented systems for the early identification and effective local management of underperformance including:

- a) facilitating cross-agency collaborations to encourage the existing and emerging champions of change in stepped early detection and performance improvement processes
- b) evaluating new programs to identify exemplar processes
- c) enabling further pilot projects to be trialled in systems likely to be successful. This is likely to initially include institutions with sufficient resources to implement pilots within existing robust clinical governance programs
- d) longer term diffusion of successfully developed models and trialling of models in smaller or different systems, and
- e) developing processes relevant to practitioners who do not work for employers or in larger group practice arrangements.

15. Barriers to inter-agency information sharing about risk

 a) The MBA should establish MOUs on processes to facilitate and strengthen robust information sharing about performance concerns or issues between relevant agencies and stakeholders to create a joined up system that facilitates early intervention for at-risk practitioners.

16. Poor professional behaviours of early career doctors are not fully addressed

The MBA should:

- a) continue to alert stakeholders to the future risk to patient safety from early poor professionalism and remind:
 - Medical Deans Australia and New Zealand and Universities Australia about the future risk to patient safety from graduating medical students with a proven and irremediable lack of professionalism and as needed, of their duty to strengthen teaching about professionalism and if necessary preclude entry to the profession of individuals who are unfit to practise.
 - colleges, post-graduate training providers and employers about the future risk to patient safety from trainees and early and established career doctors who demonstrate poor professionalism and do not respond to remediation or other educational interventions and as needed, of their duty to preclude from the

profession individuals who are unfit to practise.

 b) undertake further work to investigate the quality of professionalism education, supports for successful professional identity formation and the implications of underperformance in barrier examinations on the type and risk of future notifications and complaints.

17. Variable structures for remediation and patchy access for practitioners

The MBA should:

- a) lead work, in partnership with other stakeholders, to develop a shared understanding of the roles and responsibilities of employers, colleges and other health sector stakeholders for identifying issues and managing remediation, and
- b) work with stakeholders to identify the best model for ensuring effective, supportive and equitably accessible remediation opportunities in Australia, including identifying the role of the MBA and examining the current model for the Doctors' Health Service Pty Ltd – which is funded by the MBA – as a national framework that is run at arms-length from the Board.

18. Barriers to accessing patient outcome data for improving safety and quality

 a) To assist in improving safety and quality, the MBA should lead the active engagement of a diverse group of stakeholders including the Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care (ACSQHC), holders of 'large data' sources (such as Medicare, health departments, hospitals and clinical registries), Primary Health Networks and electronic medical records software companies to find ways to create and share good quality individual, team and comparative data.

Part B: Context

The following section provides the context for this report. It includes the role of medical regulation in Australia, the status of revalidation around the world, outlines the consultation process we undertook in developing this report and gives an account of what we learned from it.

Introduction

The Medical Board of Australia (MBA or Board) is responsible for regulating medical practitioners practising in Australia. Its role includes:

- registering medical practitioners and medical students
- developing standards, codes and guidelines for the medical profession
- investigating notifications and complaints about medical practitioners
- when necessary, conducting panel hearings and referring serious matters to tribunal hearings
- assessing international medical graduates (IMGs) who wish to practise in Australia, and
- approving accreditation standards and accredited courses of study.

The MBA is one of 14 National Boards in the National Registration and Accreditation Scheme (National Scheme). The National Scheme is governed by the National Law.

Protecting the public is the primary principle guiding the MBA's work. The National Law empowers the MBA to ensure it sets standards so that Australia has a medical workforce that practises safely and provides high quality medical care.

In a number of jurisdictions around the world, including the United Kingdom (UK), Canada and New Zealand, ongoing review of medical practitioners' fitness to practise occurs to ensure doctors maintain and enhance their professional skills and knowledge and provide safe, highquality medical care. These processes are often called revalidation or recertification. Since 2012, the MBA has consulted with the profession and the community about options for revalidation in Australia and has commissioned international research.

The MBA is now considering how best to ensure the 110,000 medical practitioners in Australia maintain and enhance their professional skills and knowledge and remain fit to practise medicine. In developing this report, the Expert Advisory Group (EAG), appointed by the MBA to provide technical advice on options for revalidation in Australia, has considered international evidence, available Australian data and feedback to its interim report.

Revalidation

Background to revalidation in Australia

The MBA started a conversation about revalidation in Australia in 2012. The MBA consulted with the profession and the community and commissioned international research into revalidation options for Australia. The MBA Chair, Dr Joanna Flynn AM, said:

Regulation is about keeping the public safe and managing risk to patients and part of this involves making sure that medical practitioners keep their skills and knowledge up to date. The Board is seeking expert advice, as well as feedback from the profession and the community, about the most practical and effective way to do this that is tailored to the Australian healthcare environment.⁵

In September 2015, the MBA published research commissioned from the Collaboration for the Advancement of Medical Education Research and Assessment (CAMERA) on revalidation and announced the next steps.⁶ The CAMERA report discussed the evidence for revalidation as a process for maintaining and enhancing practitioner performance and managing risk to patients. The report recommended some potential models for the MBA's consideration. The full report *The evidence and options for medical revalidation in the Australian context* is available on the MBA's website.⁷

The MBA then decided to progress its consideration of revalidation in Australia by:

• appointing a Revalidation EAG to provide technical expert advice on revalidation and how any models recommended by this group can be evaluated for effectiveness, feasibility and acceptability. The EAG includes members with experience in medical regulation, performance management, assessment of medical practitioners, medical education, healthcare administration and safety and quality. The terms of reference and membership of the EAG is shown at <u>Appendices C</u> and <u>D</u> and is available on the MBA website.⁸

- appointing a consultative committee to provide feedback on issues related to the proposed introduction of revalidation in Australia. The terms of reference and membership of the Consultative Committee is shown at <u>Appendix E</u> and are available on the MBA website.⁹ The committee was chaired by the Chair of the Medical Board of Australia.
- commissioning social research into what the profession and the community expect that medical practitioners should do to demonstrate ongoing competence and fitness to practise. The MBA published the results of the social research on its website in November 2016.¹⁰

The MBA has ruled out a UK-style revalidation and made it clear that doctors will not be required to re-sit their fellowship exams every five years. The MBA asked the EAG to recommend one or more models for revalidation in Australia and to provide advice on how these can be piloted and evaluated.

In announcing the next steps, Dr Flynn commented that:

Trust and integrity are cornerstones of medical practice. Developing an approach to revalidation that is tailored to the Australian environment will help make sure that the trust and confidence the community has in the medical profession is well founded.¹²

The purpose of revalidation in Australia

The fundamental purpose of revalidation is to ensure public safety in healthcare through doctors practising in Australia doing efficient, effective, contemporary, evidence-based CPD and by proactively identifying doctors who are either performing poorly or are at risk of performing poorly, assessing their performance and when appropriate, supporting remediation of their practice.

Recent commentators have also pointed to the importance of separating out thinking about how to improve each of these aspects. In *A conversation about the role of medical regulators* between Southgate and van der Vleuten, the latter argues:

But how do we achieve a competent workforce? It can happen only if the individuals in the workforce keep learning. In my view, the assurance of lifelong learning is the prime aim for which a regulator should strive. So the issue here is to develop assessment strategies that help learning. The next purpose for the regulator is to guarantee patient safety by safeguarding the public from incompetent individuals in the workforce. These two purposes should be separated, even firewalled, and treated differently in developing an assessment strategy.¹³

Others have commented on how a lack of clarity of purpose may hinder system development. For example, Bismark has pointed to the tension that exists between 'poorly performing outliers' and quality of care that is provided by the majority of competent doctors.¹⁴

Speaking at the conference of the International Association of Medical Regulatory Authorities (IAMRA) in 2014, Dr Flynn urged regulators to shift from being 'regulatory philosophers' to 'regulatory scientists' – with a focus on understanding and strengthening the evidencebase for regulatory decision-making.¹⁵

Revalidation in international jurisdictions

Revalidation, recertification or other similarly named systems are in place in a number of international jurisdictions, including the UK, some states in the United States (US), some provinces in Canada and in New Zealand. The way revalidation works in each jurisdiction differs, but all aim to ensure doctors remain up to date, can demonstrate they are fit to practise in their chosen field and are able to provide a suitable level of care.

The CAMERA report identified and analysed international examples of revalidation.¹⁶ Consistent with the EAG's terms of reference this section does not replicate existing work. Further information about international examples of revalidation is detailed in the CAMERA report are available on the MBA's website.¹⁷

The General Medical Council (GMC) has completed a review of revalidation in the UK.¹⁸ In it, the independent reviewer, Sir Keith Pearson, points out the importance of measuring and evaluating the impact of revalidation.

Consultation on the EAG's interim report

The focus of the 2016 consultation on revalidation was to develop a practical and effective pathway that will help keep doctors competent and up to date throughout their working lives.

An essential factor to consider in designing any revalidation model for Australia, or 'the conundrum' as Hawkes has observed in discussing the UK context is *'... how to identify (underperforming) doctors without subjecting the rest to time-consuming and needless procedures'.*¹⁹

In developing its interim report, the EAG was mindful of the particularly importance that any potential approach to revalidation in the Australian context is designed specifically for the Australian health system. It recognised that revalidation systems must be based on the best available evidence and be fundamentally relevant to the everyday work of doctors in the Australian health system, with a clear purpose essential for any future revalidation system.

Guiding principles

Consistent with the intent of the MBA, the EAG recommended the following guiding principles apply to all potential approaches:

- smarter not harder: strengthened CPD should increase value and effectiveness
- integration: all recommended approaches should be integrated with, and draw on, existing systems where possible and avoid duplication of effort, and
- relevant, practical and proportionate: all recommended improvements should be relevant to the Australian healthcare environment, feasible and practical to implement and proportionate to public risk.

What we consulted on

The EAG released its interim report on 16 August 2016.²⁰ The interim report laid out the evidence and recommended a model that combines strengthened CPD and the proactive identification and assessment of at-risk and poorly performing practitioners. The MBA undertook a wide-ranging consultation on the EAG's proposal.

The EAG's interim report proposed a two-part approach to revalidation, consisting of:

 maintaining and enhancing the performance of all doctors practising in Australia through efficient, effective, contemporary, evidencebased CPD relevant to their scope of practice ('strengthened CPD'), and

 proactively identifying doctors at risk of poor performance and those who are already performing poorly, assessing their performance and when appropriate supporting the remediation of their practice.

Who we consulted with

During the three and a half month consultation, hundreds of doctors, their representatives, community members and educators shared their ideas. They gave feedback on the proposal put forward by the MBA's EAG on what we should do to build a system for revalidation in Australia that is tailored to our health care context, and is practical, effective and evidence-based.

During the consultation we:

- received 116 submissions (listed in <u>Appendix A</u> and published online²¹)
- met with all specialist medical colleges, the Council of Presidents of Medical Colleges (CPMC) and the Australian Medical Association (AMA) (listed in Appendix B)
- held forums in each state and territory, attended by more than 400 stakeholders (listed in <u>Appendix B</u>)
- heard from more than 1,000 doctors and community members in our online discussion forum (published online²²) and our online survey, and
- met three times with the Consultative Committee established to provide feedback on issues related to the introduction of revalidation in Australia (terms of reference in <u>Appendix E</u>).

In addition, the *Medical Journal of Australia* (MJA) published a perspective from Medical Board Chair, Dr Joanna Flynn on revalidation,²³ along with a podcast.²⁴

What we heard

There were a number of general themes that emerged from the consultation, including:

- wide support for improving standards and managing risk to patients, through strengthened CPD
- most specialist colleges are already in the process of strengthening their CPD programs, but there is variation between colleges in the types of CPD currently offered (that is, the balance of educational activities, outcome measurement and performance review activities)

- wide support for maintaining the supportive, educational and standards-focused role of specialist colleges
- general support for new CPD providers
- the proposal to identify and manage at-risk and already poorly performing practitioners was more contentious, with some individuals unconvinced there is a problem to be solved
- wide support for better information and data sharing between health sector agencies, and demand for role clarity to prevent doublehandling and confusion of responsibilities
- a need for improved processes that offer remediation and support for individual practitioners to return to safe practice, outside of the regulatory framework, and
- widespread concern that any new process should not increase the administrative burden on practitioners without demonstrable improvements in patient safety.

Developing the final report of the EAG

Following the consultation, the EAG analysed the submissions and other feedback from the consultation process. The EAG met on a number of occasions to review the submissions and comments and finalise its recommendations. This report represents the final views of the EAG.

Part C: The evidence for change

Strengthening continuing professional development

Introduction

World-wide, CPD is one of the cornerstones of revalidation. CPD aims to ensure that doctors maintain and enhance their professional knowledge, skills and behaviours throughout their working lives.

The concept of CPD for medical practitioners is based on the fundamental premise that requiring individual practitioners to undertake a variety of professional development activities will ensure they maintain and enhance clinical knowledge, skills and professional behaviours throughout their working lives. Therefore, improving all aspects of medical practice, in the broadest sense, form part of CPD.

High quality CPD is expected to lead to improvement in safety and quality of healthcare, because a lack of competence, or a deficit in performance, may contribute to medical error and patient harm. CPD is largely dependent on self-regulation by practitioners, where individual doctors must be able to demonstrate that they have met relevant standards and are fit to practise.

The emphasis on self-regulation by practitioners has been a common theme for decades. It has been proposed that:

The driving force for an effective and efficient revalidation process should be the professional and ethical responsibility that each doctor has to their patients and to the society which has granted them the right to practice.²⁵

Current CPD arrangements in Australia and New Zealand

CPD represents a model for continuous improvement and therefore quality improvement in healthcare that has evolved significantly in Australia. CPD is a mandatory requirement of registration for all doctors in Australia and New Zealand.

The MBA's registration standard for CPD allows doctors to participate in the CPD program of specialist medical college(s) relevant to their specialty or undertake self-directed activities according to the published standards. Currently, all specialist medical colleges have defined requirements and models that are relevant to the scope of practice of their members. The Australian Medical Council (AMC) accredits colleges for all their activities, according to published standards.²⁶

Many of the specialist medical colleges in Australia are bi-national, operating in both Australia and New Zealand. Their CPD programs therefore need to be tailored to meet the registration requirements of both the MBA and the Medical Council of New Zealand (MCNZ). To provide the necessary context, this section outlines the CPD requirements currently in place in Australia and New Zealand.

CPD in Australia

A snapshot of the profession in Australia

Australia's 110,000 medical practitioners can be clustered into five broad groups in relation to CPD.

The groups are medical practitioners with:

- specialist registration who participate in structured college CPD programs
- general registration who participate in a relevant structured college CPD program
- specialist registration who undertake selfdirected CPD activities that meet college requirements
- general registration who undertake selfdirected CPD activities, and
- limited, provisional or general registration, who are under supervision, in supervised practice or training programs.

The EAG does not have information about the actual distribution of practitioners within these groups. Current registration data indicate a significant proportion (around 55 per cent) of medical practitioners hold specialist registration and are therefore required to meet the requirements of a specialist medical college CPD program.

Under current Australian regulatory requirements, all individuals in training or under supervision, will progress to one of the other categories over a fixed period. The EAG believes that the structured training and supervision in place for this group is adequate to protect patients, monitor and as needed address the performance of individual practitioners. This group is therefore not addressed further in this report.

CPD Registration standard

The MBA develops registration standards that set out the requirements that applicants and registrants must meet to be registered. The first registration standard for CPD took effect on 1 July 2010. This standard has been reviewed. The revised standard, effective from 1 October 2016 is available on the MBA's website (www.medicalboard.gov.au/Registration-Standards).

To meet the revised registration standard, practitioners must meet the requirements set out in the category that applies to them.

Medical practitioners who have specialist registration:

- must meet the requirements for CPD set by the relevant specialist medical college for every specialty in which they hold specialist registration. There may be CPD activities undertaken that fulfil the CPD requirements of more than one specialist college or specialty, and
- can only choose a self-directed program of CPD if that program meets the requirements for CPD set by the relevant specialist medical college.

Medical practitioners with both general and specialist registration are only required to complete the CPD requirements set by the relevant specialist college.

Medical practitioners who are Australian or New Zealand medical graduates and have provisional registration to undertake an accredited intern year must:

- participate in the supervised training and education programs associated with their position, and
- comply with any further requirements for training or supervised practice specified in guidelines issued from time-to-time by the MBA.

Medical practitioners who are IMGs and have provisional registration must:

• if in an accredited intern position:

- participate in the supervised training and education programs associated with their position
- if not in an accredited intern position:
 - complete CPD activities as agreed in their supervision plan and work performance report, and
 - complete a minimum of 50 hours of CPD per year (i.e. if their agreed CPD activities total less than 50 hours, additional CPD activities must be completed to reach a minimum of 50 hours), and
- comply with any further requirements for training or supervised practice specified in guidelines issued from time to time by the MBA.

Medical practitioners who have general registration and are prevocational trainees or college vocational trainees must:

- participate in the supervised training and education programs associated with their position, and
- comply with any further requirements for training or supervised practice specified in guidelines issued from time-to-time by the MBA.

Medical practitioners who have limited registration for postgraduate training or supervised practice, limited registration for area of need, limited registration for teaching or research or limited registration in the public interest must:

- complete CPD activities as agreed in their supervision plan and work performance report
- complete a minimum of 50 hours of CPD per year (i.e. if their agreed CPD activities total less than 50 hours, additional CPD activities must be completed to reach a minimum of 50 hours), and
- comply with any further requirements for training or supervised practice specified in guidelines issued from time-to-time by the MBA.

Medical practitioners who have general registration only (i.e. do not have specialist registration) must:

 complete a minimum of 50 hours of CPD per year (self-directed program), which must include at least one practice-based reflective element; clinical audit or peer review or performance appraisal, as well as participation in activities to enhance knowledge such as courses, conferences and online learning, or

 meet the CPD requirements of a specialist medical college that is relevant to their scope of practice.

CPD program accreditation

The AMC has assessed and accredited specialist medical education and training and CPD programs since 2002. From 2002 to July 2010, the AMC process for accreditation of specialist education and training programs was a voluntary quality improvement process in which all specialist colleges had agreed to participate. On 1 July 2010, this process became mandatory.

The National Law brings the accreditation of specialist training programs into the process for approval of programs for the purposes of specialist registration. Similarly, the MBA's registration standards provide for CPD programs that meet AMC accreditation requirements and also meet the MBA's CPD requirements.

While this is an Australian process, the MCNZ uses AMC accreditation reports to inform its decisions about recognising medical training programs in New Zealand. The AMC works with the MCNZ in reviewing bi-national training programs.

The AMC's Specialist Education Accreditation Committee oversees the accreditation process.²⁷ As medical colleges are treated as separate entities, CPD requirements vary across colleges both in time requirements and the nature of mandated or voluntary activities.

For practitioners in Australia who hold general registration and do not participate in a college program, the MBA sets the requirements for a self-directed program. Currently, this requires a minimum of 50 hours to be spent in professional development activities, which must include a practice-based reflective element; clinical audit or peer review or performance appraisal; as well as participation in activities to enhance knowledge such as courses, conferences and online learning.²⁸

Medical colleges work to ensure that doctors who participate in their CPD programs are meeting their requirements in typical ways, such as logging points, providing reminders and opportunities to attain points in required areas and supporting doctors who have not met the requirements to do so. In addition, the MBA randomly audits a proportion of all registered doctors each year, to validate their activities. If audited, practitioners are required to provide documentary evidence to demonstrate that they have undertaken the required elements.²⁹

CPD in New Zealand

To maintain the right to registration and be issued with a practising certificate, New Zealand doctors must meet recertification and CPD requirements. Recertification is defined by the MCNZ as the process to demonstrate competence as a condition of holding a practising certificate (PC).³⁰

The MCNZ defines CPD in New Zealand as '... involving yourself in peer reviews, audits of medical practice and continual medical education aimed at ensuring you are competent to practise medicine'.³¹

Requirements for CPD fall into two primary groups – vocational scope (usually fellows of a relevant college) and general scope (general registration without fellowship):

- vocational scope doctors are required to actively participate in the accredited college or vocational education and advisory body (VEAB) recertification program, and
- general scope doctors are required to either participate in an approved medical college training program related to their work, or arrange their own CPD with a colleague (i.e. through a 'collegial relationship' with a doctor who holds vocational registration in that area of medicine).

Further, if a doctor chooses to arrange their own CPD through a collegial relationship, they must undertake 50 hours each year on CPD activities related to the work they are doing within their general scope, including:

- one audit of medical practice each year
- at least 10 hours a year of peer review, and
- at least 20 hours a year of continuing medical education (CME).

In addition:

• a doctor's CPD must be referenced to the domains of practice (medical care, communication, collaboration and management, scholarship and professionalism) of the MCNZ's publication *Recertification and continuing professional development*

- doctors must record their CPD on the MCNZ's forms
- their colleague must sign their practising certificate application form each year, and
- if audited, doctors must provide forms signed by their colleague, and evidence of completed MCNZ forms to show that they are meeting the MCNZ recertification requirements.³²

The Medical Council of New Zealand regular practice review process

New Zealand is making a transition to include 'regular practice review' (RPR) in the processes used to 'recertify' doctors.³³

One of the mechanisms that the MCNZ uses to ensure doctors are competent is the requirement for doctors to recertify by participating in approved CPD programs provided by specialist medical colleges or vocational education advisory bodies (VEABs).³⁴ The MCNZ specifies that participation in CPD activities should deliver an improvement in the performance of doctors and better patient outcomes.

The MCNZ also believes that effective medical education for doctors should be based on their own work environment and individual practice.

The MCNZ's long-term goal is that all medical colleges or VEABs will adapt or expand on existing processes, or develop new processes, so that all doctors (except those in vocational training) will have the opportunity to undertake a form of RPR that is a formative assessment and does not duplicate existing processes.

The primary purpose of RPR is to help maintain and improve standards of the profession. RPR is viewed as a quality improvement process. However, the MCNZ also proposes that RPR may help identify poor performance that may adversely affect patient care. The goal of RPR is to help individual doctors identify areas for improvement in aspects of their performance, benefiting their individual professional development and the quality of care that patients receive.

The MCNZ's approach to RPR differs depending on whether a doctor is registered in a vocational or general scope of practice:

• Vocational scope: The MCNZ is encouraging Branch Advisory Bodies to develop RPR processes for doctors registered in a vocational scope of practice, and make these available as part of the CPD program on a voluntary basis.

• General scope: The MCNZ has approved a recertification program for doctors registered in a general scope of practice, who are not participating in an accredited vocational training program. The recertification program includes RPR to be undertaken three yearly, with the first review to be undertaken three years after the doctor achieves registration in a general scope of practice.

The key principles of RPR in New Zealand include, but are not limited to:

- RPR is a formative process that provides feedback for each doctor to consider. It is a supportive and collegial review of a doctor's practice by peers, in a doctor's usual practice setting
- the primary purpose of RPR is to help maintain and improve the standards of the profession. RPR is a quality improvement process. RPR may also help to identify poor performance that may adversely affect patient care
- RPR provides an assessment across the domains of competence outlined in *Good Medical Practice* (MCNZ's code of conduct), focusing on the area in which the doctor works
- RPR is informed by a portfolio of information provided by the doctor, which may include audit of patient outcomes and logbooks
- RPR includes multi-source feedback (MSF)
- RPR must include some component of external assessment, that is by peers external to the doctor's usual practice setting
- RPR must include a process for providing constructive feedback to the doctor being assessed, and
- the profession will lead RPR, with support and assistance from the MCNZ.

The MCNZ are encouraging each medical college or VEAB to develop a RPR process using specific tools relevant to that specialty. Alternatively they may expand on existing VEAB processes or tools that the MCNZ has already developed, to include MCNZ's principles of RPR. The VEABs will make the process available to doctors on a voluntary basis (in the vocational scope of practice only).

The MCNZ will assess and provide feedback about the RPR process when accrediting a medical college or VEAB CPD program. The organisation or VEAB responsible for undertaking the RPR must have a process for assisting the doctor to identify and address learning needs.

A core component of RPR is the development of a personal development plan after the RPR process.

When areas of practice needing work are identified, colleges work with the doctor to ensure their CPD activities address any deficiencies, including:

- When there are small areas of a doctor's practice identified that need improvement, doctors will often be able to ensure that their CPD activities are targeted to those areas, with the assistance of a personal development plan.
- If the areas identified are more significant, the medical college or VEAB or organisation providing the recertification program will need to work closely with the doctor to ensure CPD activities address the deficiencies.
- When reviewers have concerns that a doctor's practice is placing patient health and safety at risk, then the reviewers and the medical college or VEAB have a professional obligation to report this separately to the MCNZ, just as they would do if the poor performance had been identified in any other way. MCNZ will consider the information through its usual processes and consider whether a performance assessment is necessary.

The MCNZ has published a statement *What to do when you have concerns about a colleague*, which outlines how issues of this nature should be addressed.³⁵

The MCNZ audits 15 per cent of doctors annually to check doctors' compliance with their professional development and recertification requirements.

Optimal CPD: The evidence and practice

It is now accepted that assessing whether a doctor remains practising to an accepted standard must involve more than an assessment of their original credentials and should include review of what they actually do in their contemporary practice.³⁶

Considerable attention has been focused on the assessment of medical students' and postgraduate trainees' competence before they start unsupervised practice. As a result, modern concepts of longitudinal multi-method 'assessment programs' have been developed. These are underpinned by considerable research data about characteristics such as validity, reliability, feasibility and the educational impact of the various modes of assessment that may be used.^{37 38}

Since the 1970s, the concept of continuing postgraduate education to 'facilitate the full performance of practitioners in the diverse practice of professional work'³⁹ has been a fundamental principle in the medical profession. In addition to didactic education such as lectures, the medical profession has engaged with and investigated the effects of different educational models based on clinician practice.

The role of adult learning principles has been a successful underpinning theory supporting the assimilation of new knowledge and skills in CPD. Related principles include the concept of self-directed learning and reflection.

More recently, Knowles derived principles of adult learning that are commonly recognised as guidelines on how to support learners who tend to be at least somewhat independent and selfdirected.⁴⁰ Kaufman summarised his principles as follows:

- adults are independent and self-directing
- they have accumulated a great deal of experience, which is a rich resource for learning
- they value learning that integrates with the demands of their everyday life
- they are more interested in immediate, problem-centred approaches than in subjectcentred ones, and
- they are more motivated to learn by internal drivers than by external ones.⁴¹

Kaufman points out that 'self-directed learning' can become a method for organising teaching

and learning, in which the learning tasks are largely motivated by the learner (as with the adult learning principles described above).

Kaufman also summarised traits associated with self-directed learning developed from Candy as follows:

... the ability to be methodical and disciplined; logical and analytical; collaborative and interdependent; curious, open, creative, and motivated; persistent and responsible; confident and competent at learning; and reflective and self-aware (p. 213).⁴²

Donald Schön was instrumental in developing the concept of reflective practice.⁴³ He proposed two main components of reflection: 'reflection in action', which occurs during an unexpected event, and 'reflection on action', which occurs after an event. The latter includes analysing the event/s behaviours/activities and determining what alternative strategies could have resulted in a better outcome.

Kaufmann integrates these three approaches to thinking about learning in his *principles to guide educational practice (abridged p. 215)*⁴⁴:

- the learner should be an active contributor to the educational process
- learning should closely relate to understanding and solving real life problems
- learners' current knowledge and experience are critical in new learning situations and need to be taken into account
- learners should be given the opportunity and support to use self-direction in their learning
- learners should be given opportunities and support for practice, accompanied by self-assessment and constructive feedback from teachers and peers, and
- learners should be given opportunities to reflect on their practice; this involves analysing and assessing their own performance and developing new perspectives and options.

These interrelated principles have been instrumental in shaping contemporary thinking about CPD in the health professions. Over the past four decades, an increasing number of research studies have sought to understand the link between these approaches to physician
education and the consequences for physician performance and patient healthcare outcomes.

Bloom investigated the effects of continuing education on physician clinical care and healthcare outcomes.⁴⁵

In his examination of 26 systematic reviews, he analysed the impact of eight educational methods:

- didactic teaching
- reading printed materials
- listening to opinion leaders
- using clinical practice guidelines
- engaging in interactive education
- audit and feedback on results
- academic detailing, and
- reminders.

All reviews investigated the effects of various approaches on physician performance and some reviews investigated the impact on patient health outcomes.

The most valuable methods were interactive, including audit of patient data with feedback on results, academic detailing, interactive educational events, and reminders, all of which demonstrated an impact on performance improvement and improved patient outcomes. A moderate effect was found for clinical practice guidelines and opinion leaders. However, didactic presentations and printed materials alone were shown to have little or no beneficial effect on either performance or outcomes.

Cervero and Gaines⁴⁶ have recently synthesized eight new systematic reviews of the literature about the effectiveness of CPD (referred to in their paper as CME), published since a 2003 review.⁴⁷ They concluded that CPD:

- is able to improve clinician performance and patient health outcomes
- has been shown to be more reliably positive in its impact on clinicians' performance than it has been on patient health outcomes. The effect of CPD on patient outcomes has been more difficult to demonstrate due to the complexity of intervening variables, and
- leads to greater improvement in physician performance and patient outcomes if it is interactive, uses more methods, involves multiple exposures, is longer, and is focused on outcomes that are considered important by clinicians.

In summary, Cervero and Gaines concluded that exposure to multiple modalities and multiple events will increase the likelihood of a change in performance and subsequent change in patient health outcomes. Their findings infer that educational interventions that are based on the concept of a performance improvement process involving feedback from ongoing, multimodal, interactive education and performance assessment, delivered sequentially, is more important than single or isolated educational events.

These systematic reviews demonstrate that the ability of CPD to create changes in performance or health outcomes is critically dependent on how it is designed and presented to learners.

When standards for mandatory CPD require little more than documentation of attendance for the purpose of certification, registration or credentialing, the effectiveness of the activities undertaken are variable. Moore et al. pointed out that in recent years there has been a steadily increasing discomfort about this uncertainty. The MBA has already responded to this by moving to a more specific description of CPD that involves hours and specifies a mandatory 'practice-based reflective element' for doctors holding general registration.⁴⁸

McMahon discusses how accredited CPD organisations have evolved substantially to meet these challenges over the last 15 years.⁴⁹ He points out that although educational planners increasingly construct activities related to adult learning theories and practice needs, much of this evolution is not visible to the learner. The example that he gives is that in the US, of the more than 140,000 learning activities offered by accredited organisations under the umbrella of the Accreditation Council for Continuing Medical Education (ACCME), approximately 60 per cent are designed to achieve improvements in physician performance, with 40 per cent of these courses measuring subsequent change. A further 30 per cent of the courses are designed to improve patient outcomes, with 13 per cent of courses measuring those changes.⁵⁰ Despite such developments in providing more sophisticated and evidence-based CPD, McMahon has argued that there is still room for more flexibility and innovation in CPD, so it meets both practice-based needs and quality improvement of healthcare.

Cervero and Gaines have contended that the current status of research demonstrates how to

promote desired outcomes, while the mechanism by which these outcomes are achieved is at an early stage and needs to be better understood. They have pointed out that although we now know what types of CPD are effective, the highest level of evidence, being the systematic reviews, do not explain what strategies are most effective, under which conditions, and for what purposes.

They summarise the status of the literature, as follows:

... we now have 39 systematic reviews that present an evidence-based approach to designing CME so that it is more likely to achieve the outcomes of improved physician performance and patient health outcomes. With this significant evidence-base about CME effectiveness, in tandem with numerous reports of practical strategies for effective CME, reforming the landscape of CME is less about what we know of its effectiveness and more about a political problem of changing the systems of which CME is an important constituent element. (p. 136) ⁵¹

Similarly, Moore et al. maintain that it is timely for CPD providers to examine the characteristics of their CPD programs to ensure that they contain the appropriate elements according to the evidence. They advise that:

The single most important change that providers can make involves providing opportunities for formative assessment during CPD activities by incorporating practice and feedback sessions. (p. 13)⁵²

Clearly, activities being developed in New Zealand are designed to meet this challenge. The New Zealand RPR process promotes the ability of the individual doctor to reflect on feedback, make changes to their practice and assess these changes and their effects with a colleague. Such approaches to practice and feedback appear to be an important component of making CPD more robust and contribute to effective revalidation.

Kopelow proposes that current knowledge provides an important message for planners and regulators of CPD.⁵³ In this regard, the essential process is to design the evidence-based features of the educational interventions that are specifically and deliberately devised to bring about a change in clinician performance in their scope of practice. There is an increased focus internationally on the role of a professional development plan (PDP) in guiding doctors to emphasise the relevance of their current and future practice demands and quality in assessing needs and planning their CPD activities. Self-assessment is critical to this process but a literature review has shown that. while suboptimal in quality, the preponderance of evidence suggests that physicians have a limited ability to self-assess accurately.⁵⁴ The authors therefore proposed that the processes currently used to undertake professional development and evaluate competence need to focus more on the results of external assessment. Examples include feedback from peer review, evaluation of outcomes based activities and high quality data based on standards.⁵⁵

Lockyer et al. studied how doctors inform their self-assessment. They found that doctors use and interpret data and standards of varying quality as a basis for self-assessment. They concluded that doctors may benefit from regular and routine feedback and guidance on how to seek out data for self-assessment.⁵⁶

Sargent et al. however have proposed that informed self-assessment is characterised by multiple tensions.⁵⁷ Mann et al. have studied the tensions that exist when informed selfassessment is used. In a qualitative study, they found that participants at all levels of medical training and practice experienced multiple tensions in informed self-assessment. Three categories of tensions emerged: within people (e.g. wanting feedback, yet fearing disconfirming feedback), between people (e.g. providing genuine feedback vet wanting to preserve relationships), and in the learning/practice environment (e.g. engaging in authentic selfassessment activities versus 'playing the evaluation game'). Multiple tensions, requiring ongoing negotiation and renegotiation, are inherent in informed self-assessment. They concluded that 'tensions are both intra-individual and inter-individual and they are culturally situated, reflecting both professional and institutional influences'.⁵⁸ This study emphasises the importance of leadership by CPD program providers in helping establish a culture and practice of informed self-assessment for professional development planning.

Identification of individual professional development needs should also take into account the knowledge of the doctor, the stage of progression in their career, their work requirements and other factors that can influence practise including risks and supports.⁵⁹ A written professional development plan (PDP) helps ensure that medical practitioners reflect on the value and appropriateness of proposed CPD activities before and after undertaking them. The PDP process for CPD is conceptualised as informed self-assessment taking into account all factors that may influence doctors' fitness to practise.

Strengthening continuing professional development: a conceptual model

In considering the assessment of doctors' performance at work, Klass⁶⁰ distinguished three relevant conceptual groupings within the 'umbrella' of CPD:

- educational activities relating to improving knowledge (which he views as proxy measures of performance)
- assessing doctors' performance in practice, and
- assessing patient outcomes.

The latter two groups represent actual or direct measures of a doctor's functioning in the real world.

The EAG has adapted Klass' interpretation to provide a conceptual model that identifies three types of CPD relevant to the Australian context. This is depicted in Figure 2.

Undertaking educational activities

Educational activities have traditionally been the major component of CPD and include activities such as lectures, presentations, conference attendance and reading that contribute to a doctor's maintenance, updating and broadening of their medical knowledge.

The EAG recognises the importance of educational activities for doctors maintaining and extending their medical knowledge throughout their career, particularly those activities that adhere to the contemporary adult learning principles and best practices described above.

Traditional educational activities alone such as didactic presentations are now considered insufficient to provide high quality CPD that will positively affect doctors' practice. Future CPD should enable doctors to focus on high-impact educational activities to ensure maximum effectiveness for their effort.



Figure 2: A conceptual model (Adapted from Klass 2007)

Online learning

Online learning provides vital accessibility for geographically isolated doctors. Online learning or e-learning approaches have been well supported in the literature for their effectiveness on knowledge, learner satisfaction and clinical decision-making.

E-learning CPD approaches that meet educational criteria discussed above including interactivity, feedback, multimedia and suitability for different learning styles are especially useful in the Australian context due to their convenience, accessibility and cost-effectiveness.

Casebeer et al. conducted an important randomised controlled study of the effectiveness of 114 online CPD activities in US doctors.⁶¹ They assessed the evidence-based decisions made in response to clinical case presentations by physicians participating in online CME activities of various formats and compared those decisions with those of a similar group of physicians who did not participate in the CPD activities. The CPD online formats included case-based, multimedia and interactive text.

The study compared the evidence-based clinical choices of a group of 8,550 participant doctors with those of a demographically matched control group of 8,592 non-participant doctors. Following participation, physicians were asked to respond to a series of clinical case-based questions related to application of the CPD content to clinical practice.

They found that doctors who participated in the online CPD activities were more likely to make evidence-based clinical choices than nonparticipants in response to clinical case vignettes. Their findings translated into an increased likelihood overall of 48 per cent that physicians participating in these online activities were making clinical choices based on evidence. In terms of the educational activity, multimedia and interactive case-based activities were clearly the most effective.

The authors concluded that their findings were consistent with a recent meta-analysis⁶², demonstrating that internet-based CPD improved participant knowledge, skills, and practice decisions, compared with no intervention and obtained outcomes that were comparable to those obtained after participation in traditional or face-to-face CPD activities.

Reviewing performance

Reviewing performance includes measures that focus on doctors' actual work processes with feedback. These include:

- direct observation by peers in the workplace
- peer review of medical records
- peer discussions including: clinical aspects of patient care, critical incidents and safety and quality reviews, and non-clinical aspects of care processes including time to first appointment, waiting times and scheduling, and
- multi-source feedback (MSF) provided by colleagues, co-workers and patients.

The role of peers, co-workers and patients together with their feedback is critical in this process.

Medical record review

Medical record (chart) review and discussions with peers based on the medical record (chart) have been used for many years to assess clinical performance. It has been shown in a study of randomly selected doctors in Quebec that peer ratings based on chart review alone achieve moderate levels of reliability but that some important information about quality of care is missed when only chart review is used compared to adding a discussion of aspects of the charts with the doctor concerned.⁶³

The same group has published a more recent and useful study that directly addressed the optimal number of patient charts for an acceptably reliable assessment of general practitioners. Four professional peer assessors independently reviewed 15 patient charts for each of a group of 20 practising doctors. Statistical analysis showed that as few as 10 patient charts are sufficient for any assessor to obtain a reliable result. This suggests that generalisable assessments by a peer reviewer could be obtained in a relatively short time-frame, consistent with a task that could be performed during a practice visit.⁶⁴

The Australian 'CareTrack' study, which used trained nurse assessors to review medical records against predetermined standards to establish quality of care among practising volunteer doctors, found that there were discrepant records in only 10 per cent of cases when comparing assessors against their trainer.⁶⁵ ⁶⁶ It has been shown in a US study examining the medical record for adverse events that *overestimating* whether a necessary care action was provided from the record is not likely to exceed 10 per cent.⁶⁷

A systematic review of case audit has been performed, covering 26 papers reporting comparisons of two or three raters making independent judgments about the quality of care. Measured reliabilities were found to be higher for case-note reviews based on explicit, as opposed to implicit, criteria and for reviews that focused on outcome (including adverse effects) rather than process errors.⁶⁸ Similarly, strategies including emphasising outcomes measurement, providing more structured assessments to identify true differences in patient management, adjusting systematic bias resulting from the individual reviewer and their professional background, and averaging scores from multiple reviewers, have been suggested.⁶⁹ Continuing work on developing agreed clinical standards for index conditions, such as used in the CareTrack study⁷⁰ will provide explicit criteria to assist reviewers when assessing records and assist doctors in preparation for peer review.

Experience of medical record review in Canadian regulatory authorities

Canadian regulatory authorities have significant experience in the peer review of medical records in the doctor's surgery both as a CPD tool and as a method for early detection of performance issues. The peer review approaches used by medical regulatory authorities in Canada are detailed on pages 41 - 43.

Multi-source feedback

Multi-source feedback (MSF), also called '360degree' appraisal, is a significant potential formative educational element of a strengthened CPD process in Australia. MSF has been identified as a promising method for evaluating doctors' performance at work.

MSF has also been employed as a screening approach to help determine which doctors may not be performing to an acceptable standard and may present a risk to the public. The value and effectiveness of MSF in both these contexts is now described.

MSF for educational purposes

MSF is based on surveys that are usually completed by three separate groups: colleagues, co-workers and patients. The doctor self-reviews at the same time, and compares their self-reflection with their actual results and usually the comparative results of peers. In many cases, the technique is accompanied by externally facilitated feedback. This process is seen as a positive way of driving CPD.⁷¹

MSF is being increasingly favoured as a way of assessing multiple components of professional performance, some of which are otherwise very difficult to assess. This is because MSF permits external evaluation of a doctor's performance on a wide variety of competencies and behaviours by three different groups including:

- colleagues who know about the doctor's practice
- co-workers (e.g. nurses, allied healthcare professionals or health-related administrative staff), and
- patients.⁷²

Respondents in these three categories must have observed the doctor's behaviour in their everyday interactions or be the doctor's patients, so they can answer survey questions about the doctor's performance. Doctors also usually complete a survey questionnaire about their own performance so that their self-ratings are compared with others' ratings in order to examine directions for change.⁷³

The surveys that are applied to each group vary in order to capture the most relevant information from each group. Figure 3 indicates the main attributes assessed by different MSF assessor groups.

While self-directed learning is a central plank of CPD, Davis et al., in a systematic review of the accuracy of physician self-assessment compared with observed measures of competence, concluded that the weight of the evidence suggests that doctors have a limited ability to accurately self-assess.⁷⁴ They proposed that the processes currently used to undertake CPD and evaluate competence may need to focus more on external assessment. Ferguson et al. in their systematic review of MSF found that higher levels of behaviour change are achieved through facilitated feedback.⁷⁵ Their review found that feedback generated from peer assessment has positive effects when the feedback came from credible peers or authoritative sources and included narrative comments.⁷⁶ The strongest effects have been found in studies where performance was evaluated and feedback given over longer periods of time.⁷⁷ Evidence suggests the skill of facilitated feedback from a respected peer, influences how a physician responds to their feedback, the level of reflection achieved, and handling of negative comments, all of which have been shown to significantly influence the level of change achieved.78



Figure 3: Attributes assessed by MSF assessor groups⁷⁹

In a review of 64 studies that aimed to assess the performance of individual doctors, it was found that MSF is the most feasible method in terms of costs and time.⁸⁰ Lockyer proposed that MSF is not a replacement for audit when clinical outcomes need to be assessed. However, when interpersonal, communication, professionalism, or teamwork behaviours need to be assessed and guidance given, it is one of the better tools that may be adopted and implemented to provide feedback and guide performance.^{81 82}

Several recent studies have examined the reliability of MSF. In emergency medicine and psychiatry, MSF was applied to 25 patients, eight co-workers, eight medical colleagues, and the doctor, respectively, using five-point rating scales along with an 'unable to assess' category. Items addressed key competencies related to communication skills, professionalism, collegiality, and selfmanagement. Reliability was acceptable (patients) to high (colleagues and coworkers).^{83 84} Slightly lower reliabilities were obtained from a similar study of anaesthetists.⁸⁵

In the UK, Campbell et al. have investigated the utility of the GMC patient and colleague MSF questionnaires in assessing the professional

performance of a large sample of UK doctors in a range of UK clinical practice settings.⁸⁶ The study was applied to 1065 volunteer nontraining grade doctors from various clinical specialties and settings, and 17,031 of their colleagues. They found that to achieve acceptable levels of reliability, a minimum of eight colleague questionnaires and 22 patient questionnaires are required. Older doctors had lower patient-derived and colleague-derived scores than younger doctors. They argue that such approaches could potentially identify a minority of doctors whose practice should be subjected to further scrutiny.

In a new study conducted in the Netherlands, using questionnaires derived from the Alberta Physician Achievement Review (PAR) described below, it was found that only two per cent of variance in the mean ratings could be attributed to biasing factors. As suggested by Davis et al.⁸⁷, doctors' self-ratings were not correlated with peer, co-worker or patient ratings in this study. However, ratings of peers, co-workers and patients were correlated. Five peer evaluations, five co-worker evaluations and 11 patient evaluations were required to achieve reliable results (reliability coefficient set at ≥ 0.70).⁸⁸ Research in both industry and medicine shows that MSF systems with individualised results and peer feedback can result in improvement and adoption of new practices.^{89 90} It has also been shown that planned interventions after feedback, such as coaching or mentoring, are important to effect behaviour change especially when negative feedback has been provided.⁹¹

Campbell's study also examined relationships between scores. Doctors who received lower feedback scores from their colleagues were those qualifying outside of the UK or South Asia, those working in locum posts, and those not working as a general practitioner or in a consultant role (such as doctors in associate specialist or staff grade roles). The age, gender, and ethnic group of the doctor were not independent predictors of feedback scores from patients or colleagues, a result that the authors described as 'gratifying' and which is important potentially in a multicultural society such as Australia.

It should be noted that in MSF. differences have been found between responses according to respondents' background characteristics or context. Wilkinson et al., in a large study of MSF applied to UK doctors in training, showed that there were small differences in ratings associated with various colleague characteristics viz., different genders gave different mean scores, with male and female raters giving mean scores of 7.78 and 7.97, respectively. ⁹² These score differences, while fairly small, were statistically significant. There were also some relatively small differences according to the background of the rater. Similarly Wright et al., in a UK study, found that co-workers who had more contact with the individual doctor were also more likely to provide more favourable feedback.⁹³ While these differences appear small, it is therefore not advisable to use MSF as the sole measure of a doctor's performance in practice. Despite this caution, MSF is feasible and cost-effective, has high reliability with small numbers of respondents, demonstrates validity and is capable of assessing important broad competencies that are difficult to otherwise assess, such as communication, interpersonal skills and teamwork, professionalism and collegiality.

The Council of Academic Hospitals of Ontario (CAHO), while not a regulatory authority, has also reported that member hospitals are using MSF for all medical staff. The results are not used for credentialing or re-appointment purposes. Using the PAR instruments, surveys are administered and collated. Feedback, professional development and coaching are provided confidentially by the department head. The individual doctor sees their own results compared with de-identified peers, and a threshold score.⁹⁴

MSF for regulatory screening purposes

MSF for regulatory screening purposes as well as educational purposes has been used and studied extensively in a number of Canadian regulatory authorities.

Alberta

In 1999, the College of Physicians and Surgeons of Alberta (CPSA) originally developed and standardised the longstanding process known as the PAR – which was a MSF program for family physicians.⁹⁵

Working with the Universities of Calgary and Alberta through a comprehensive consultative process involving physicians, patients and other healthcare professionals, with extensive psychometric testing and analysis of tools, the CPSA developed and refined broad categories of physician performance domains and specific questionnaire items within those domains.

The CPSA then developed and implemented specialty-specific PAR programs for a wide range of specialties such as surgeons, paediatricians, anaesthetists and IMGs. Results from implementation of each set of these PAR tools have been published in peer reviewed journals.⁹⁶

Participation in PAR was mandatory for continued licensure in Alberta from 2001 to 2016. The process required physicians to participate in the performance review process every five years. The original PAR processes involved a set of questionnaires completed by 25 patients, eight physician colleagues and eight non-physician healthcare co-workers.

These numbers have been validated by research,^{97 98} although some authors have suggested that 25 patients may be insufficient.

PAR covered five physician attributes:

- clinical knowledge and skills
- communication skills
- psychosocial management
- office management, and
- collegiality.

For doctors working in laboratory medicine and diagnostic imaging, questionnaires were given to referring physicians rather than patients. Members of the Physician Performance Committee (PPC), a nine-member Councilappointed group, reviewed results.

Alberta's PAR program was an integral component of the Alberta College's revalidation strategy. The process primarily focused on practice quality and educational processes rather than a search for underperformance. However, about four per cent of the total group were further assessed including a formal peer review of their practice based on their results.⁹⁹ The peer review process employed, included a practice visit, with direct observation and medical record (chart) review and a process of 'Chart Stimulated Recall' (a discussion based on the doctor's own patient records) and included one doctor visiting the practice. A specialist familiar with the physician's type of practice conducted visits for surgeons, medical specialists and anaesthetists.

If the peer review again raised concerns about underperformance, a stepped process continued where the doctor might be required to remediate and/or undertake a more detailed assessment of clinical knowledge and skills including assessments of professional knowledge and skills, communication skills, professional ethics and practice management and the doctor's own mental and physical health.

The PAR process was specifically regulated so that it did not lead directly to disciplinary action or investigation without the involvement of the doctor concerned through stepped processes for further scrutiny if required. The CPSA view was that it had an obligation to recognise serious concerns, or performance problems through the process, while treating the process of feedback and/or a remediation of individual needs as a supportive model. While primarily focussed on feedback to the majority for performance improvement and reflection, the process was also intended to identify a small group of potentially underperforming doctors for further scrutiny.

Since 2017, the CPSA's original PAR process has now been superseded and replaced by a mandatory five yearly process MSF+, using a broader range of tools for competency assessment including a professional development plan, a revised MSF approach (MCC360)¹⁰⁰, and peer review or audit.¹⁰¹ The new process is described further on page 67.

Nova Scotia

In 2000, the College of Physicians and Surgeons of Nova Scotia (CPSNS) decided to adopt the Alberta PAR MSF program and initiated an extensive testing, communication and orientation process prior to its implementation in 2005. Like Alberta, the Nova Scotia PAR (NSPAR) program is currently also transitioning to a broader process called an enhanced physician peer review program (PPR-NS). This was launched in 2017 and NSPAR will now cease to operate. The new process now emphasises peer review and professional development planning as follows:

A standard PPR-NS peer review will include:

- an on-site visit, assessing and providing feedback on a physician's practice facility, processes and procedures, documentation and patient care
- a discussion of the various risk and supportive factors, unique in profile to each physician's practice, which may influence long-term quality, and
- a review of the physician's approach to practice improvement, introducing strategies for linking professional development to potential gaps in practice.¹⁰²

Off-site peer review may be offered in lieu of on-site review where doctors whose practice profiles include multiple 'protective factors' i.e. those known to promote quality in practice. The concepts of risk and supports are discussed further on page 53. The CPSNS expects this delineation to direct its resources where they may be most needed, i.e. a risk-based approach.

In addition, there is a reflective approach to the CPD component where participants are asked to consider their approach to CPD and to then adopt best practices for quality improvement in their individual practice environment.¹⁰³ The overall program outcomes are described as 'directive when necessary', so that in limited circumstances, such as a review uncovering a safety issue, the program can direct a doctor to take certain actions to improve their practice.

The PPR-NS process will require doctors to make themselves available for review every seven years.

Manitoba

In 2011, Manitoba adopted the PAR process. Beginning in 2011, all Manitoba physicians who have practised medicine in the province for at least three years were required to participate in. i.e. make themselves available for - the Manitoba PAR (MPAR) process about once every seven years. Once selected, physicians must, by law, complete the MPAR assessment. Each year, approximately 14 per cent of Manitoba physicians are surveyed.¹⁰⁴ It is reported that approximately 10 per cent of assessed physicians may require or request further practice improvement and/or professional development assistance based on the findings of their MPAR assessment. This assistance could take the form of a telephone interview and/or a peer review practice visit.¹⁰⁵

British Columbia

In British Columbia, the College of Physicians and Surgeons (CPSBC) has a long-standing program known as the Physician Practice Enhancement Program (PPEP). The assessment process begins with a pre-visit questionnaire followed first by a MSF process based on the PAR tool. A Peer Practice Assessment (PPA) of recorded care and finally an office assessment follow this.¹⁰⁶

Physicians working in a 'collegially unsupported' or solo practice environment, as well as physicians over the age of 70 years, are prioritised while the majority of physicians are randomly selected and, for efficiency, all physician colleagues working at the same clinic are assessed at the same time.

The Physician Practice Enhancement Panel of the Quality Assurance Committee sets the assessment cycle. It is based on the review of the initial assessment and may take place on average every seven to eight years. Physicians aged 70 or above, however, are automatically assessed more frequently on a three-year assessment cycle.

All information collected through the PPEP is confidential, protected, and is used by the program to guide learning; however, in some instances, the results will be used to direct recommended outcome activities. Without a physician's permission, it is stated that the information gathered through PPEP cannot be shared with other areas of the college, including any disciplinary processes.

Measuring outcomes

Measuring outcomes for most doctors includes investigating the outcomes of doctors' everyday work by analysing and reflecting on data about their patients' health outcomes. The sources of data for this activity might include critical incidents, commendations, audit of specific indicators of patients' outcomes such as immunisation rates or chronic disease indicators, adherence to standards of care. morbidity /mortality reviews, timely access to care, prescribing patterns, and individual or team data on mortality and morbidity statistics such as postoperative infection rates/other procedural outcomes. At the regulatory end of the spectrum, patient complaints, notifications or malpractice claims will provide important information.

Audit and feedback

Audit and feedback form a common approach to assessing and evaluating changes based on patient outcomes. Reflective practice encompasses collecting patient outcome data, reflection on practice and review of feedback from peers, colleagues and co-workers. It provides an opportunity to improve both practitioner and unit/team/organisational practice.^{107 108 109}

Clinical audit is defined as a process that seeks to improve patient care and outcomes through a systematic review of care against explicit measures and the implementation of change in practice if needed.¹¹⁰ The main aim of clinical audit is to measure how well something is done rigorously and to provide feedback to improve local clinical care.¹¹¹

Some studies have found that clinical audit with feedback is effective in changing physician care and patient outcomes.¹¹² ¹¹³ However, the practice of audit and feedback in healthcare professional practice has not consistently been found to be effective.

lvers et al. have conducted a large Cochrane systematic review of 140 studies, to help explain the variability in performance changes and types of audit and feedback for health practitioners.¹¹⁴ They found that variations could be seen in how frequently audit feedback was given, who administered the audit/feedback, if it was in writing or verbal, and the expected goals after feedback. The authors concluded that, although only small changes were made throughout the process, they were potentially very important.

Changes in the effectiveness of audit varied mostly due to alternative ways of delivering feedback. Clinical audit was most effective when health professionals were not performing well to begin with; the audit included clear targets and an action plan; the audit was effectively facilitated by the relevant organisation and was conducted by a respected and/or familiar supervisor/colleague with relevant knowledge.

Other authors have suggested that the uncertainty in published research is as a result of ineffective implementation.¹¹⁵ ¹¹⁶ The most common identified barriers to the effectiveness of audit in improving care are:

- poor management
- lack of audit/organisational support
- excessive workload, and
- time constraints.

These barriers may be overcome by improved support for doctors in accessing their patient outcome and/or practice-based data. This could occur at a number of levels:

- in-practice support, including extraction of accurate data from medical records software
- local, institutional and regional support including providing comparative data, and
- national support including providing deidentified practitioner and comparative data from large data sets such as those held by Medicare.

The power of comparative data is that it clearly demonstrates outliers in practice. Enabling reflection against comparisons can facilitate discussion and lead to practice change. However, it is important that data provided are targeted to practice and practitioner needs, are manageable in scope, and are preferably reviewed on a regular basis to determine the impact of change.

The most effective use of doctors' time is clearly in reflection and feedback on their data and relevant comparisons, leading to practice change rather than simply the time spent to collect data. The current issues of inadequate availability of relevant data are discussed further below. Audit has the potential to be a beneficial form of CPD, if organisational support and sufficient resources are in place. Further research is necessary to determine whether and how clinical audit is more effective if combined with other interventions.¹¹⁷

Strengthened CPD

Strengthened CPD, developed in consultation with the profession and the community, is the recommended pillar for revalidation in Australia. CPD is continuing to evolve. This section shows that CPD, when conducted according to evidence and principles underpinning best practice, is an important driver of practice improvement, better patient healthcare outcomes and will more effectively connect to future healthcare needs.

We now have the opportunity to strengthen Australia's CPD system for medical practitioners so that it is more effective, flexible and dynamic. Given the distribution of registered medical practitioners within and outside colleges, all proposed changes to strengthen CPD must apply to and be accessible to all registered medical practitioners.

Evidence-based activities are already in use in different Australian healthcare settings and in specialist college CPD programs. While college programs differ in style and substance, the EAG recognises that there is already considerable leadership available in different aspects of CPD in Australia. Many colleges continue to innovate actively in their CPD programs and monitor and enhance their program quality.

Profession-led collaboration between colleges about the way forward in Australian CPD would enable sharing of best practices and could lead to collaborative piloting of new interventions with shared evaluation activities.

The deliberate aims and high-level criteria for a nationally consistent approach to CPD for all colleges and providers needs to be clearly articulated. This will support collaborative development and maintain focus on the intended outcomes. Innovation in CPD should be encouraged. When new initiatives or innovations are implemented they should be evaluated as part of a focused and effective set of evaluation activities within and between colleges and providers. Effective and efficient CPD programs will ensure that every doctor is supported by quality education relevant to their individual learning needs and scope of practice, so that the performance of all doctors and ultimately their patient outcomes will be enhanced throughout their careers. As doctors' careers progress, their scope of practice may alter. As a result, learning needs will change and so will the CPD activities required for different scopes of practice. CPD is therefore seen as a dynamic and evolving process throughout a doctor's career.

To achieve this, the EAG proposes to strengthen CPD by applying a set of guiding principles to shape all CPD for medical practitioners in Australia. High quality CPD programs:

- are evidence-based
- are based on a professional development plan
- are interactive, use multiple methods and involve multiple exposures
- focus on outcomes that individual doctors wish to attain and which support their individual practice
- aim to improve doctors' performance and behaviours and their patient outcomes
- emphasise the role of self-reflection
- provide credible and practical feedback
- are integrated with existing systems to avoid duplication of effort
- are led by the profession, and
- encourage collaboration within the profession.

Deriving a framework from the Klass model, the EAG proposes ensuring medical practitioners participate in three core types of CPD, with activities prioritised to strengthen individual performance based on professional development planning. All recognised CPD activities would adhere to best practice and support relevant educational activities, reviewing performance, and measuring outcomes.

Given the quality of the evidence now available, it is reasonable for regulatory standards to strengthen and give greatest weighting to requirements for CPD that meet best practice and are most likely to lead to desired outcomes. Conversely, attendance at didactic educational events and other activities that have not been shown to promote desired outcomes should be given the lowest weighting in a regulatory standard. Regulatory standards should not limit the activities that doctors undertake after they have met the standard.

Strengthened CPD should be developed in consultation with the profession and the community. It is essential to allow for such development to meet different standards successfully by enabling a transition phase.

Proactive management of risk from practitioner performance

An essential factor to consider in designing any revalidation model for Australia, or 'the conundrum' as Hawkes has observed in discussing the UK context is, 'how to identify (underperforming) doctors without subjecting the rest to time-consuming and needless procedures'.¹¹⁸

Background

Jurisdiction and functions of key agencies

The main agencies in Australia with responsibility for medico-legal matters are the civil courts (negligence claims), the health complaints entities (HCEs) in each state and territory (patient complaints), and the MBA (conduct, health and performance matters).

Similarly, in New Zealand, the Health and Disability Commissioner is a national New Zealand crown entity responsible for promoting and protecting the rights of health and disability consumers. The MCNZ has similar jurisdiction to the MBA. In addition, the Australian coronial court is an inquisitorial court related to investigation of certain deaths and contribution to reducing public risk under the *Coroners Act* 2008.¹¹⁹

Figure 4 (adapted from Bismark et al.¹²⁰) demonstrates the relationship and remit of these agencies.

HCEs aim to provide readily accessible healthcare complaints and reporting systems. They provide an important avenue for consumers to voice opinions on the quality of their health care.

Australia and other similar countries also use health practitioner regulation to ensure that every doctor is fit to practise. *Good Medical Practice: A code of conduct for doctors in Australia* (the code) describes what is expected of all doctors registered to practise medicine in Australia.

It sets out the principles that characterise good medical practice and makes explicit the standards of ethical and professional conduct expected of doctors by and towards their professional peers and the community.¹²¹ One of the ways in which the MBA protects the community is by investigating notifications made by the public and employers, and, when necessary, subsequently managing medical practitioners when:

- they have been found to have engaged in unprofessional conduct or professional misconduct, or
- they have been found to have engaged in unsatisfactory professional performance, or
- their health is impaired and their practice may place the public at risk.¹²²

The word 'notification' is deliberate and reflects that the MBA is not a complaints resolution agency. It is a protective jurisdiction and its role is to protect the public by dealing with medical practitioners who may be putting the public at risk as a result of their conduct, professional performance or health.

Studies of risks and supports that may affect doctors' performance

Size of the problem

International evidence shows that a small proportion of doctors may not be practising to a sufficient standard at any one time.

Donaldson estimated that over a five-year period, as many as six per cent of British doctors could raise concerns serious enough to warrant consideration of disciplinary action.¹²³ The study investigated the medical staff of a large National Health Service (NHS) hospital workforce covering a population of three million. Over a five-year period, serious potentially disciplinary-related concerns were raised in 49 out of 850 consultant staff. Ninety-six types of problem were encountered, and were categorised as poor attitude and disruptive or irresponsible behaviour [32], lack of commitment to duties [21], poor skills and inadequate knowledge (19), dishonesty (11), sexual matters (seven), disorganised practice and poor communication with colleagues (five), and other problems (one). Twenty-five of the 49 doctors retired or left the employer's service, whereas 21 remained in employment after counselling or under supervision.

	Civil courts	Health complaints entities (commissions)	Health practitioner regulators ²
Cases handled	negligence claims	• patient complaints •	conduct, competence, or health matters
Jurisdictional focus	 substandard care causing patient harm 	 low-quality care patient dissatisfaction with care 	professional misconduct performance or competence falling below professional standards ill health, substance misuse or impairment
Procedures used	 out of court negotiation alternative forms of dispute resolution (e.g. mediation, arbitration) trials before judges 	 early resolution conciliation investigation 	review of doctor's competence or health status investigation disciplinary charges
Remedies	• monetary damages	 communication (e.g. facilitate apology or explanation) restoration (e.g. facilitate provision of further treatment, fee forgiveness, monetary settlement) correction (e.g. recommend system change) 	no further action required correction (e.g. requirement that practitioner undergo education, rehabilitation, monitoring, etc.) sanction (e.g. suspension or revocation of registration*) *typically, such sanctions are imposed by external administrative tribunals in proceedings initiated by the Medical Board of Australia

Figure 4: Jurisdiction and functions of key agencies with responsibility for medico-legal matters in Australia

² Includes the Medical Board of Australia, the Medical Council of New South Wales and Queensland's Office of the Health Ombudsman.

Donaldson et al. later conducted a large observational study using data collected by the independent National Clinical Assessment Service (NCAS)¹²⁴ in the UK for each formal referral for performance concerns (n=6179 doctors) over an 11-year period (2001–2012). The annual referral rate was five per 1,000 doctors.¹²⁵

The United States Federation of State Medical Boards (FSMB) defines two areas of concern in practice. The first is when a doctor fails to maintain acceptable standards in one or more areas of their professional practice and the second is when a doctor is completely lacking the requisite abilities and qualities (cognitive, noncognitive, and communicative) to perform effectively in the expected scope of their professional practice.¹²⁶

Williams recently estimated a six to 12 per cent rate of the former among US physicians.¹²⁷ He suggests that these percentages, while a small minority of the medical population, nonetheless constitute a sufficiently large group to give cause for alarm and to energise efforts to detect and, where possible, remediate deficiencies.

In the current multi-level evaluation study of the UK revalidation system interim report (2016), ¹²⁸ the annual appraisal system that is now in place for the majority of UK doctors was evaluated. Surveys were distributed to 156,610 doctors, including appraisers. In all, 26,171 responded, of whom 4,454 respondents were also appraisers. Ten per cent of responding appraisers (n=412) had escalated a concern about at least one of the doctors appraised. Concerns were most frequently raised about the doctors' lack of reflective practice (45.5 per cent).

Wenghofer et al. studied 532 general practitioners randomly selected for College of Physicians and Surgeons of Ontario (CPSO) peer assessments conducted between 1997 and 2000.¹²⁹ The majority (78 per cent) of these physicians had satisfactory practices; whereas 14.1 per cent required a reassessment and 7.9 per cent required an interview because of concerns about quality of care. In 2017, the CPSO reported that seven per cent of all doctors subject to their mandatory peer assessment processes were not considered satisfactory, requiring further action.¹³⁰ The CPSO processes are described further below.

A conceptual approach to managing risk and improving supports in a regulatory framework

International literature and practice concerning the management of risks that may affect doctors' performance now shows that there are a number of identifiable and significant risks to patient safety from medical practitioners at risk of poor performance that are amenable to intervention. Conversely, factors that support doctors' practice are also being increasingly recognised.

Risk

A recent review conducted for Canadian regulators identified hundreds of articles concerning issues of risk, a detailed account of which is beyond the scope of this paper.¹³¹

A system level solution has been called for to identify those doctors whose performance fails to meet expected standards of care or consistently falters.¹³² Although personal and professional characteristics are important, Wenghofer et al. have proposed that doctors' performance is also influenced by many other factors.¹³³ They conclude that:

Employing a conceptual framework that considers physician performance within a broader environmental construct will allow us to develop better processes of performance evaluation, to design appropriate interventions and to support performance improvement and governance models for individuals, teams and systems.

From a systems perspective, the EAG also proposes that individual, contextual and collective health system factors are all influential. Further, it should be recognised that risk may arise from one factor or from a complex interplay of factors, including both risks and supports.

Not all risk factors such as age are directly modifiable, however attention to all factors individually and collectively has the potential to improve health care quality in Australia.

This report draws on literature and practice, and the consultation feedback to conceptualise the most pressing and potentially modifiable areas for regulatory action on risk in three categories as follows:

Individual characteristics

- a) Physician age/length of time in practice
- b) Medical practitioners who are the subject of multiple complaints or notifications

Practice contexts

a) Professionally isolated practitioners who lack peer supports

Health systems and culture

- a) Underdeveloped and fragmented systems for the early identification and effective management of underperformance
- b) Barriers to inter-agency information sharing about risk
- c) Poor professional behaviours in doctors are not fully addressed
- d) Variable structures for remediation and patchy access for practitioners
- e) Barriers to accessing patient outcome data for CPD focussed on improving quality and safety.

Associations of risk with individual characteristics

Individual characteristics including age/length of medical career, gender and cognition are well recognised in the literature as potential risk factors for performance. Age and length of time in practice are strongly correlated, and most research articles therefore denote this factor as age only so this will be adopted for the present discussion.

Ageing and cognition

The Australian population is ageing. Between 1995 and 2015, the proportion of people aged 65 years and over increased from 11.9 per cent to 15 per cent.¹³⁴ In March 2017, in Australia, there were 5,596 registered medical practitioners aged 70 years and over and 865 aged 80 years and over, who are registered to practise medicine.¹³⁵

The *World Alzheimer's report* 2015 summary shows the regional crude estimate of dementia prevalence in people aged 60 years and over now in Australasia is 6.7 per cent.¹³⁶ Dementia is the single greatest cause of disability in Australians aged 65 years or older.¹³⁷ Research published by the Alzheimer's Association Australia indicates that 20 per cent of women over the age of 65 and 17 per cent of men over the age of 65 will develop dementia.¹³⁸ Ageing practitioners may be affected by different age related sensory and neurocognitive changes,¹³⁹ ¹⁴⁰ including a decline in processing speed, reduced problem-solving ability and fluid intelligence, impaired hearing and sight, and reduced manual dexterity. This parallels the changes in the general population.¹⁴¹ Normal cognitive ageing involves a decline in fluid intelligence beginning in the middle adult years, whereas crystallized intelligence tends to remain stable.¹⁴²

In medicine, Durning et al. call attention to the importance of both crystallised and fluid intelligence in enabling accurate clinical decision-making. Crystallised intelligence is the cumulative information acquired throughout life and includes professional expertise and wisdom. Fluid intelligence is the capacity to process information and reason, which is critical to analysing and solving novel or complex problems. Because of decline in fluid intelligence, adults in their 70s typically take about twice as long to process the same tasks as adults in their 20s.¹⁴³

Lee and Weston discussed the role of experience therefore becoming a 'double-edged sword', providing increasingly efficient diagnostic skill involving pattern recognition, while countered by age related decline in analytic reasoning skills.¹⁴⁴ They cite an early study of older doctors with competency concerns where they have found prevalent errors of non-comprehensive history taking, incomplete data gathering and interpretation, and deficient hypothesis generation.¹⁴⁵

Concern arises from studies that demonstrate that more than a third of physicians with identified competency concerns have moderate to severe cognitive impairment.¹⁴⁶ Regarding cognitive functioning, Kataria and colleagues¹⁴⁷ examined the performance assessments and cognitive function in 109 practitioners over the age of 45 years referred to the National Clinical Assessment Service (NCAS) between 1 September 2008 and 30 June 2012. The majority of reasons for referral included 'clinical difficulties' and 'governance or safety issues'. Eighty-seven practitioners scored above 88 on ACE-R (a cognitive screening test).¹⁴⁸ Twenty-two were found to have an ACE-R score of < 88, indicating a potential cognitive issue. On further assessment. 14 of these 22 practitioners (15 per cent) were found to have cognitive impairment. The majority of all practitioners were found to be performing below the expected level of practice

for someone at their grade and specialty and the youngest doctor with a cognitive deficit in this study was 46 years old. Many were working in isolation indicating a lack of professional/peer supports. They called for increased vigilance for cognitive impairment.

It is difficult to relate the precise degree of neurocognitive loss to physician competence because the actual levels of cognitive impairment that preclude safe practice have not yet been determined. There are yet no agreed guidelines to help medical boards decide what level of cognitive impairment in a doctor may put the public at risk.¹⁴⁹ Screening tests may require further investigation when impairment is suspected. However, LoboPrabhu et al. raise the question of whether age should be considered as a risk factor that merits special screening for adequate cognitive functioning.¹⁵⁰

Unfortunately, studies also demonstrate that physicians have limited ability to self-assess competence¹⁵¹ and this could be compounded by a lack of awareness of decline in their cognitive performance.¹⁵² It is possible therefore that some doctors might have difficulty recognising limitations of their standards of care¹⁵³ or knowing when to cease practice.¹⁵⁴

Older doctors might have decreased practice performance. They may have decreased clinical knowledge, adhere less often to standards of appropriate treatment, and perform worse on process measures of health care quality in relation to diagnosis, screening, and preventive care.¹⁵⁵ They may have had variable levels and quality of CPD over their careers.¹⁵⁶ A large recent study also found an association of age with reduced patient outcomes (higher 30 day mortality), especially for low-volume practice.¹⁵⁷

Older doctors represent a valuable asset to the medical profession and some studies have demonstrated that physicians under 65 years can perform at or near the level of their younger peers. Drag et al. found that on computerised tasks, 78 per cent of surgeons between 60 and 64 years of age performed at equivalent standard to younger colleagues, while this dropped to 38 per cent of those 70 and older.¹⁵⁸ Older doctors make a significant clinical workforce contribution, as well as undertaking many essential roles including educating, mentoring and supervising.¹⁵⁹

The effect of age on any individual doctor's competence can be highly variable and the

reasons for this are likely multifactorial.¹⁶⁰ ¹⁶¹ Competence and health, rather than mandatory retirement due to age per se, should be the deciding factors regarding whether physicians should be able to continue their practice.¹⁶² Deterioration in health from any cause should be recognised so that the ramifications can be managed proactively.

While cognitive function is clearly a risk factor, it should not be interpreted in isolation from other factors that may contribute to a risk from underperformance.¹⁶³ Many factors other than age and health may also contribute positively to a doctor's level of competence. These include supports such as intelligence and engagement in self-directed learning and deliberate practice to maintain expertise; patient factors such as acuity of the illness and complexity of the problem; and practice factors such as time pressures, hours worked, shift work, on-call, and robust organisational support and governance systems.¹⁶⁴ ¹⁶⁵ Eva has proposed that:

*Evidence from the medical education literature and psychological theory suggest the importance of increased environmental supports, decreased time demands, and peer review programs as barriers against the impact of aging. The implications of these findings include the potential to tailor continuing education (and physician remediation) efforts toward the age-related abilities/deficiencies of individual physicians.*¹⁶⁶

Team composition plays a role. Aiken et al. have reported that differences in nursing education and staffing are associated with mortality and other patient outcomes independent of physicians' qualifications.¹⁶⁷

Late career planning and transition to retirement

Lee¹⁶⁸ questioned:

Should older doctors be forced to retire? Clearly, age should not be the only determinant. It remains a challenge for regulatory bodies to determine the appropriate physician, practice, and patient factors that, in combination, determine an individual physician's ability to practise safely. There are currently various provincial physician assessment and enhancement programs that target older practising physicians¹⁶⁹. A constructive, proactive approach that balances patient safety with the rights of physicians who have provided a lifetime of dedicated service to their communities is required. Systemic changes that will allow dignified retirement for physicians diagnosed with Mild Cognitive Impairment or dementia are needed.

In Australia, there is no mandatory retirement age for doctors. The total number of doctors over 65 years of age has increased by 80 per cent since 2004,^{170 171} consistent with the baby boomer generation. Since Schofield and Beard reported on the effects of this generation in medical practitioners in 2005,¹⁷² the medical workforce has continued to age.

For example, the RACS reported in 2013 that 19 per cent of its fellows were over the age of 65^{173} and currently 11 per cent of all registered medical practitioners are over the age of 65 and 5.8 per cent are over the age of 70.

Many doctors are reluctant to retire. Wijeratne and colleagues have just reported a crosssectional self-report survey of doctors aged 55 or more, using a commercial database rented from the Australasian Medical Publishing Company (AMPCo). In all, 62 per cent of 1048 respondents (17.5 per cent response rate) intended to retire, 11.4 per cent had no intention of retiring and 26.6 per cent were unsure.¹⁷⁴

Clinicians with adequate financial resources and greater anxiety about ageing were more likely to have firm retirement plans; while international medical graduates, clinicians with greater 'work centrality' and greater emotional resources, were less likely to have retirement plans in place.¹⁷⁵

In a model including medical specialty as a variable, being a psychiatrist (aOR, 0.40; 95% CI, 0.20–0.79) or general practitioner (aOR, 0.54; 95% CI, 0.34–0.87) were associated with reduced odds of intending to retire.

The authors suggest that their findings are relevant to developing education and support programs for assisting late career medical practitioners to transition to retirement. They propose that specific programs should be provided as part of CPD programs through the medical colleges.

They recommend that CPD programs should include general strategies concerning financial and emotional resources as well as recognising the role of work as part of a medical professional's self-identity. Specific CPD programs also may assist older doctors to gradually step down from practice by progressively reducing work hours, modifying their responsibilities, developing new interests, and eventually retiring altogether.¹⁷⁶

Existing examples such as the RACS *The surgical career transitions quide* is an online resource that highlights issues relating to all career stages, and links to relevant educational opportunities. In addition, the RACS enables CPD participants to self-select from five practice types including clinical consulting practice only and surgical assisting or other non-consulting practice, with tailored CPD requirements according to scope of practice, at any career stage including at a late career stage. The RACS position paper, Senior surgeons in active practice, supports annual health checks for senior surgeons. Another example is the Welfare of anaesthetists special interest group position statement that provides guidance on retirement and later career options for the older anaesthetist.177

Collectively, colleges could increase assistance by enabling access to peer 'retirement ambassadors' as role models for effective retirement and including educational interventions regarding career planning and transitions in CPD programs.

Lillis and Milligan emphasise the important role of employers in career transitions. Employers may find it difficult to raise age as an independent issue due to perceived legal constraints.¹⁷⁸ Nonetheless, employers can play a valuable role in their employment and credentialing processes including formalised transition to retirement plans, adapting workload, case mix complexity, after-hours work and solo practice, providing extra peer support, an assigned colleague/mentor, longer appointment times and more flexible working hours. Similarly, medical indemnity insurers may provide a substantial and confidential form of support for effective transitions to retirement. In addition, effective use of superannuation planning is valuable in assisting doctors to be in a strong financial position for retirement.

Pesiah et al. sum up the beneficial future approaches to effective retirement in Australia:

...educating the medical community, encouraging early notification and facilitating career planning and timely retirement of older doctors. This will have benefits both in protecting the public as well *as preventing an undignified and humiliating end to often-unblemished careers in medicine.* ¹⁷⁹

Individual risks demonstrated in regulatory studies

Khalik and colleagues studied disciplinary regulatory action involving Oklahoma doctors. Among 14,314 currently or previously licensed physicians, 396 (2.8 per cent) had been disciplined. Using univariate proportional hazards analysis, men were found to be at greater risk of being disciplined than women.¹⁸⁰ Kaplan-Meier analysis revealed an age effect in that the proportion of physicians disciplined increased with each successive 10 year interval since first licensure. Complaints against physicians most frequently involved issues related to quality of care (25 per cent), medication/prescription violations (19 per cent), incompetence (18 per cent), and negligence (17 per cent).

In 2014, the GMC¹⁸¹ reported that the relative proportions of doctors at higher risk of being complained about, being investigated or receiving a sanction or a warning showed that the highest risks arose for:

- male doctors overall
- male doctors over 50 years old who are non-UK graduates, and
- male GPs aged 30–50 years who are non-UK graduates.

Donaldson et al.¹⁸² conducted a large observational study using data collected by the independent NCAS¹⁸³ in the UK for each referral for performance concerns (n=6179 doctors) over an 11-year period (2001–2012). The annual referral rate was five per 1,000 doctors. Referrals usually came from NHS managers. Key findings included:

- doctors whose first medical qualification was gained outside the UK were more than twice as likely to be referred as UK-qualified doctors
- male doctors were more than twice as likely to be referred as women doctors, and
- doctors in the later stages of their career were nearly six times as likely to be referred as early-career doctors.

In Denmark, a study of complaints against GPs to the Danish Patient Complaints Board has identified that, for complaints about daytime services, the professional seniority of the general practitioner was also positively associated with the odds of receiving a complaint decision (OR = 1.44 per 20 years of seniority; CI 95 per cent, 1.04-1.98). Likewise, having more consultations per day was associated with increased odds (OR = 1.29 per 10 extra consultations per day; CI 95 per cent, 1.07-1.54).¹⁸⁴

Considering gender associations with risk, as had been flagged in a number of previous studies, Unwin et al. conducted a large, specific UK-wide study to examine the association between doctors' gender and receiving sanctions on their medical registration, while controlling for other potentially confounding variables.¹⁸⁵ All doctors on the GMC medical register on 29 May 2013 were included if they were, or had been, registered to practise medicine in the UK since October 2005.

The variable of interest was doctors' gender. Confounding variables included the number of years since primary medical qualification, world region of primary medical qualification and specialty. The outcome measures comprised sanctions on a doctor's medical registration (including warnings, undertakings, conditions, suspension or erasure from the register). Binary logistic regression modeling, controlling for confounders, described the association between the doctor's gender and sanctions on a doctor's medical registration.

Of the 329,542 doctors on the medical register, 2,697 (0.8 per cent) had sanctions on their registration, 516 (19.1 per cent) of whom were female. In the fully adjusted model, female doctors had nearly a third of the odds (OR: 0.37, 95 per cent CI: 0.33 to 0.41) of having sanctions compared to male doctors. There was evidence that the association varies with specialty, with female doctors who had specialised as general practitioners being the least likely to receive sanctions compared with their male colleagues (OR: 0.26, 95 per cent CI: 0.22 to 0.31).

Elkin et al. studied the influence of country of qualification on risk profiles in two states in Australia.¹⁸⁶ Among 39,155 doctors registered in Victoria and Western Australia in the study period, 5,323 complaints were made about 3,191 doctors. Thirty-seven per cent of registered doctors were IMGs. The study found that IMGs faced 24 per cent higher odds of attracting complaints than non-IMGs, and 41 per cent higher odds of adverse disciplinary findings. A feature of this study was a specific attempt to disaggregate data into specific countries of training. This showed that the overall tendency of IMGs to attract complaints was driven primarily by a significantly higher incidence of complaints among doctors trained in seven countries (Nigeria, Egypt, Poland, Russia, Pakistan, the Philippines and India). IMGs from the 13 other countries examined were no more likely than Australian doctors to attract complaints.

The authors proposed that better understanding of such heterogeneity could inform a more evidence-based approach to registration and more supportive oversight processes if required. Analyses comparing results of AMC IMG examination performance data with the regulatory datasets held by AHPRA will assist understanding of future approaches.

Supports

In considering the issues of the older doctors as cited above, authors have promoted a whole of system approach to risk that includes deliberate emphasis on supports.

Every doctor's risk and support profile is individual. Better understanding of the nature of risks and supports with deliberate action on manageable risk factors can help to mitigate risk and assist safe practice. Risks from age and health have been detailed above.

The CPSNS has recently published a guide for doctors *Guidance on risk and supportive factors in medical practice*.¹⁸⁷

In reference to older practitioners, the guide draws attention to mitigating strategies of particular relevance to the older physician that may include:

- paying particular attention to your physical and mental well-being
- reducing the pace of practice
- allowing more time for decision making, particularly in uncertain circumstances
- avoiding practice environments with a high degree of diagnostic uncertainty, e.g. episodic or emergency care
- avoiding shift work, particularly night shifts, whenever possible
- reducing practice scope to focus on areas of strength and familiarity
- employing memory aids, algorithms and point-of-care resources

- wherever possible, working and interacting clinically with capable colleagues and learners
- making specific additional efforts to stay current through CPD, and
- supports for doctors who work in collegially unsupported contexts include a deliberate attention to peer engagement through change in work practices and CPD.

Associations of risk with multiple complaints

Australian and international studies show that a few medical practitioners who attract multiple complaints, notifications or malpractice claims have a very high probability of incurring further such complaints. This represents a potential risk to public safety.

Frequency and representativeness of patient complaints

In 2006, a large study investigating the relationships between complainants and noncomplainants following adverse events in New Zealand public hospitals demonstrated that most medical incidents never trigger a complaint to the New Zealand Health and Disability Commissioner. By linking information about the quality of care complaints with the Commissioner with the adverse-event data gathered in the New Zealand quality of health care study in 1998, the study demonstrated that 0.4 per cent of all detected adverse events resulted in complaints (3/850). Among those categorised as serious and preventable adverse events, only four per cent (2/48) resulted in a complaint.

The authors suggest that complaints represent:

... the tip of the iceberg' of adverse events. They acknowledged that it is incorrect to interpret their results as evidence that complaints may result from the wrongdoing of doctors alone, in that the causes of adverse events in medicine are often multifactorial including individual and systemic factors. Conversely they argue that the prevalence of adverse effects found in their study... refutes the notion that most complaints over quality of care are groundless. (p. 20)¹⁸⁸

They advised that complaints about severe and preventable injuries may offer a potentially valuable 'window' for further research investigating the causes of threats to patient safety. Furthermore, the authors identified that certain populations were less likely to complain including the elderly, the socio-economically deprived, and those of Pacific ethnicity. This suggests that there is a possible gap in consumer understanding and empowerment.

Despite promising research in the area of unsolicited patient complaints which can point to distinct aspects of healthcare that require attention, caution should be expressed in interpreting the results. Birkeland advised that using patient complaints constructively, however:

... necessitates consideration of the manifold facets of patient complaints and behaviours related to making complaints. Patients may have rather different motivations and thresholds for complaining about healthcare delivery and it remains unclear to what degree complaint patterns and overrepresented doctor categories provide a balanced reflection of substandard healthcare and quality problems. (p.1)¹⁸⁹

It is prudent when considering complaints in a regulatory context to restrict actions on complaints to those that have been substantiated.

Characteristics of doctors at high risk of multiple complaints

In the UK, the GMC has been working on developing their understanding of doctors at risk. They reported that doctors with previous complaints are at greater risk of future complaints – that is, doctors who received two or more complaints during the six year period from 2007–2012 were seven times more likely to receive a complaint that required investigation in 2013.¹⁹⁰

A case-control study was undertaken of doctors about whom patients had complained to the Victorian Health Services Commissioner between 1 January 2000 and 31 December 2009.¹⁹¹ The study focused on private practice; the index cases comprised 96 doctors who were the subject of four or more separate complaints; and a control group comprised 288 doctors who were the subject of only a single complaint over the study period.

The results showed that about one in five doctors experienced at least one complaint over the decade. Among doctors who were the subject of a complaint, 4.5 per cent had four or more complaints, and this group accounted for 17.6 per cent of all complaints. This study suggested that clustering of complaints was occurring in a small number of doctors.

Bismark et al. have since performed a much larger study examining the distribution of formal patient complaints to HCEs across Australia's medical workforce and sought to identify characteristics of doctors at high risk of incurring recurrent complaints.¹⁹² A national sample was compiled of all 18,907 formal patient complaints filed against 11,148 doctors with HCEs in Australia over an 11-year period.

Sixty-one per cent of the complaints addressed clinical aspects of care, most commonly concerns with treatment (41 per cent), diagnosis (16 per cent) and medications (eight per cent). Nearly one quarter of complaints addressed communication or professionalism issues, including concerns with the attitude or manner of doctors (15 per cent), and the quality or amount of information provided (six per cent).

Seventy-nine per cent of the doctors named in complaints were male. In multivariable analyses, the number of prior complaints doctors had experienced was a strong predictor of subsequent complaints. Compared with doctors with one prior complaint, doctors with two complaints had nearly double the risk of recurrence (HR 1.93; 95% CI 1.79 to 2.09), and doctors with five prior complaints had six times the risk of recurrence (HR 6.16; 95% CI 5.09 to 7.46). Doctors with 10 or more prior complaints had 30 times the risk of recurrence (HR 29.56; 95% CI 19.24 to 45.41).

Doctors named in a third complaint had a 38 per cent chance of being the subject of a further complaint within a year, and a 57 per cent probability of being complained about again within two years. Doctors named in a fifth complaint had a 59 per cent one-year complaint probability and a 79 per cent two-year complaint probability. Recurrence was 'virtually certain' for doctors who had experienced 10 or more complaints, with 97 per cent incurring another complaint within a year.

Risk of recurrence also varied significantly by specialty. Compared with general practitioners, plastic surgeons had twice the risk (HR 2.04; 95% CI 1.75 to 2.38), and risks were approximately 50 per cent higher among dermatologists (HR 1.56; 95% CI 1.30 to 1.88) and obstetriciangynaecologists (HR 1.50; 95% CI 1.29 to 1.76). Anaesthetists had significantly lower risks of recurrence (HR 0.65; 95% CI 0.54 to 0.79). Male doctors had a 40 per cent higher risk of recurrence than their female colleagues (HR 1.36; 95% CI 1.23 to 1.50). Location of practice (urban versus rural) was not significantly associated with recurrence. Compared with doctors 35 years of age or younger, older doctors had 30–40 per cent higher risks of recurrence; and this risk was similar throughout middle-aged and older age groups, rising only slightly between 46 to 55 years and 56 to 65 years. When adjusted for serious complaints, similar patterns emerged.¹⁷³

The authors also found that the distribution of complaints among doctors was highly skewed: three per cent of Australia's medical workforce accounted for 49 per cent of complaints and one per cent accounted for a quarter of complaints lodged with HCEs.

The findings suggest that it is feasible to predict which doctors are at high risk of incurring more complaints in the near future. The extent to which complaints were concentrated in a small group of doctors was striking, consistent with other studies of complaints and claims by the same and different authors in Australia and internationally.¹⁹⁴ ¹⁹⁵ ¹⁹⁶ ¹⁹⁷

The finding that doctors under the age of 35 were the least likely to attract complaints may be partly explained by the fact that this age group is still going through a period of supervised training and professional development.

This highly skewed distribution of medico-legal events among Australian doctors in this study has several implications. First there may be a small proportion of doctors who are, by the nature and number of complaints lodged about their care, potentially very 'high-risk' practitioners. The absolute number of such doctors is small. Therefore, there is a compelling argument to focus on proactive interventions addressing doctors with multiple complaints. This should assist the doctor to reduce risk of further complaints and improve patient safety in a costeffective manner. This would be especially valuable in doctors at higher levels of risk. Interventions with doctors at high risk of subsequent complaints are essential to better understanding of the nature and gravity of the problems, the level of risk, and the effectiveness of interventions to reduce risk of further complaints.

There is also a need for existing large-scale studies to be replicated and developed further.

Studies should address the ability to identify Australian doctors at the highest levels of risk in different large-scale datasets and using different methodologies. The nature of the complaints and their severity and relationship to underperformance needs to be further elucidated. It is essential to develop our understanding by examining datasets such as from larger hospitals with risk-management data as well as the continuing studies on large regulatory datasets within AHPRA.

In addition, continued sharing of information between HCEs and the MBA is essential as complainants may access either HCEs or the MBA or both.

Spittal et al. acknowledged in further work that the method employed in the above study, recurrent event survival analysis, is technically complex and out of the reach of most health regulators' general activities.¹⁹⁸ In their most recent study, they created and tested a predictive algorithm using a national sample of more than 13,000 formal complaints made about more than 8,000 doctors, lodged at most Australian state HCEs over a 12-year period. One main predictor sought was the likelihood of another complaint occurring within two years of the index complaint.

The study constructed a simpler 'score' known as the predicted risk of new event score (PRONE score). The variables included the doctor's specialty, gender, the number of previous complaints and the time since the last complaint. The authors proposed that this approach performed well in predicting subsequent complaints. They advocated this as a simpler risk-scoring system that may be suitable for further investigation in a regulatory setting. They also suggested that a low score might indicate that minimal action is required beyond dealing with the complaint itself, while a high score may indicate that a more active approach is required, and consideration of further interventions or referral based on the nature of the problem.

Further research aimed at developing knowledge about risk from frequent complaints is necessary. For example, a current study led by Bismark as chief investigator is replicating the measures used in examining HCE data cited above, on the AHPRA dataset, and will provide valuable further evidence.¹⁹⁹ This study will also establish a costeffective national minimum dataset of AHPRA notifications data suitable for interrogation by future researchers. AHPRA is also undertaking a number of other relevant studies, including the relationship between age and gender for notification rates; a longitudinal study examining the effectiveness of regulatory actions, including cautions, conditions and undertakings, on the risk of receiving future notifications; a study of the Medicine in Australia: Balancing Employment and Life (MABEL) database to explore the potential regulatory implications from the impact of personality traits and life events on practitioners at risk of malpractice claims: and a planned analysis of practitioners who receive notifications for sexual boundary violations. These studies will provide further insights and support for regulatory decision-making concerning risk.

Similar findings about the concentration of risk in small groups of doctors have been replicated in the US. Studdert et al. have recently reported a major study of more than 66,000 claims paid against 54,000 practitioners from 2005 to 2014 using American data from the National Practitioner Data Bank. Approximately one per cent of all doctors in this sample accounted for nearly a third (32 per cent) of paid claims. Adjusted analyses showed similar to the studies reported above, in that the risk of recurrence increased with the number of previously paid claims.²⁰⁰

Compared to physicians who had only one previous paid claim, those who had three paid claims had three times the risk of incurring another, corresponding in absolute terms to a 24 per cent chance of another paid claim within two years. Male doctors were at higher risk, and younger doctors (25–34 years) were at the lowest risk. Risks of recurrence also varied widely according to specialty – for example, the risk among neurosurgeons was four times as great as the risk among psychiatrists. Figure 5 is reproduced from the study.

Variable	Hazard ratio (95% Cl)*	P value
No. of previous paid claims		<0.001
1	reference	
2	1.97 (1.86 - 2.07)	
3	3.11 (2.84 – 3.41)	
4	4.19 (3.62 – 4.85)	
5	6.09 (4.92 – 7.55)	
>6	12.39 (8.69 – 17.65)	
Specialty		<0.001
Internal medicine	reference	
Neurosurgery	2.32 (1.77 – 3.03)	
Orthopedic surgery	2.02 (1.70 – 2.40)	
General surgery	2.01 (1.65 – 2.46)	
Plastic surgery	1.95 (1.60 – 2.37)	
Obstetrics and gynecology	1.89 (1.58 – 2.25)	
Otolaryngology	1.83 (1.59 – 2.10)	
Urology	1.59 (1.35 – 1.87)	
Ophthalmology	1.37 (1.18 – 1.59)	
Radiology	1.27 (1.13 – 1.44)	
Other specialties	1.18 (1.06 – 1.32)	
Emergency medicine	1.06 (0.94 – 1.19)	

Variable	Hazard ratio (95% Cl)*	P value
Cardiology	1.05 (0.86 – 1.29)	
Anesthesiology	0.95 (0.82 – 1.10)	
General practice or family medicine	0.91 (0.83 – 1.01)	
Neurology	0.81 (0.65 – 1.01)	
Pediatrics	0.71 (0.59 – 0.85)	
Psychiatry	0.60 (0.43 – 0.82)	
Qualification		<0.001
D.O.	reference	
M.D.	0.80 (0.75 – 0.86)	
Sex		<0.001
Female	reference	
Male	1.38 (1.30 – 1.46)	
Age		<0.001
25 - 34 yr	0.33 (0.18 – 0.61)	
35 - 44 yr	0.92 (0.87 – 0.98)	
45 - 54 yr	0.99 (0.95 – 1.03)	
55 - 64 yr	reference	
Resident		<0.003
No	reference	
Yes	0.68 (0.53 – 0.88)	
Trained in the United States		<0.001
Yes	reference	
No	1.12 (1.06 – 1.17)	
Rurality of practice location		0.89
Metropolitan	reference	
Large rural city	1.02 (0.95 – 1.09)	
Small town or rural area	0.99 (0.89 – 1.12)	
Baseline rate of paid claims^	1.02 (1.01 – 1.03)	0.004

Figure 5: Variables associated with recurrent paid malpractice claims among physicians with one or more paid claims²⁰¹

Notes

- * Variables for state and payment year were also included in the model, but hazard ratios for them are not shown.
- ^ The variable was specified as the number of paid claims per 1000 physicians, according to year and specialty

The authors concluded that, like the studies above, a small number of doctors with distinctive characteristics account for a disproportionately large number of paid malpractice claims in the US.

The study focussed on paid claims relating to death, various levels of physical injury and emotional injury. Although payment does not necessarily indicate that a claim has merit, paid claims are arguably more likely than unpaid claims to involve substandard care. On the other hand, the authors point out that approximately 70 per cent of all claims do not result in payments and these events still, '…vex defendants, are costly to bring and defend, and flag patient dissatisfaction (or worse)'. (p 361)

They continue:

In an environment in which a small minority of physicians with multiple claims accounts for a substantial share of all claims, an ability to reliably predict who is at high risk for further claims could be very useful. Our analysis suggests, but does not establish, the feasibility of such prediction. If reliable prediction proves to be feasible, our hope is that liability insurers and health care organizations would use the information constructively, by collaborating on interventions to address risks posed by claim-prone physicians (e.g. peer counselling, training, and supervision). It could present an exciting opportunity for the liability and risk-management enterprises to join the mainstream of efforts to improve quality. (p 361)

Associations of risk with contextual characteristics

Contextual factors have been studied including the relationship of quality CPD, professional isolation and patient workload to assessed performance. Goulet et al. have reported a retrospective study of the link between the quantity and quality of CPD activities completed by family physicians (GPs) in Quebec and the quality of their practice, based on data collected during Peer Inspection Visits (PIV), conducted by the regulator (see also below). Three groups were created from among Quebec family physicians who had received a PIV between 1998 and 2005.²⁰² The groups were:

Group 1

• Family physicians who were members of the College of Family Physicians of Canada, which requires participation in 250 hours of CPD in every five-year cycle.

Group 2

 Family physicians who were not members of the College of Family Physicians of Canada but who had declared at least 50 hours a year of CPD on their Collège des Médecins du Québec annual notice of assessment for the same period.

Group 3

• Family physicians who had declared fewer than 10 hours of CPD a year.

During the PIV, the following characteristics were examined: record-keeping, quality and number of hours of CPD activities, and quality of professional practice based on three components – clinical investigation, accuracy of diagnosis, and appropriateness of treatment plan and follow-up.

The supportive factors associated with a high quality of practice were privileges in a hospital or local community health centre (institution) and a substantial number of accredited CPD hours. The factors associated with a poor quality of practice were advanced age of the physician, absence of privileges in an institution (indicating isolation from peers) and participation in CPD activities that were more informal, such as reading and non-accredited activities. The authors concluded that the study supported other research showing that CPD activities of sufficient quality and quantity are positively correlated with the quality of professional practice by family physicians.

Wenghofer et al.²⁰³ in their study of 532 general practitioners randomly selected for CPSO Peer Assessments tested the effects of several specific variables related to organisational factors and found that some had significant effects on performance. Practice type (walk-in or episodic care versus continuity of care), number of patient visits per week and holding an active hospital appointment each had varying effects on different aspects of clinical care. For example, physicians working in walk-in clinics performed less well in chronic care. The most consistent organisational effects were found with patient visits per week, where performance in all five dimensions improved with declining numbers of patient visits. Holding a hospital appointment was correlated with better quality of the medical record.

Lewkonia et al. studied the practice visit reports of visits to 51 family physicians and GPs who participated in PAR during the period 2010 to 2011 in Alberta and whose ratings in one or more major assessment domains were significantly lower than their peer group.²⁰⁴ Areas of particular concern included problems arising from practice isolation where there was limited access to collegial networks and diagnostic conclusions being reached with incomplete clinical evidence.

These studies identify potential risks from professional isolation from peer engagement, low levels of CPD and quality of practice. Professional isolation is not a function of geographic location but rather the absence or limitation of regular interactions with medical colleagues, trainees and students, in everyday work.

Interactions with competent peers, whether formal or informal, are an important way to reflect on and discuss patient care. Conversely, the absence of regular professional interaction creates an environment in which a good practice may over time stagnate, become outdated or be unsupported and failure to meet accepted standards may go unrecognised.

Health systems and culture

A significant proportion of Australian doctors practise in hospitals. They may be employees of health services either full-time or part-time, or employed as visiting medical specialists in the public sector, or have admitting rights in the private sector as visiting medical specialists. Although conditions of employment or engagement may vary for medical staff in different health services and different jurisdictions, medical staff members are subject to health service policies and/or by-laws which determine both clinical and non-clinical behaviours.

Complaints or concerns about medical staff in health services are not uncommon and are related to both clinical and non-clinical activities. Non-clinical activities are those that do not necessarily relate to direct patient care but do have an effect on patient care, including issues with communication, collaboration, management and professional behaviours. Patients or their families, other clinicians or staff in the health service or occasionally external clinicians may make these concerns or complaints. Generally such concerns or complaints will come to the attention of health service senior administrative staff, clinician managers who run units or departments or to hospital executive staff such as the Director of Medical Services (DMS) (or equivalent) or the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) of the health service. Depending on the seriousness of the concern or complaint, these may be dealt with in the clinical environment or may be escalated in the organisation. Most commonly, heads of department or the DMS, or both in collaboration, manage serious concerns or complaints.

Often these concerns or complaints are isolated complaints such as those relating to a single episode of unprofessional behaviour, lack of accountability, a single clinical care adverse event or poor communication. However there are occasions when a pattern suggesting risk is detected and this will be investigated at healthservice level and a decision made as to what action needs to be taken. There will be times when the hospital needs to refer this to the regulator, when the events have serious patient consequences as required by the mandatory reporting provisions. However, more commonly the health service will work with the doctor to develop a process of improvement or remediation and will evaluate the outcome of the remediation. This will be a controlled process and there will be no notification of the regulator unless there is a failure of remediation. This is the preferred route, i.e. identifying and remediating locally.

There are also some instances when the pattern suggesting risk is such that the health service negotiates with the doctor to leave the health service and this often becomes a legal negotiation process, or when the doctor's employment may be terminated if the issues are serious enough. Depending on the circumstances, a referral to the regulator may or may not be made as the concerns may be specific to the particular environment and/or the doctor will leave but continue to work at other health services.

However, when there is a pattern suggesting risk or an actual adverse event it could indicate as yet not fully identified performance concerns that may result in ongoing risk to patient safety.

Many doctors working in hospitals function as part of a multi-disciplinary team, delivering care to patients. Increasingly the outcomes for patients are being captured and analysed within clinical quality registries, or via clinical audits. These registries and audits allow comparison of patient outcomes using risk-adjusted measures, which may highlight both good and poor performance of both the team and individual doctors. The hospital management plays a vital role in monitoring the results of these qualityimprovement activities and has the responsibility to intervene when patient outcomes are inappropriate. Here the analysis of potential underperformance of an individual doctor within a team is less clear.

In primary care settings, the type and effectiveness of clinical governance is variable and less clear.

System approaches to early identification and management of underperformance

Despite the processes described, it is clear that Australia lacks robust systems and approaches for the early identification of risk.

US researchers have developed different ways of predicting doctors who are outliers on patient complaints called The Patient Advocacy Reporting System (PARS®). Hultman et al. investigated the PARS system for surgeons. They analysed unsolicited patient complaints verified by trained counsellors in patient relations to determine the malpractice risk of plastic surgeons, compared to dermatologists, all surgeons, and all physicians, from a national patient complaint registry based on the PARS system.²⁰⁵

The patient complaint profiles and predicted risk scores of 31,077 physicians (3,935 surgeons, 338 plastic and reconstructive surgeons, and 519 dermatologists) who participated in the PARS system were analysed.

Patient complaint data were collected from 70 community and academic hospitals across 29 states, from 2009 to 2012. In addition to determining the specific complaint mix for plastic surgery compared to all physicians, each physician was assigned a patient complaint risk score, based on a proprietary weighted-sum algorithm, with a score higher than 70 indicative of high risk for malpractice claims. Over this four-year period, just over half the plastic surgeons (50.8 per cent) did not generate any patient complaints, but those who did received an average of 9.8 complaints from 4.8 patients. The percentage of physicians at high risk for malpractice claims, based upon the PARS index score of patient complaints, was as follows: all doctors in the sample, 2 per cent; all surgeons, 4.1 per cent; plastic and reconstructive surgeons, 2.4 per cent; dermatologists, 1.4 per cent. The overall mix of patient complaints from plastic and reconstructive surgeons was nearly the same as the national cohort of all physicians: care and treatment, 49 per cent; communication, 19 per cent; accessibility and availability, 14 per cent; money or payment issues, 9 per cent; and concern for patient/family, 9 per cent.

They proposed that because patient complaints are a robust proxy for malpractice risk, targeted interventions to decrease patient complaints may improve patient satisfaction and hence reduce malpractice claims and risk management activity. Furthermore, they promoted the view that monitoring unsolicited patient complaints may permit early identification of high-risk surgeons before malpractice claims accumulate.

Pichert et al. strongly advocated for patients' roles in helping to promote safety and reduce risk in several ways.²⁰⁶ One is to make known their concerns about their healthcare experiences because complaints might suggest unsafe systems and providers. They suggested that responsive healthcare organisations can benefit since patient complaints that are recorded, systematically analysed, aggregated, and profiled by ombudsmen can accurately identify physicians at increased risk of a lawsuit. Furthermore, the PARS system has been twinned with remediation strategies that have been evaluated on a large scale.

In their paper, they describe how aggregated patient complaint profiles have supported nonpunitive 'awareness' feedback from trained respected peers, and, only if needed, 'authority' interventions designed to improve safety and reduce lawsuit risk. They found that their experience since 1998 with several hundred such interventions at more than 20 community and academic medical centres shows fewer subsequent complaints associated with most of those who received such feedback.

They concluded:

We believe the vast majority of physicians at risk for a disproportionate share of malpractice claims are not aware that they stand out from their physician peers. If they are unaware, they are not likely to address risky or unsafe technical and interpersonal behaviours. Unsolicited patient complaints offer a powerful tool for identifying high-risk physicians. Most physicians respond positively if those complaints are captured, reliably processed, and regularly communicated through a physician-driven feedback process. [p.8]²⁰⁷

In a more recent analysis, the same group reported more details on the outcomes of the trained physician-led peer feedback process described above. This retrospective, descriptive study used confidential peer messenger debriefing results from data-driven interventions at 16 geographically disparate community (n = 7) and academic (n = 9) medical centres in the US. Some 178 physicians served as peer messengers, conducting interventions from 2005–2009 on 373 physicians identified as highrisk.

The study noted that most (97 per cent) of the high-risk physicians received their feedback professionally, and 64 per cent were called 'Responders'. Responders' risk scores improved at least 15 per cent, where those who did not respond had scores that worsened (17 per cent) or remained unchanged (19 per cent) (p < or = .001). Responders were more often physicians practising in medicine and surgery than emergency medicine physicians, had longer organisational tenures, and engaged in lengthier first-time intervention meetings with messengers. These findings emphasise that supportive factors for risk reduction may include practising in robust clinical governance systems with peer engagement, and receptiveness to feedback.

The authors concluded that 'peer messengers' recognised by leaders and appropriately supported with ongoing training, high-quality data, and evidence of positive outcomes are willing to intervene with colleagues over an extended period of time. The physician 'peer messenger' process reduced patient complaints and is adaptable to addressing unnecessary variation in other quality/safety metrics. These studies suggest that:

- unsolicited patient complaints (USPs) act as a proxy for at-risk physicians
- when USPs are aggregated systematically and partnered by a confidential peerfeedback process, they provide a strong foundation for alerting 'at-risk' physicians
- many at-risk physicians, but not all, benefit from such peer-mediated feedback
- some physicians may require targeted CPD activities or further interventions
- stepped intervention approaches reserve directly assessing doctors' performance in practice for the highest risk groups or for non-responders to peer feedback, and
- some doctors do not respond to stepped interventions.

In Australia recent initiatives have emerged using the same early intervention principles. In St Vincent's Hospital, for example, the *Inspired to Shine Ethos Program* is built on the principles developed by the Vanderbilt Centre for Patient and Professional Advocacy, described above (see footnote 212). Ethos focuses on unprofessional behaviours and the culture of rewarding professionalism role models. The CEO describes it as follows:

The Ethos program recognises the proven link between poor behaviours and adverse patient outcomes and is focused on building a culture of safety for our patients and staff. I see the Ethos Program as an enabler of our organisation delivering person centred care with an outstanding patient and resident experience and the best possible health outcomes. The program will bring together an electronic reporting system, an accountability framework and a comprehensive peer training initiative which will focus on prevention and early intervention.²⁰⁸

Other health care organisations are also adopting these approaches including Royal Melbourne Hospital, Lady Cilento Children's Hospital and the Sydney Adventist Hospital.²⁰⁹

Relationship of medical training, professionalism issues and examination performance to complaints

Medical training outcomes have been linked to complaints to medical regulators

Tamblyn et al. undertook a cohort study of all 3,424 physicians taking the Medical Council of Canada clinical skills examination between 1993 and 1996 who were licensed to practise in Ontario and/or Quebec. Participants were followed up until 2005, including the first two to 12 years of practice. Overall, 1,116 complaints were filed for 3,424 physicians, and 696 complaints (over 17 per cent) were retained after investigation. ²¹⁰

Of these physicians, most complaints (81.9 per cent) were for communication or quality-of-care problems. Scores achieved in patient-physician communication and clinical decision-making on a national licensing examination predicted complaints to medical regulatory authorities. This finding suggests that early identification of potential causes for later complaints may exist across a spectrum from medical school to independent practice. Communication scores on a licensing test predicted future patient complaints especially among the lowest-scoring test-takers. In addition, clinical decision-making scores correlated with patient complaints. The authors suggest improving assessment of these skills, integrating their assessment into earlier stages of training, and investigating successful means of remediating deficiencies in these areas.

Physicians must pass the United States Medical Licensing Examination (USMLE) to obtain an unrestricted license to practise medicine in the US. Little is known, however, about how well USMLE performance relates to physician outcomes in later practice. The authors of a 2017 study²¹¹ examined the relationship of USMLE scores to the odds of receiving a disciplinary action from a U.S. state medical board.

Controlling for multiple factors, the authors used non-nested multilevel logistic regression analyses to estimate the relationships between scores and receiving an action. The sample included 164,725 physicians who graduated from US MD-granting medical schools between 1994 and 2006. Physicians had a mean Step 1 score of 214 (standard deviation [SD] = 21) and a mean Step 2 Clinical Knowledge (CK) score of 213 (SD = 23). Of the physicians, 2,205 (1.3%) received at least one action. Physicians with higher Step 2 CK scores had lower odds of receiving an action. A 1-SD increase in Step 2 CK scores corresponded to a decrease in the chance of disciplinary action by roughly 25% (odds ratio = 0.75; 95% CI = 0.70-0.80). After accounting for Step 2 CK scores, Step 1 scores were unrelated to the odds of receiving an action.

Results demonstrate that USMLE Step 2 CK scores provide useful information about the odds a physician will receive an official sanction for problematic practice behaviour later in their career. These results suggest that doctors should be aware of any deficiencies suggested by their performance scores in high stakes tests even if they pass overall. Equally low passes in such examinations expose the doctor to higher risk if future complaints.

A negative association has also been reported, after accounting for other factors, between USMLE Step 2 CK scores and patient mortality for US physicians who attended international medical schools.²¹²

Professionalism

The MBA has identified the standards of behaviour – or professionalism – inherent in professional practice.³ Hills and Griggs provided a literature review concerning professionalism and the role of professions and medical professional organisations. Their analysis was as follows:

A key outcome has been the recognition that medical professionalism must be actively taught and assessed. Substantial effort is required to improve the educational environment, so that it nurtures the development of professionalism within the work-place. Although medical colleges have been prominent in identifying and progressing the recent developments within professionalism there is still much to be done to deliver fully on the societal contract between the public and the profession. There are key gaps to address, particularly with regards to self-regulation, civil behaviour and effective leadership and advocacy.

*Medical colleges need to take direct responsibility for the professionalism of their members. The expectations of the community are increasingly clear in this regard.*²¹³

³ See *Professionalism* in the glossary

While the above article concentrated on practising doctors, the public is also at risk if poor professional performance by medical students or early career doctors is not satisfactorily addressed. Professionalism is as important as clinical knowledge and skills in the training of doctors for excellence in care. Despite its importance, enhancing positive professional identity formation and associated behaviours remains an educational challenge.²¹⁴ Because unprofessional behaviour of practising doctors is associated with unprofessional behaviour evident in medical school, identifying these adverse behaviours in medical school is critical.²¹⁵ Researchers have however documented the difficulty in assessing and acting upon such unwanted behaviour.²¹⁶ Related to this issue is role modelling of unprofessional behaviours by senior faculty.²¹⁷

Poor professionalism among medical students and recent graduates is recognised in the international literature as an indicator of future unprofessional performance by registered medical practitioners²¹⁸ and therefore also represents a demonstrable future risk to patient safety.

Unprofessional performance can create risks to the public that should be addressed early during undergraduate medical education. Demonstrated appropriate professional behaviours should be a mandatory requirement for graduation, given it is now a requirement of the current accreditation standards of the AMC for medical education programs. While standards have been enhanced, it will take some time for the training to respond. The AMC has recently upgraded its various standards and published detailed guidance relating to professionalism in medical students, interns and doctors in training.²¹⁹

Lack of professionalism is also recognised as extremely difficult deficit to address and as such, preventing unfit students from entering the profession and unfit trainees from becoming specialists has an important role in protecting future patients from harm. Further development of curricula and advocacy for necessary action is necessary to improve the ability of educational institutions to address these challenges.

Educational interventions relating to underperforming practitioners

Educational interventions for underperforming doctors are often called remediation. The term

remediation may be associated with negative connotations, whereas principles associated with early return to competent practice should be supportive and educational in nature, nonpunitive, and feature self reflection and constructive feedback on strategies for performance enhancement. Other terms are in use including 'enhanced learning support' or 'enhanced professional support'. For the purposes of this report we use the established term remediation, meaning the above principles.

Many practitioners who are identified as underperforming will return to safe practice simply through the process of being assessed, receiving and acting independently on feedback. Where this does not occur, more formal avenues are required to promote successful outcomes. This is inherent in a stepped approach retaining professional responsibility for self-improvement and activities that are anticipatory and preventive.

Deliberate remediation processes where necessary are best seen as individualised and educational approaches designed to return the doctor to safe practice as soon as possible. The level of assessment of at-risk practitioners should be proportionate to the level of risk, consistent with the guiding principles. Examination-style assessment will not be effective in this task.

In the context of efforts to improve early detection and management of underperformance, consequent remediation strategies are necessary and quality and effectiveness of these interventions is paramount. Remediation of physicians who are not performing up to acceptable standards is central to quality care and patient safety.²²⁰

Nonetheless, the issue of how to remediate doctors who are underperforming is complex. Issues include the conduct of the process, the need for individualisation, who pays, who are the most appropriate providers, what is the role of the colleges, what is considered successful, what type of follow-up processes should be used to determine maintenance of performance, and who is finally responsible. Finally, little is known about the long-term outcomes of remediation programs.

Remediation should also be tailored to the nature and level of the risk and educational needs. The current knowledge-base about remediation processes and outcomes in the literature is unfortunately not as well developed as knowledge about performance assessment processes,²²¹ ²²² and is fragmented and diverse.

Some studies have been conducted as standalone studies in areas of researcher or organisational interest. There is little information about long-term outcomes of remediation on doctors' subsequent performance. However some studies have suggested that a very small group of doctors may not respond to remediation.

Lillis et al. studied remediation outcomes in New Zealand doctors, reporting outcomes for 24 consecutive doctors required to undergo remediation by the MCNZ. Of 24 doctors who underwent initial assessment, five failed to engage with remediation and withdrew from clinical work. All remaining 19 doctors completed a 12-month education remediation program. Of these, 13 were considered to be practising at an acceptable standard at the end of remediation on the basis of sequential supervisor reports. Six doctors were required to have a second performance assessment. Of these, only one was considered to be functioning at an acceptable standard. Concurrent health concerns were common among this cohort of doctors. The authors concluded that the majority of doctors who entered remedial education attained acceptable standards at the end of remediation similar to other findings.

However some doctors appeared to be unresponsive to remediation.²²³ This was also found by Hanna et al. who showed that after a three-year remedial program consisting of individualised review, ongoing small-group and evidence-based discussions, simulated patients and role playing, formal chart review, and peer review, five doctors were re-assessed. Only one doctor improved; another remained the same, and three deteriorated.²²⁴

While remediation will apply to relatively few doctors, international commentary has highlighted the need to ensure the approach to remediation of doctors is more structured and consistent to improve relevance and success. Hauer et al. have found that 'There is an urgent need for multi-institutional, outcomes-based research strategies for remediation of less than fully competent trainees and physicians with the use of long-term follow-up to determine the impact on future performance'.²²⁵ In 2007, a multi-national survey including a focus on remediation of underperformance was undertaken by Kings College London.²²⁶ The authors noted:

With regard to remediation processes, the information provided was in many cases less detailed than that about assessment (of performance). In some cases, this reflects the fact that remediation activities are individualised, rather than part of a formally coordinated program. Moreover, many of the assessment programs have only indirect engagement with remediation activities, since provision is delegated to, or taken up by peers and educational bodies in the physician's own community. Overall, the variation between assessment programs with regard to the formality, intensity and rigour of subsequent remediation activities *is considerable. None of the programs* undertake systematic follow-up in the longer term, even though they might like to *do so. The challenges of instituting robust* follow-up processes are clearly considerable. Nevertheless, without such follow-up, there is no way of knowing whether improvements are maintained over time or whether the overall diagnosis, prescription and treatment provided was appropriate and successful in addressing the concerns that led to referral in the first place. (p. 29)

The authors concluded that:

Overall, it remains the case that relatively little is known about what type of remedial intervention may work for whom, and there is a continuing lack of consensus about which remediation methods are appropriate in different circumstances. (p. 12)

In response to this dilemma, in January 2010, the UK Department of Health established a steering group to consider remediation, focusing on improving the ways that competence and capability issues in doctors are managed.²²⁷

The group concluded that there were a number of key problems inherent in the current UK system:

- lack of consistency in how organisations tackle doctors who have performance issues
- lack of clarity about where a personal development plan stops and a remediation process starts

- lack of clarity as to who has responsibility for the remediation process
- lack of capacity to deal with the remediation process
- lack of clarity on what constitutes acceptable clinical competence and capability
- lack of clarity about when the remediation process is complete and successful, and
- lack of clarity about when the doctor's clinical capability is not remediable.

The group made six broad recommendations *(p.7):*

- performance problems, including clinical competence and capability issues, should normally be managed locally wherever possible
- local processes need to be strengthened to avoid performance problems wherever possible, and to reduce their severity at the point of identification
- the capacity of staff within organisations to deal with performance concerns needs to be increased with access to necessary external expertise as required
- a single organisation is required to advise and, when necessary, to co-ordinate the remediation process and case management so as to improve consistency across the service
- the medical royal colleges to produce guidance and provide assessment and specialist input into remediation programs, and
- all those involved in training and assessment need to assure their assessment processes so that any problems arising during training are addressed.

In Australia many stakeholders are, or may be, involved in remediation, including:

- accredited colleges and related specialty societies
- other accredited CPD providers
- universities
- employers
- jurisdictions
- medical indemnity insurers
- regulators
- health complaints entities
- training programs (e.g. GP regional training providers)
- private providers

- rural workforce agencies
- Primary Health Networks (PHNs), and
- doctors' health advisory services (psychological support).

Overall, Australia is in a similar position to many other countries. Despite many stakeholders with interest in improving or who are already engaging in remediation, remediation activities and enhanced learning support lacks cohesive engagement and structure. This is necessary to ensure the approach to remediation of doctors is more accessible, learner centred, supportive and is of consistently high quality.

Barriers to accessing patient outcome data for improving quality and safety

Data reporting both patient outcomes and patient experience can be a powerful driver of clinical improvement, and system quality assurance.²²⁸ Such data are especially valuable when risk adjusted for co-morbidities and presented in comparison to clinical peers. These data provide an objective way to review clinical performance for individuals and teams.

Routinely collected administrative data can give insights into team performance such as reports concerning 30 day mortality for a number of high risk hospitalisations including acute myocardial infarction, stroke and pneumonia care.²²⁹

Many craft groups have established important clinical quality registries that measure patient outcomes and can give insights into the performance of individual doctors' and team performance for self-reflection and improvement. These registries can draw attention to differences in care outcomes or practices when different individuals and teams are compared. For example, the Victorian Prostate Registry among other measures, reports on the surgical margin around prostatectomy and has resulted in increased surgical margin with improved patient outcome and longer remission.²³⁰

However, while some disciplines and institutions have quite sophisticated and accessible sources of patient outcome data, for others even accessing simple data is time consuming and difficult.

For doctors to analyse and then improve their patients' outcomes, they must first agree with their colleagues, the community and patients on what clinical and patient reported outcomes are important, and establish which aspects of this are already collected within the existing administrative datasets or medical record systems. Existing sources include Medicare Benefits Schedule (MBS). Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme (PBS), inpatient data, maternity data collection, Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (AIHW) and Australian Bureau of Statistics reports, jurisdictional electronic medical records, primary care electronic medical records. mvHealthRecord and private health insurance data. Analysing these sources can give valuable insights into a doctor's/team outcomes. An example is the RACS surgical variance report.231

Similarly, the ACSQHC Atlas of Healthcare Variation maps geographic variation in the use of medicines and interventions, giving insights into the variable performance of services across Australia.²³² Mapping variation is an invaluable tool for understanding how our healthcare system is providing care. The Atlas series illuminates variation by mapping use of health care according to where people live. While variation is associated with underlying differences in the health of specific populations, the ACSQHC concludes that the 'weight of evidence in Australia and internationally suggests that much of the variation documented in the Atlas is likely to be unwarranted. Understanding this variation is critical to improving the quality, value and appropriateness of health care'. CPD plays an essential role in helping doctors to work on unwanted sources of variation once they become known.

As discussed above, while audit plays an important role in CPD currently, there are significant gaps in the ready availability of data to support individual clinicians' audit activities in many specialties. Australian doctors need better access to high-quality data, and reports need to be available to the doctors, their patients and the community. Initiatives to improve measurement of clinical outcome need to be fully recognised in the CPD process. Much of the needed data can only be obtained by new collections, using either audit or through the establishment of a clinical quality registry.

Guidance on clinical quality registries, ²³³ patient reported outcome measures (PROMs), ²³⁴ ²³⁵ patient reported experience measures (PREMs)²³⁶ and suggested datasets for specific conditions are available for the Australian and international context.²³⁷

A whole of system approach is needed to improve access to data for clinicians' CPD and for quality and safety initiatives to reach their full potential to improve care.

Proactive screening for underperformance by regulators

Increasingly, international regulatory bodies have responded to the early or proactive identification of risk by mandating random or directed screening interventions to provide quality peermediated feedback to the majority of well performing doctors and also to help find out whether any doctors may be underperforming.

MSF processes have been described above on pages 39 - 43. In addition, direct peer review methods have been extensively used in some jurisdictions.

Ontario

The peer and practice assessment program of the College of Physicians and Surgeons of Ontario (CPSO) Canada has been operational since 1980 and thousands of physicians have been assessed. A six-year study showed that physicians who received a peer review performed better six years later than a group of physicians assessed for the first time.²³⁸ New initiatives other Canadian jurisdictions, for example in Nova Scotia and Alberta, have now also introduced peer review processes.

In Ontario, the College of Physicians and Surgeons (CPSO) randomly selects members each year to undergo a program called 'peer and practice assessment'.²³⁹ Physicians who have been in independent practice for at least five years and who are under the age of 70 are eligible for random selection every 10 years.

Once a physician turns 70 years old, they will be selected for mandatory peer assessment (if the physician has not been randomly selected in the previous five years). These physicians are then re-assessed every five years thereafter. The College also may select members for assessment in support of approved research or for identification of other factors for which an assessment would be beneficial.

After a pre-visit questionnaire and a MSF process (based on the PAR), assessors are

assigned. Assessors are peers carefully selected to match the assessed physician's practice. They conduct a review of the doctor's medical records at the practice, at which time the doctor need not be present. This is followed by a formal interview and discussion of the record review. The process takes about a half-day and has recently gone through a period of redesign to ensure that the indicators of quality care and effective documentation are more transparent and enable better preparation for the process.

In 2016, it was reported that 87 per cent of randomly chosen doctors were found to be practising in a satisfactory manner and received useful feedback from their assessor.²⁴⁰ Despite the mandatory nature of peer review once selected, surveys have indicated that about 80 per cent of doctors find the process educational. About seven per cent of doctors may be referred for further investigation in a stepped approach after the peer review report. Further investigations may include direct observation of the doctor with patients to elucidate the risk issues.

McCauley et al. studied the findings of the Peer Assessment Program in over 900 doctors. Of the 923 physicians selected, 918 were assessed and five were not assessed due to illness. withdrawal from practice and pending legal action. In 82 per cent of cases no deficiencies were found. In seven per cent of cases deficient records alone were found and 11 per cent had grossly deficient records or an unsatisfactory level of care or both (serious deficiencies). Among the total group of GPs, statistically significant associations in performance were found for various factors including older age and solo practice. In the serious deficiency group, age over 75 years was associated with a higher rate of serious deficiencies (35 per cent) in contrast to under 75 (13 per cent). ²⁴¹

Norton and Faulkner conducted a longitudinal study of 109 non-specialist physicians who had undergone two Peer Assessment Program assessments more than 10 years apart (first assessment, 1981 to 1987; second, 1991 to 1997) to investigate possible changes in performance. The mean time between assessments was 12.2 years. Grades given by the assessors declined in 70 (64.2 per cent) of cases, whereas 35 (32.1 per cent) received the same grade, and only four (3.7 per cent) had an improvement in grade, suggesting that in the majority of doctors, their overall performance declined over time.²⁴²

Quebec

In Quebec, another longstanding process called the professional inspection visit (PIV) also comprises a peer-assessment of the quality of a doctor's practice.²⁴³

Professional inspection is an obligation stipulated in the Collège des Médecins du Québec Professional Code, the law governing all professional orders in Québec.²⁴⁴ The Professional Inspection Committee determines the professional inspection programs to be approved by the Board of Directors of the college.

Professional inspection programs may include physicians:

- chosen at random
- who completed their doctor of medicine (MD) over 35 years ago
- who are outliers on billing and prescribing data
- who are subject to complaints, and/or
- who may be professionally isolated from peers (for example only performing office-based work and no hospital work).

As part of an inspection, a peer reviewer may proceed to review the practice and the medical records; conduct a formal discussion of findings; additionally conduct a structured oral interview, a standardised interview or direct observation; or administer to the physician questionnaires on profiles of practice and evaluation of competencies or psychometric tests.

The Québec approach is highly regarded by other regulators, and represents a pragmatic screening-based approach, based on potential risk factors with a wide remit to include outcomes-based data and professional isolation factors. This approach intends that doctors at higher risk of performance issues are screened actively, and follow-up is reserved for indications of potential performance difficulties. There is a substantial remediation process associated with this initiative and the underlying principle is performance enhancement and remediation. A proportion of doctors who are screened require further intervention in a stepped approach.

Alberta

Participation in the Physician Achievement Review (PAR) process was mandatory for continued licensure in the Canadian province of Alberta from 2001 to 2016. The PAR process, which is described in more detail in the section on CPD on page 41, required physicians to participate in a performance review process every five years using MSF. The process primarily focused on practice quality and educational processes rather than a search for underperformance. Members of the Physician Performance Committee (PPC), a nine-member Council-appointed group, reviewed results.

In its previous iteration, although primarily a quality-improvement program based on MSF, it was reported that about four per cent of the total participants then moved to a formal peer review of their practice on the basis of their results.²⁴⁵ This peer review included a practice visit, with direct observation and medical record (chart) review and a process of 'chart stimulated recall', which is a discussion based on the doctor's own cases. If the review raised concerns about performance, the doctor might then be required to undertake a more detailed assessment. This detailed assessment included but was not necessarily limited to assessments of professional knowledge and skills, communication skills, the doctor's own mental and physical health, professional ethics and practice management.

In 2017 a new competence program has replaced PAR. The new program, mandated by the Health Professions Act 2000 in Alberta, requires all doctors to complete a range of mandatory quality improvement initiatives at least every five years. This includes the 'Practice Checkup' program²⁴⁶ and Individual Practice Review (IPR) and Group Practice Review (GPR) for selected or referred physicians. The new competence program states explicitly as part of its objectives that it is

'... intended to identify regulated members whose competence may require further assessment, practice changes and/or improvement through further education.' (p.1)²⁴⁷

The CPSA now sets out a broad range of tools available to its Competence Committee to assess competence. These include a 'Practice Checkup', a modified MSF process, individual or group practice visits, interviews, examinations of skill, knowledge and the doctors' own physical and mental health. Further assessments are conducted if or when doctors are referred from these competence assessments or when the Competence Committee or its delegate has reasonable grounds to believe that a physician's practice is:

- exposing patients to an unacceptable risk of harm, or
- not meeting the expected standard of care.

The 'Practice Checkup is an activity based on reflection on practice and development of a personalised learning plan. Physicians will receive practice-specific reports from the college based on their registration information form and other CPSA databases, and are expected to reflect on the data, identify opportunities to improve their practice, develop a professional development plan and finally access resources and CPD activities that support quality improvement.

The IPR consists of a much broader range of range of possible requirements than the previous MSF-based approach, including any of the following activities: an onsite practice visit; a new MSF process (MCC360); practice data profiles; remote medical record audit; workplace based assessment and a practice audit.

The GPR consists of a clinic visit and follow up meeting with all doctors conducted by a trained CPSA facilitator for 90 minutes.

In 2017 this new process is being trialled for 500 doctors and 50 practices.

The effect of complaints and errors on doctors

The personal impact of medical error on health professionals can include unwanted effects on emotional wellbeing, general quality of life, and their professional practice and conduct. However this has been less well studied in the literature.²⁴⁸

Proactive management of risk is likely to reduce the stress associated with complaints and notifications for many doctors. The impact of regulatory complaints on doctors' psychological welfare and health has recently been studied in the UK.²⁴⁹ While only 8.3 per cent of eligible doctors responded to a tailored survey, 16.9 per cent of these doctors with current/recent complaints reported moderate/severe depression (relative risk [RR] 1.77 [95 per cent CI 1.48 to 2.13] compared to doctors with no complaints [9.5 per cent]). Fifteen per cent reported moderate/severe anxiety (RR=2.08 [95 per cent CI 1.61 to 2.68] compared to doctors with no complaints [7.3 per cent]). Distress increased with complaint severity, with highest levels after GMC referral (26.3 per cent depression, 22.3 per cent anxiety).

Doctors with current/recent complaints were 2.08 (95 per cent Cl 1.61 to 2.68) times more likely to report thoughts of self-harm or suicidal ideation. Most doctors reported defensive practice: 82 to 89 per cent hedging and 46 to 50 per cent avoidance. Twenty per cent felt victimised after whistleblowing, 38 per cent felt bullied and 27 per cent spent over one month off work.

Further study of practitioners with moderate and high levels of complaints should include the effects of complaints on their psychological welfare and health and investigate mitigating strategies. In addition, risk-modification and remediation strategies as described above designed to prevent or reduce complaints in high-risk groups should improve the risk to doctors' psychological welfare and health.

Summary

Both risks and supports have been identified that may reduce or improve doctors' performance. More work remains to be done concerning improving our understanding of these factors. Nonetheless, there is sufficient evidence to justify further immediate action in a number of areas that represent hotspots of risk and are amenable to interventions. Harnessing this evidence and focusing energy and resources proportionately and proactively on hotspots of risk will help doctors' performance and reduce public harms. Our approach is set out in the Key Findings and Recommendations section.

Part D: Appendices

Appendix A: Submissions received

1	<u>Agzarian, Marc (Dr)</u>
2	<u>Ali, Ishrat (Dr)</u>
3	<u>Anaf, Gil (Dr)</u>
4	<u>Aspinall, Diana</u>
5	<u>Australasian Association of Nuclear</u> <u>Medicine Specialists</u>
6	Australasian College of Dermatologists
7	<u>Australasian College for Emergency</u> <u>Medicine</u>
8	<u>Australian and New Zealand College of</u> <u>Anaesthetists</u>
9	<u>Australian and New Zealand Society for</u> <u>Vascular Surgery</u>
10	Australian Association of Consultant Physicians
11	Australian College of Rural and Remote Medicine
12	Australian Doctors Fund
13	Australian Medical Association
14	Australian Medical Association (Queensland)
15	Australian Medicolegal College
16	Australian Orthopaedic Association
17	Australian Society of Anaesthetists
18	<u>Avant</u>
19	<u>Bains, Jatinder (Dr)</u>
20	Bell, Robert (Dr)
21	Berger, Anthony (Dr)
22	<u>Berger, David (Dr)</u>

23	<u>Bhattacharayya, Ratnakar (Dr)</u>
24	<u>Blaj, Adina (Dr)</u>
25	<u>Bradbury, Christopher</u>
26	<u>Brown, Katherine (Professor)</u>
27	<u>Campbell, Diane (Dr)</u>
28	<u>Cardiac Society of Australia and New</u> <u>Zealand</u>
29	<u>Chan, Alexander (Dr)</u>
30	<u>Chapman, David (Dr)</u>
31	<u>Close, David (Mr)</u>
32	Consumers Health Forum of Australia
33	<u>Corcos, Christopher (Dr)</u>
34	<u>Cosmetic Physicians College of</u> <u>Australasia</u>
35	Council of Presidents of Medical Colleges
36	<u>Dahm, David</u>
37	<u>Dewan, Paddy (Dr)</u>
38	Doctors Health Services Pty Ltd
39	<u>Dodd, Elizabeth (Dr)</u>
40	<u>Doyle, Kevin (Dr)</u>
41	<u>Essali, Adib (Dr)</u>
42	<u>Fontaine, Mark (Dr)</u>
43	General Practice Supervisors Australia
44	Goldman, Robert (Dr)
45	<u>Grace, Robert (Dr)</u>
46	<u>Harding, Philip</u>
----	--
47	<u>Haywood, Ian (Dr)</u>
48	Health Care Consumers Association
49	Health Consumers Alliance of SA
50	Hunter General Practitioners Association
51	<u>Illesinghe, Dhushan (Dr)</u>
52	<u>Jaboury, Imad (Dr)</u>
53	<u>Jones, David (Dr)</u>
54	<u>Kenny Barrie (Dr)</u>
55	<u>Kesteven, Nathan (Dr)</u>
56	<u>Khan, Muhammad (Dr)</u>
57	<u>Krins, Tony (Dr)</u>
58	Lockie, Patrick (Dr)
59	<u>MB (Dr)</u>
60	MDA National
61	<u>Mackey, David (Professor)</u>
62	<u>Marshal, Tony (Dr)</u>
63	<u>McGovern, Mark (Dr)</u>
64	Medical Council of NSW
65	<u>Miocevich, Len (Dr)</u>
66	MIGA
67	<u>Morris, Philip (Professor)</u>
68	Name withheld 1
69	Name withheld 2
70	Name withheld 3
71	Name withheld 4

72	<u>Name withheld 5</u>
73	Name withheld 6
74	Name withheld 7
75	Name withheld 8
76	Name withheld 9
77	Name withheld 10
78	National Association of Practising Psychiatrists
79	New South Wales Health
80	Noble, Phil (Dr)
81	<u>Pain Australia</u>
82	<u>Patterson, William (Dr)</u>
83	<u>Peak, Howard (Dr)</u>
84	Poynter, John (Dr)
85	Primary Health Care Limited
86	Radford, Peter (Dr)
87	<u>Rae, Peter (Dr)</u>
88	<u>Richardson, Philip (Dr)</u>
89	<u>Royal Australasian College of Medical</u> <u>Administrators</u>
90	Royal Australasian College of Physicians
91	Royal Australasian College of Surgeons
92	<u>Royal Australian College of General</u> <u>Practitioners</u>
93	Royal Australian and New Zealand College of Ophthalmologists
94	<u>The Royal Australian and New Zealand</u> <u>College of Psychiatrists</u>
95	<u>The Royal Australian and New Zealand</u> <u>College of Psychiatrists (second</u> <u>submission)</u>

96	<u>The Royal Australian and New Zealand</u> <u>College of Radiologists</u>
97	<u>The Royal College of Pathologists of</u> Australasia
98	Rural Health West
99	<u>Sharma, Raj (Dr)</u>
100	<u>Stewart, Rebecca (Dr)</u>
101	<u>Thornton, William (Dr)</u>
102	<u>Urological Society of Australia and New</u> Zealand
103	<u>Walker, Thomas (Dr)</u>
104	<u>Warfe, Laurie (Dr)</u>
105	<u>Weaving, Helga (Dr)</u>
106	Zaharias, George (Dr)

Appendix B: State and territory stakeholder forums and meetings

16 August 2016	Medical Board of Australia Revalidation Consultative Committee meeting National Stakeholder Forum
20 August 2016	AMA Federal Council, Canberra
22 August 2016	The Royal Australian and New Zealand College of Ophthalmologists Royal Australasian College of Dental Surgeons
23 August 2016	The Royal Australian and New Zealand College of Radiologists The Royal College of Pathologists of Australasia
5 September 2016	The Royal Australasian College of Medical Administrators
6 September 2016	The Royal Australian College of General Practitioners Australian and New Zealand College of Anaesthetists
7 September 2016	The Royal Australian and New Zealand College of Psychiatrists The Royal Australian and New Zealand College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists
8 September 2016	Royal Australasian College of Surgeons The Royal Australasian College of Physicians Australasian College for Emergency Medicine
9 September 2016	College of Intensive Care Medicine of Australia and New Zealand Australasian College of Dermatologists
27 September 2016	Australasian College of Sport and Exercise Physicians
2 November 2016	Australian College of Rural and Remote Medicine Queensland Stakeholder Forum
3 November 2016	Northern Territory Stakeholder Forum
7 November 2016	Tasmania Stakeholder Forum
10 November 2016	Committee of Presidents of Medical Colleges Victoria Stakeholder Forum
14 November 2016	Australian Capital Territory Stakeholder Forum
15 November 2016	New South Wales Stakeholder Forum
17 November 2016	Western Australian Stakeholder Forum
21 November 2016	South Australian Stakeholder Forum
6 December 2016	Medical Board of Australia Revalidation Consultative Committee meeting
19 April 2017	Medical Board of Australia Revalidation Consultative Committee meeting

Meetings were attended by

- Dr Joanna Flynn AM, Chair, Medical Board of Australia
- Professor Elizabeth Farmer, Chair, Expert Advisory Group on revalidation
- AHPRA staff

Stakeholder Forum Invitees

- Members of the State and Territory Boards of the Medical Board of Australia
- Members of the National Medical Board of Australia
- AHPRA State and Territory Managers and senior staff
- AMA Board members, CEO and Policy Advisers
- Consumers
- Departments of Health
- Medical schools
- Health Complaints Entities
- Postgraduate Medical Councils
- Specialist Colleges
- Medical indemnity insurers

Appendix C: Terms of reference of the Revalidation Expert Advisory Group

Context

The Board is committed to developing a process that supports medical practitioners to maintain and enhance their professional skills and knowledge and to remain fit to practise medicine. This process is known as 'revalidation'.

Purpose of the Expert Advisory Group

The Board has established the Expert Advisory Group to provide it with technical expert advice on revalidation. In particular, the Expert Advisory Group will develop one or more models for revalidation in Australia and will provide advice to the Board on how to pilot the models so that they can be evaluated for effectiveness, feasibility and acceptability.

Terms of reference

The Expert Advisory Group will:

- develop one or more detailed models of revalidation for the Board to consider. The Board will decide whether to pilot one or more models of revalidation. In developing the models, the Expert Advisory Group will:
- a) take into consideration the report by CAMERA and any other readily available evidence regarding revalidation but will not reproduce the work done by CAMERA or critique the report
- b) provide advice about a model or models such as:
 - whether there should be a 'one size fits all' approach or whether there should be a targeted approach (e.g. targeting at risk practitioners).
 - whether there should be different approaches to revalidation requirements for different groups of medical practitioners. For example, the Board's registration standard for CPD requires different groups of practitioners to meet different requirements, depending upon their employment position (e.g. trainees) and their registration status (general or specialist registration).
 - whether the Board should be relying on existing structures and processes for

revalidation and if so, what changes are necessary to make them fit for revalidation purposes.

- c) include a high level assessment of the proposed model(s) against the <u>COAG</u> <u>Principles for Best Practice Regulation</u>
- provide advice to the Board and AHPRA about how to set up pilots of revalidation model(s) so that their effectiveness, feasibility and acceptability can be evaluated
- at all stages of this project, consider relevant feedback from the Board and Consultative Committee and any other consultations regarding revalidation
- 4. provide expert advice to the Board about any other issues related to revalidation and its implementation.

Membership

Up to eight members who are appointed by the Board for 24 months or the duration of this work (whichever is sooner) including:

Chair

Professor Elizabeth Farmer

Members

A member with experience in medical regulation

A member with expertise in performance management – non medical practitioner

One or more members with expertise in assessment of medical practitioners

One or more members with expertise in medical education

A member with expertise in safety and quality

Staffing to support the Expert Advisory Group

AHPRA will provide secretariat and policy support to the Expert Advisory Group through the Strategy and Policy Directorate.

Meetings and procedures

Frequency of meetings

The Expert Advisory Group will meet at least every two months but it is anticipated that more frequent meetings will be necessary initially.

Meetings can be:

- face-to-face
- via videoconference
- via teleconference

Procedures for meetings

The Chair will preside at the meetings of the Expert Advisory Group. In the absence of the Chair at any meeting, a member elected by the members of the group who are present will preside at the meeting.

As members have been appointed as individuals, they cannot nominate an alternative attendee if they cannot attend a meeting.

AHPRA will provide materials to members at least five days prior to day of the meeting. Materials will be provided electronically, either via email or via access to a secure portal.

A report of the meeting will be drafted and circulated to members.

Payment and expenses

Attendance, travel, accommodation and other relevant expenses will be paid at the same rate as Board members and according to the Board members' manual.

As it is likely that the Chair will do additional work between meetings, the Chair will be paid an equivalent hourly rate for this work. This includes payment to attend meetings of the Consultative Committee.

Reporting

The Expert Advisory Group will provide threemonthly progress reports to the Board – one for the Board and one for the Board to circulate and if necessary, seek feedback from the Consultative Committee.

Models for revalidation and advice on how to pilot the models will be delivered to the Board within 9 months of the first meeting. The Expert Advisory Group can seek an extension from the Board if it is not possible to meet this deadline.

Other matters

In developing models for revalidation, the Expert Advisory Group will take into consideration the objectives and guiding principles on the National Registration and Accreditation Scheme.

Schedule 4, Clause 7 of the National Law states that:

- A member of a National Board is to act impartially and in the public interest in the exercise of the member's functions as a member.
- (2) Accordingly, a member of a National Board is to put the public interest before the interests of particular health practitioners or any entity that represents health practitioners.

The National Board expects that members of the Expert Advisory Group will act in accordance with the principles in Schedule 4, Clause 7 of the National Law.

Possibility of ongoing involvement

The role of the Expert Advisory Group as defined in these terms of reference finishes once the Group submits the proposed models to the Board. However, there may be an ongoing role for the Expert Advisory Group as the work on revalidation continues, including providing advice on the evaluation of pilots.

The Board will update the terms of reference and membership and will make the necessary appointments when the ongoing need for expert advice becomes clearer.

Appendix D: Biographies of EAG members

Professor Elizabeth Farmer (Chair)

Liz Farmer is an academic general practitioner and an independent health sector consultant specializing in health professional education and assessment, research, accreditation, evaluation, revalidation and policy development. Professor Farmer is Chair of the Australian Medical Council's Prevocational Standards Accreditation Committee since 2013 and Chair of the AMC National Test Centre Research Group, In 2007. Professor Farmer was appointed as Dean of Medicine at the University of Wollongong and became the first female general practitioner to become the Dean of a medical school in Australia. Following this, Professor Farmer was the Executive Director of Workforce Innovation and Reform at Health Workforce Australia and led a national program developing policy and practice in health workforce innovation and reform for all health professionals. She is an Honorary Clinical Professor at the University of Wollongong.

Professor Richard Doherty

Richard Doherty is the Dean of the Royal Australasian College of Physicians, physician in Infectious Diseases at Monash Children's Hospital and Professor in Paediatrics at Monash University. Previous roles have been as Associate Dean for Teaching Hospitals. Head of the Department of Paediatrics at Monash, Medical Director of the Children's Program Southern Health, consultant paediatrician, Royal Children's Hospital Melbourne and Deputy Director, Macfarlane Burnet Centre for Medical Research. Professor Doherty was Chair of the Board of Examiners of the Australian Medical Council from 2007-2015. Research interests have included basic and clinical virology and he has been a supervisor of doctoral research students and specialty medical trainees. He is a member of the Commonwealth's National Medical Training Advisory Network Committee and was a member of the Expert Group for the National Intern Training Review.

Dr Robert Herkes

Robert Herkes is a highly respected senior clinician and leader in intensive care medicine, with extensive operating and leadership experience in the development, evolution and provision of critical care services at both state and national levels. Dr Herkes is the Clinical Director at the Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care providing expert clinical advice to the wide range of programs managed by the Commission. Dr Herkes has a significant role in identifying areas for synergies, partnerships and new opportunities across the Australian health sector in collaboration with all health sector stakeholders, and providing leadership and education around the latest evidence on safety and quality in health care.

Professor Michael Hollands

Michael Hollands is a General Surgeon at Westmead Hospital, and is Clinical Associate Professor of Surgery in the Western Clinical School of Sydney University. He is a Fellow of The Royal Australasian College of Surgeons. He was elected to the Council of RACS in 2006 and College President from 2012-14. He remains a member of the Executive of the Global Health Committee of the RACS and a member of the Board of the Foundation for Surgery. Professor Hollands was Chairman of the Committee of Presidents of Medical Colleges from 2013-15. Currently he is Chairman of the Healthcare Quality Committee of Western Sydney Area Health Service.

Professor Brian Jolly

Brian Jolly is the Professor of Medical Education in the School of Medicine and Public Health at the University of Newcastle and Adjunct Professor, School of Rural Medicine, University of New England. He has longstanding interests and expertise in healthcare regulation, simulation, assessment, clinical teaching, the process of feedback, clinical skills development, and research design and statistics. He is Deputy **Co-Chair Medical Radiation Practitioners** Accreditation Committee, the Past Chair of the Australian Society for Simulation in Healthcare (ASSH) and, in 2015, received the Australian & New Zealand Association for Health Professional Educators (ANZAHPE) Award for Outstanding Achievement. Professor Jolly is currently involved in designing and implementing the new ioint medical program, a five year MD, at the Universities of Newcastle and New England.

Professor Kate Leslie AO

Kate Leslie AO is a specialist anaesthetist and head of anaesthesia research at the Royal Melbourne Hospital. She is a director of the Australian Medical Council and chair of its Specialist Education Accreditation Committee. She is a former councillor and president of the Australian and New Zealand College of Anaesthetists, and former director and chair of the Committee of Presidents of Medical Colleges. Professor Leslie has been a member or chair of several Medical Board of Australia advisory groups on specialist international medical graduate assessment and continuing professional development.

Professor Peter Procopis AM

Peter Procopis AM is a paediatric neurologist at The Children's Hospital Westmead. He has been extensively engaged in medical regulation for many years. He was appointed to the NSW Medical Board in 1999 and was Chair of the Conduct Committee shortly thereafter. In 2015 he was appointed as President of the Board. In 2010 with the advent of national registration, the NSW Medical Board was replaced by the NSW Medical Council for which he was the inaugural President and served as such until 2016. In 2010 he was also appointed as Chair of the NSW Medical Board of the Medical Board of Australia and as the practitioner member for NSW of the Medical Board of Australia. He served on the Medical Board of Australia until 2016.

Professor Procopis has been active in College activities since 1979 being President of The Australian College of Paediatrics and holding numerous offices in the RACP including Chair of the Examinations Committee and Chair of the CPD Committee during which time he led the establishment of the College's My CPD program. He continues as a member of the CPD Committee.

Professor Pauline Stanton

Pauline Stanton is Head of the School of Management in the College of Business at RMIT University. She is also an active researcher in the field of human resource management and employment relations. She has a particular interest in performance appraisal and review and much of her work has focused on the health sector. Professor Stanton is widely published with over 80 peer reviewed publications including journal articles, books and book chapters and she has been the successful recipient of two Australian Research Council grants. She has consulted and researched with a range of organisations and industries including; healthcare, defence, education, the creative arts and multinational companies, not only in Australia but also in China, Singapore, Canada, Vietnam and Mongolia.

Appendix E: Terms of reference for the Consultative Committee on the revalidation of medical practitioners

Context

The Board is committed to developing a process that supports medical practitioners to maintain and enhance their professional skills and knowledge and to remain fit to practise medicine. This process is known as 'revalidation'.

Purpose of the Consultative Committee

The Board has established the Consultative Committee to provide it with feedback on issues related to the introduction of revalidation in Australia.

Terms of reference

The Consultative Committee will:

- provide a forum for discussion and exchange of views on what medical practitioners should do to demonstrate ongoing fitness and competence to practise
- 2. provide feedback to the Board on the:
 - a) proposals for revalidation including whether proposed models for revalidation are feasible and acceptable
 - b) proposed plan for piloting model/s of revalidation and their evaluation
 - c) preferred option/s for revalidation and the implementation of any proposed revalidation activities
- provide feedback to the Board about information and materials that are developed regarding revalidation
- 4. provide advice to the Board on wider consultation regarding revalidation.

Membership

The Consultative Committee includes:

Chair

• Chair of the Medical Board of Australia

Members

• Chair of the Expert Advisory Group The Board will seek nominations from the following representative organisations:

- One nominee of the Australian Medical Council
- Three nominees of the Committee of Presidents of Medical Colleges
- Two nominees of the Australian Medical Association
- One nominee of the Deans of Medical Schools
- One nominee of the Australian Indigenous Doctors' Association
- Two nominees of the Health Workforce Principal Committee of the Australian Health Ministers' Advisory Committee – one member from a small jurisdiction and one from a larger jurisdiction
- Two nominees of AHPRA
- One nominee of the Medical Council of New South Wales

The Board will appoint:

- Two or three community members
- One or two members from Health Complaints Entities
- One member from a pre-vocational training organisation
- A person from a professional indemnity insurer

Secretariat

Strategy and Policy, Medical

Meetings and procedures

Frequency of meetings

The Consultative Committee will meet between quarterly and six-monthly.

Meetings can be:

- face-to-face
- via videoconference
- via teleconference

Procedures for meetings

The Chair is to preside at a meeting of the Consultative Committee. In the absence of the Chair at any meeting, the Chair of the Expert Advisory Group will preside at the meeting.

Materials will be provided to members at least five days prior to day of the meeting.

A report of the meeting will be drafted and circulated to members.

Reporting

The Consultative Committee will report to the Medical Board and AHPRA. Communication with the Board's Expert Advisory Group will be through the Board, noting however that the Chair of that Expert Advisory Group is also a member of the Consultative Committee and will provide feedback to the Expert Advisory Group.

Payment and expenses

Community members will be paid an honorarium for their attendance and related expenses.

Other members will not be paid to attend meetings but travel and accommodation will be funded by the Board and arranged by AHPRA.

Appendix F: Glossary

Continuing medical education and continuing professional development

In international literature, the terms continuing medical education (CME) and continuing professional development (CPD) are frequently used interchangeably. In the past, the term CME was often reserved for traditional activities such as lectures, presentations, conference attendance and reading. In this report, a distinction will be made and the term 'traditional CME' will be used to refer to these traditional activities.

Otherwise, this report uses the umbrella term CPD to refer to the broad range of activities that is encompassed by modern definitions of both CME and CPD. Typical definitions are:

Continuing medical education

The United States' Accreditation Council for Continuing Medical Education (ACCME) defines CME as 'educational activities which serve to maintain, develop, or increase the knowledge, skills, and professional performance and relationships that a physician uses to provide services for patients, the public, or the profession'.²⁵⁰

Continuing professional development

The Medical Board of Australia has defined CPD as 'the means by which members of the profession maintain, improve and broaden their knowledge, expertise and competence, and develop the personal qualities required in their professional lives'.²⁵¹

CPD program

Providers of CPD programs do more than provide CPD activities. A CPD program includes:

- details of the CPD activities needed to meet the program and MBA requirements
- CPD activities that are educationally valid, either provided within the program or by others and approved for inclusion in the CPD program
- a system and resources for participants to document their:
 - professional development plan, based on the participant's current and intended scope of practice
 - completed CPD activities

- self-evaluation of their learning goals and achievements
- monitoring participants' compliance, compliance audits and processes for taking appropriate action for those who fail to meet the program requirements, and
- quality assurance and monitoring processes.²⁵²

CPD home

Each individual medical practitioner will nominate an accredited CPD program as their 'CPD home', noting that a practitioner holding registration in more than one specialty may nominate more than one 'CPD home'. The CPD home would work with each practitioner to make sure they complete their CPD requirements, including that the CPD activities are relevant to their current and intended scope of practice.

CPD activities

CPD activities maintain, develop, update and enhance the knowledge, skills and performance required for safe and appropriate contemporary practice. They are provided by a range of organisations including but not limited to specialist colleges and societies, universities, health care facilities, health consumer organisations, private training providers and conference organisers. CPD activities can include:

- continuing medical education such as courses, conferences, scholarly activities and online learning
- reviewing practice performance through activities such as peer review, multi-source feedback and performance appraisal, and
- measuring practice outcomes such as clinical audits and comparison of individual outcomes with larger datasets.²⁵³

More detailed examples of CPD activities are included in Figure 1.

Colleagues, peers, and co-workers

Colleagues

In this report, colleagues are other medical practitioners with whom a doctor works and interacts, for example, colleagues in practice and specialists to whom they refer patients.

Peers

A peer is a medical colleague of the same branch of the profession, grade or setting. In this report, peers are usually practitioners in the same area of specialty or sub-specialty practice.

Co-workers

In this report, co-workers include other health professionals or health-related professionals with whom doctors work and interact.

Peer review

The term 'peer review' is used in various ways. Even when citations use the term 'peer review' to denote the appraisal of one colleague by another, they do not necessarily define the exact process. Peer review has been defined as follows:

Peer review is the process by which individuals of the same profession, grade or setting, critically assess their colleagues' performance, in order to reinforce areas of strength and quality, and identify areas for development.²⁵⁴

This definition highlights the:

- context of peer review organisational, as opposed to an individual act of selfimprovement
- purpose of peer review to critically and systematically appraise, assess and monitor
- focus of peer review strengths, weaknesses and quality
- outcomes evidence, and recommendations for approval, and
- participants colleague of same profession, grade or setting (although not necessarily all three).

Professionalism - standards of behaviour inherent in professional practice

The MBA's *Good medical practice: a code of conduct for doctors in Australia* explains that, in professional life, doctors must display a standard of behaviour that warrants the trust and respect of the community and that all doctors are expected to base their practice on professional values.

They must:

- make the care of patients their first concern
- practise medicine safely and effectively

- be ethical and trustworthy
- display qualities such as integrity, truthfulness, dependability and compassion
- protect patients' confidentiality
- protect and promote the health of individuals and the community
- provide patient-centred care, understanding that each patient is unique, and work in partnership with their patients, adapting what they do to address the needs and reasonable expectations of each patient
- be aware of their own culture and beliefs and respectful of the beliefs and cultures of others, recognising that these cultural differences may impact on the doctor– patient relationship and on the delivery of health services
- be a good communicator
- demonstrate self-awareness and selfreflection
- reflect regularly on whether they are practising effectively, on what is happening in their relationships with patients and colleagues, and on their own health and wellbeing
- keep their skills and knowledge up to date, including refining and developing their clinical judgement as they gain experience, and
- contribute to their profession.

Revalidation

The International Association of Medical Regulatory Authorities

The International Association of Medical Regulatory Authorities (IAMRA) defines revalidation as 'the process by which doctors have to regularly show that their knowledge and skills are up to date, and fit to practise medicine'.²⁵⁵

The term 'up to date' refers to the concept of professional development and requires all doctors to be able to produce evidence of currency. The term 'fit to practise medicine' refers to an appropriate level of performance in the practice of medicine, linked directly to patient outcomes.

Revalidation is closely aligned with the term 'recertification' as used in other countries.

General Medical Council, United Kingdom

Revalidation is the term used by the General Medical Council (GMC) in the United Kingdom (UK) since the mid-1990s. It is the process by which doctors in the UK demonstrate that their knowledge and skills remain up to date and that they are fit to practise in their chosen field and are able to provide a good level of care. It occurs through regular appraisals of doctors' performance and review of portfolios of evidence that they are undertaking CPD.²⁵⁶

Appendix G: Acronyms

ACCME	Accreditation Council for Continuing Medical Education (USA)
ACSQHC	Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care
AHPRA	Australian Health Practitioner Regulation Agency
AMA	Australian Medical Association
AMC	Australian Medical Council
CAHO	Council of Academic Hospitals of Ontario
CAMERA	Collaboration for the Advancement of Medical Education Research and Assessment
CI	Confidence interval
CME	Continuing medical education
CPD	Continuing professional development
СРМС	Council of Presidents of Medical Colleges
CPSA	The College of Physicians and Surgeons of Alberta
CPSBC	The College of Physicians and Surgeons of British Columbia
CPSNS	The College of Physicians and Surgeons of Nova Scotia
CPSO	The College of Physicians and Surgeons of Ontario
DMS	Director of Medical Services
EAG	Medical Board of Australia Expert Advisory Group on Revalidation
FSMB	Federation of State Medical Boards (USA)
GMC	General Medical Council (UK)
GP	General practitioner
HCE	Health Complaints Entity
HR	Hazard ratio
IAMRA	International Association of Medical Regulatory Authorities
IMG	International medical graduate
MABEL	Medicine in Australia: Balancing Employment and Life
MBA (or Board)	Medical Board of Australia
MBS	Medicare Benefits Schedule
MCC	Medical Council of Canada
MCNZ	Medical Council of New Zealand
MD	Doctor of medicine
MOU	Memorandum of understanding

MPAR	Manitoba PAR
MSF	Multi-source feedback
National Law	The Health Practitioner Regulation National Law, as in force in each state and territory
NCAS	National Clinical Assessment Service (UK)
NCIS	National Coronial Information System
NHS	National Health Service (UK)
NSPAR	Nova Scotia PAR
OR	Odds ratio
PAR	Physician achievement review (Alberta)
PARS	Patient advocacy reporting system
PBS	Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme
PC	Practising certificate (NZ)
PDP	Professional development plan
PHN	Primary Health Network
PIV	Professional inspection visit (Quebec)
PPA	Peer practice assessment
PPR-NS	Physician peer review program (Nova Scotia)
PPEP	Physician practice enhancement panel (British Columbia)
PREMs	Patient reported experience measures
PROMs	Patient reported outcome measures
PRONE	Predicted risk of new event
RACS	Royal Australasian College of Surgeons
RPR	Regular practice review (NZ)
RR	Relative risk
USP	Unsolicited patient complaints
VEAB	Vocational education advisory bodies (NZ)

Appendix H: References

- 'CanMEDS: Better standards, better physicians, better care', *Royal College of Physicians and Surgeons Canada*, [website], 2015, <u>www.royalcollege.ca/rcsite/canmeds/canmeds-framework-e</u>, (accessed August 2017).
- <u>2</u> 'Registration standard: Continuing professional development', *Medical Board of Australia*, [website], 2016, Mandatory registration standards, <u>www.medicalboard.gov.au/Registration-Standards</u>, (accessed 20 February 2017).
- <u>3</u> 'Registration data table March 2017', *Medical Board of Australia*, [website], 2017, Registration data, <u>www.medicalboard.gov.au/News/Statistics</u>, (accessed 4 July 2017).
- <u>4</u> M.M. Bismark, M.J. Spittal, L.C. Gurrin, M. Ward and D.M. Studdert, 'Identification of doctors at risk of recurrent complaints: a national study of healthcare complaints in Australia', *The BMJ Quality & Safety*, vol. 22, no. 7, 2013, pp. 532-540.
- <u>5</u> 'Medical Board announces next steps on revalidation', *Medical Board of Australia*, [website], 2015, Media releases, <u>www.medicalboard.gov.au/News/2015-09-15-media-statement</u>, (accessed June 2017).
- <u>6</u> ibid
- J. Archer, R. Pitt, S. Nunn, S. Regan de Bere: Collaboration for the Advancement of Medical Education Research and Assessment, Plymouth University Peninsula, 'The evidence and options for medical revalidation in the Australian context: Final report', *Medical Board of Australia*, [website], 2015, Revalidation: more information, <u>www.medicalboard.gov.au/Registration/Revalidation</u>, (accessed March 2016).
- <u>8</u> 'Terms of reference of the expert advisory group on revalidation', *Medical Board of Australia*, [website], 2015, Revalidation: more information, www.medicalboard.gov.au/Registration/Revalidation, (accessed March 2016).
- <u>9</u> 'Consultative Committee on revalidation', *Medical Board of Australia*, [website], 2015, Revalidation: more information, <u>www.medicalboard.qov.au/Registration/Revalidation</u>, (accessed March 2016).
- 10 'Report Medical Practitioners' ongoing fitness and competence to practise', Medical Board of Australia, [website], 2016, Revalidation: more information, www.medicalboard.gov.au/Registration/Revalidation, (accessed March 2017).
- <u>11</u> 'Doctors the most trusted profession: Board research', *Medical Board of Australia*, [website], 2016, Media releases, <u>www.medicalboard.gov.au/News/2016-11-10-media-statement</u>, (accessed June 2017).
- 12 'Medical Board announces next steps on revalidation', *Medical Board of Australia*, [website], 2015, Media releases, <u>www.medicalboard.gov.au/News/2015-09-15-media-statement</u>, (accessed June 2017).
- 13 L. Southgate and C.P.M. Van der Vleuten, 'A conversation about the role of medical regulators: Should our strategy of finding bad apples be similar to making the bright more shiny? We think not', *Medical Education*, vol. 48, no. 2, Feb 2014, pp. 215-218.
- 14 M. Bismark, 'The seven qualities of highly effective regulators', *Marie Bismark*, [website], 2014, <u>https://mariebismark.wordpress.com/2014/12/01/the-seven-qualities-of-highly-effective-regulators</u>, (accessed July 2017).

- **15** J. Flynn, 'Revalidation in the Australian context', *The effectiveness of revalidation systems and tools: are we achieving our mandate? International Association of Medical Regulatory Authorities Revalidation Symposium*, Canada, 2015.
- J. Archer, R. Pitt, S. Nunn, S. Regan de Bere: Collaboration for the Advancement of Medical Education Research and Assessment, Plymouth University Peninsula, 'The evidence and options for medical revalidation in the Australian context: Final report', *Medical Board of Australia*, [website], 2015, Revalidation: more information, <u>www.medicalboard.gov.au/Registration/Revalidation</u>, (accessed March 2016).
- <u>17</u> ibid
- <u>18</u> 'Taking revalidation forward in 2017', *General Medical Council*, [website], 2017, <u>www.gmc-uk.org/publications/30475</u>, (accessed July 2017).
- **19** N. Hawkes, 'Revalidation seems to add little to the current appraisal process', *The BMJ*, vol. 345, no. 7882, 2012, e7375, <u>www.bmj.com/content/345/7882</u> (accessed May 2017).
- <u>20</u> Expert advisory group on revalidation, 'Interim report on options for revalidation in Australia', *Medical Board of Australia*, [website], 2016, Details of the approach and the supporting evidence, <u>www.medicalboard.gov.au/Registration/Revalidation</u>, (accessed July 2017).
- 21 Revalidation, *Medical Board of Australia*, [website] 2016, <u>www.medicalboard.gov.au/News/Past-Consultations</u> (accessed July 2017).
- <u>22</u> ibid
- **23** J. Flynn, 'Towards revalidation in Australia: a discussion', *Medical Journal of Australia*, vol. 206, no. 1, 2017, <u>www.mja.com.au/journal/perspectives</u>, (accessed April 2017).
- <u>24</u> J. Flynn, 'Towards revalidation in Australia', Perspective, [podcast], *MJA Podcasts*, 2017, Episode 1, <u>www.mja.com.au/podcasts</u>, (accessed April 2017).
- 25 S.N. Bolsin, E. Cawson and M.E. Colson, 'Revalidation is not to be feared and can be achieved by continuous objective assessment', *Medical Journal of Australia*, vol. 203, no. 3, 2015, pp. 142-144.
- <u>26</u> Australian Medical Council, 'Standards for assessment and accreditation of specialist medical programs and professional development programs', *Australian Medical Council*, [website], 2015, Assessing specialist medical education and training, <u>www.amc.org.au/accreditation/medical-education</u>, (accessed May 2016).
- 27 Australian Medical Council, [website], <u>www.amc.org.au/accreditation/medical-education</u>, (accessed July 2017).
- <u>28</u> 'Registration standard: Continuing professional development', *Medical Board of Australia*, [website], 2016, Mandatory registration standards, <u>www.medicalboard.gov.au/Registration-Standards</u>, (accessed May 2017).
- **29** *Medical Board of Australia*, [website], 2017, <u>www.medicalboard.gov.au/Registration/Audit</u>, (accessed July 2017).
- <u>30</u> *Medical Council of New Zealand*, [website], 2011, Recertification and professional development, <u>www.mcnz.org.nz/maintain-registration/recertification-and-professional-development/</u>, (accessed July 2017).
- <u>31</u> Medical Council of New Zealand, <u>www.mcnz.org.nz</u>.

- <u>32</u> *Medical Council of New Zealand*, [website], 2011, General and vocational scope doctors, <u>www.mcnz.org.nz/maintain-registration/recertification-and-professional-development/general-and-vocational-scope-doctors</u>, (accessed June 2017).
- <u>33</u> 'Policy on regular practice review', *Medical Council of New Zealand*, [website], 2011, Regular practice review, <u>www.mcnz.org.nz/assets/Policies/Policy-on-regular-practice-review.pdf</u>, (accessed May 2016).
- 34 The NZMC offers the following explanation of a VEAB: For the different branches of medicine that specialist doctors work in, which we also call their vocational scope, a Branch Advisory Body (VEAB) offers advice and services to the Council by: (a) advising the council on education, training and international equivalence during the registration process for doctors seeking to work within a vocational scope of practice and, (b) providing programs of training, education, research, quality and safety policy, audits, practising resources, and advocacy, for the recertification of specialist doctors.

Source: *Medical Council of New Zealand*, [website], 2011, <u>www.mcnz.org.nz/maintain-</u> <u>registration/recertification-and-professional-development/vocational-and-educational-advisory-</u> <u>body-veab/</u>

- <u>35</u> 'What to do when you have concerns about a colleague', *Medical Council of New Zealand*, [website], 2010, <u>www.mcnz.org.nz/assets/News-and-Publications/Statements/Concerns-about-a-</u>colleague.pdf, (accessed July 2017).
- <u>36</u> J.J. Norcini, 'Current perspectives in assessment: the assessment of performance at work', *Medical Education*, vol. 39, no. 9, 2005, p 889.
- <u>37</u> R.M. Epstein, 'Assessment in medical education', *The New England Journal of Medicine*, vol. 356, 2007, pp. 387-96.
- <u>38</u> C.P. van der Vleuten and L.W. Schuwirth, 'Assessing professional competence: from methods to programmes', *Medical Education*, vol. 39, no. 3, 2005, pp. 309-17.
- <u>39</u> C.O. Houle, *Continuing learning in the professions*, San Francisco, Jossey-Bass, 1980.
- <u>40</u> M.S. Knowles and Associates. *Andragogy in action: applying modern principles of adult learning*, San Francisco, Jossey-Bass, 1984.
- <u>41</u> D.M. Kaufman, 'Applying educational theory in practice', *The BMJ*, vol. 326, no. 7382, 2003, pp. 213-216.
- **42** P.C. Candy, *Self-direction for lifelong learning: a comprehensive guide to theory and practice*, San Francisco, Jossey-Bass, 1991.
- **43** D.A. Schön, *Educating the reflective practitioner: toward a new design for teaching and learning in the professions*, San Francisco, Jossey-Bass, 1987.
- <u>44</u> D.M. Kaufman, 'Applying educational theory in practice', *The BMJ*, vol. 326, no. 7382, 2003, pp. 213-216.
- <u>45</u> B.S. Bloom, 'Effects of continuing medical education on improving physician clinical care and patient health: a review of systematic reviews', *International Journal of Technology Assessment in Health Care*, vol. 21, no. 3, 2005, pp. 380-5.
- **46** R.M. Cervero and J.K. Gaines, 'The impact of CME on position performance and patient healthcare outcomes: an updated synthesis of systematic reviews', *Journal of continuing education in the health professions*, vol. 35, no. 2, 2015, pp. 131-138.

- **47** M.K. Robertson, K.E. Umble and R.M. Cervero, 'Impact studies in continuing education for health professionals: update', *Journal of continuing education in the health professions*, vol. 23, no. 3, 2003, pp. 146 -156.
- **48** D.E. Moore Jr, J.S. Green and H.A. Gallis, 'Achieving desired results and improved outcomes: integrating planning and assessment throughout learning activities', *Journal of continuing education in the health professions*, vol. 29, no. 1, 2009, pp. 1-15.
- <u>49</u> G.T. McMahon, 'Advancing Continuing Medical Education', *JAMA*, vol. 314, no. 6, 2015, pp. 561-562.
- 50 Accreditation Council for Continuing Medical Education, '2014 annual report', *Annual Report data*, 2014, <u>www.accme.org/news-publications/publications/annual-report-data/accme-annual-report-2014</u>, (accessed on June 2016).
- 51 R.M. Cervero and J.K. Gaines, 'The impact of CME on position performance and patient healthcare outcomes: an updated synthesis of systematic reviews', *Journal of continuing education in the health professions*, vol. 35, no. 2, 2015, pp. 131-138.
- **52** D.E. Moore Jr, J.S. Green and H.A. Gallis, 'Achieving desired results and improved outcomes: integrating planning and assessment throughout learning activities', *Journal of continuing education in the health professions*, vol. 29, no. 1, 2009, pp. 1-15.
- 53 M Kopelow, 'Evidence-based regulation and accredited continuing medical education', *Journal of continuing education in the health professions*, vol. 35, no. 2, 2015, pp. 81-2.
- 54 D.A. Davis, P.E. Mazmanian, M. Fordis, R. van Harrison, K.E. Thorpe and I. Perrier, 'Accuracy of Physician Self-Assessment Compared with Observed Measures of Competence; A Systematic Review', *JAMA*, vol. 296, no. 9, 2006, pp. 1094-1102.
- 55 J. Sargeant, K.W. Eva, H. Armson, B. Chesluk, T. Dornan, E. Holmboe, J.M. Lockyer, E. Loney, K.V. Mann and C.P. van der Vleuten, 'Features of assessment learners use to make informed self-assessments of clinical performance', *Medical Education*, vol. 45, no. 6, 2011, pp. 636-47.
- <u>56</u> J. Lockyer, H. Armson, B. Chesluk, T. Dornan, E. Holmboe, E. Loney, K. Mann and J. Sargeant, 'Feedback data sources that inform physician self-assessment', *Medical Teacher*, vol. 33, no. 2, 2011, e113-20, <u>http://lib.education.vnu.edu.vn/bitstream/DHGD/1434/1/ClinicalPsychology10421.pdf</u>, (accessed June 2017).
- 57 J. Sargeant, H. Armson, B. Chesluk, T. Dornan, K. Eva, E. Holmboe, J. Lockyer, E. Loney, K. Mann and C.P. van der Vleuten, 'The processes and dimensions of informed self-assessment: a conceptual model', *Academic Medicine*, vol. 85, no. 7, 2010, pp.1212-20.
- **58** K. Mann, C. van der Vleuten, K. Eva, H. Armson, B. Chesluk, T. Dornan, E. Holmboe, J. Lockyer, E. Loney and J. Sargeant, 'Tensions in informed self-assessment: how the desire for feedback and reticence to collect and use it can conflict', *Academic Medicine*, vol. 86, no.9, 2011, pp. 1120-7.
- 59 'Consultation on strengthening recertification for vocationally registered doctors,' *Medical Council of New Zealand*, [website], 2017, <u>www.mcnz.org.nz/assets/News-and-Publications/Consultations/Consultation-on-strengthening-recertification-for-vocationally-registered-doctors-FINAL.pdf</u>, (accessed May 2017).
- <u>60</u> D. Klass, 'Assessing Doctors at Work Progress and Challenges', *The New England Journal of Medicine*, vol. 356, no. 4, pp. 414-15.
- <u>61</u> L. Casebeer, J. Brown, N. Roepke, C. Grimes, B. Henson, R. Palmore, U.S. Granstaff and G.D. Salinas, 'Evidence-based choices of physicians: a comparative analysis of physicians participating in

Internet CME and non-participants', *BMC Medical Education*, vol. 10, no. 42, 2010, <u>https://bmcmedicaleduc.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/1472-6920-10-42</u>, (accessed May 2017)

- 62 D.A. Cook, A.J. Levinson, S. Garside, D.M. Dupras, P.J. Erwin and V.M. Montori, 'Internet-based learning in the health professions: a meta-analysis', *JAMA*, Vol. 300, no. 10, 2008, pp. 1181-1196.
- **63** F. Goulet, A. Jacques, R. Gagnon, P. Racette and W.Sieber, 'Assessment of family physicians' performance using patient charts: interrater reliability and concordance with chart-stimulated recall interview', *Evaluation and the Health Professions*, vol. 30, no. 4, 2007, pp. 376-92.
- 64 R. Gagnon, A. Jacques, M. Billard and F. Goulet, 'Determining the number of patient charts necessary for a reliable assessment of practicing family physicians' performance', *Evaluation and the Health Professions*, vol. 33, no. 1, 2010, pp. 109-22.
- **<u>65</u>** W.B. Runciman, T.D. Hunt, N.A. Hannaford, P.D. Hibbert, J.I. Westbrook, E.W. Coiera, R.O. Day, D.M. Hindmarsh, E.A. McGlynn and J. Braithwaite, 'CareTrack: assessing the appropriateness of health care delivery in Australia', *Medical Journal of Australia*, vol. 197, no. 2, 2012, pp. 100-105.
- <u>66</u> Of 2416 duplicate reviews, 243 (10%) were discrepant. Four situations within three conditions gave rise to 98 (40%) of these discrepancies: disagreements about classification of the type of surgery (clean or contaminated), the timing of prophylactic antibiotics, or whether a patient was presenting with unstable or stable angina; and because some surveyors assumed a risk assessment had been carried out for patients appropriately receiving venous thromboembolism (VTE) prophylaxis, when there was no record of this.
- <u>67</u> E.J. Thomas, S.R. Lipsitz, D.M. Studdert and T.A. Brennan, 'The reliability of medical record review for estimating adverse event rates', *Annals of Internal Medicine*, vol. 136, 2002, pp. 812-816.
- **68** R. Lilford, A. Edwards, A. Girling, T. Hofer, G.L. Di Tanna, J. Petty and J. Nicholl, 'Inter-rater reliability of case-note audit: a systematic review', *Journal of Health Services Research and Policy*, vol. 12, no. 3, 2007, pp. 173-80.
- <u>69</u> M.A. Smith, A.J. Atherly, R.L. Kane and J.Y. Pacala, 'Peer review of the quality of care. Reliability and sources of variability for outcome and process assessments', *JAMA*, vol. 278, no. 19, 1997, pp. 1573-8.
- <u>70</u> ibid
- 71 R.S. Handfield-Jones, K.V. Mann, M.E. Challis, S.O. Hobma, D.J. Klass, I.C. McManus, N.S. Paget, I.J. Parboosingh, W.B. Wade and T.J. Wilkinson, 'Linking assessment to learning: a new route to quality assurance in medical practice', *Medical Education*, vol. 36, 2002, pp. 949-958.
- 72 W. Hall, C. Violato, R. Lewkonia, J. Lockyer, H. Fidler, J. Toews, P. Jennett, M. Donoff and D. Moores, 'Assessment of physician performance in Alberta: the physician achievement review', *Canadian Medical Association Journal*, Vol. 161, no. 1, 1999, pp.52-7.
- **73** J.L. Campbell, S.H. Richards, A. Dickens, M. Greco, A. Narayanan and S. Brearley, 'Assessing the professional performance of UK doctors: an evaluation of the utility of the General Medical Council patient and colleague questionnaires', *Quality and Safety in Health Care*, vol. 17, no. 3, 2008, pp.187-93.
- 74 D.A. Davis, P.E. Mazmanian, M. Fordis, R. van Harrison, K.E. Thorpe and I. Perrier, 'Accuracy of Physician Self-Assessment Compared with Observed Measures of Competence; A Systematic Review', JAMA, vol. 296, no. 9, 2006, pp. 1094-1102.

- **75** J. Ferguson, J. Wakeling and P. Bowie, 'Factors influencing the effectiveness of multisource feedback in improving the professional practice of medical doctors: a systematic review', *BMC medical education*, vol.14, no. 1, 2014, p. 76.
- <u>76</u> ibid
- <u>77</u> J. Veloski, J.R. Boex, M.J. Grasberger, A. Evans and D.B. Wolfson, 'Systematic review of the literature on assessment, feedback and physicians' clinical performance BEME Guide no 7', *Medical Teacher*, vol. 28, no. 2, 2006, pp. 117-128.
- **78** K. Mann, J. Gordon and A. MacLeod, 'Reflection and reflective practice in health professions education: a systematic review', *Advances in Health Sciences Education*, vol. 14, no. 4, 2009, pp. 595-621.
- 79 '360-degree physician performance review toolkit', Council of Academic Hospitals of Ontario, [website], 2009, <u>http://caho-hospitals.com/wp-content/uploads/2014/02/CAHO-360-Degree-Physician-PerformToolkit2009.pdf</u>, (accessed April 2017).
- 80 K. Overeem, H.C. Wollersheim, O.A. Arah, J.K. Cruijsberg, R.P. Grol and K.M. Lombarts, 'Evaluation of physicians' professional performance: an iterative development and validation study of multisource feedback instruments', *BMC Health Services Research*, vol. 12, Mar, 2012, p.80, <u>https://bmchealthservres.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/1472-6963-12-80/open-peer-review,</u> (accessed April 2017).
- <u>81</u> J. Lockyer, 'Multisource feedback in the assessment of physician competencies', *Journal of continuing education in the health professions*, vol. 23, no.1, 2003, pp.4-12.
- 82 I. Dubinsky, K, Jennings, M. Greengarten and A. Brans, '360 degree physician performance assessment', *Health care Quarterly*, vol. 13, no. 2, 2010, pp. 71-76.
- **83** J.M. Lockyer, C. Violato and H. Fidler, 'The assessment of emergency physicians by a regulatory authority', *Academic Emergency Medicine*, vol. 13, no. 12, 2006, pp. 1296-303, http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1197/j.aem.2006.07.030/full, (accessed November 2016).
- **84** C. Violato, J.M. Lockyer and H. Fidler, 'Assessment of psychiatrists in practice through multisource feedback', *Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, vol. 58, no. 8, 2008, pp. 525-33.
- **85** J.M. Lockyer, C. Violato and H. Fidler, 'A multi source feedback program for anesthesiologists', *Canadian Journal of Anesthesia*, vol. 53, no. 1, 2006, pp. 33-9.
- **86** J.L. Campbell, M. Roberts, C. Wright, J. Hill, M. Greco, M. Taylor and S. Richards, 'Factors associated with variability in the assessment of UK doctors' professionalism: an analysis of survey results', *The BMJ*, vol. 343, 2011, d6212, <u>www.bmj.com/content/343/bmj.d6212</u>, (accessed April 2017).
- **87** D.A. Davis, P.E. Mazmanian, M. Fordis, R. van Harrison, K.E. Thorpe and I. Perrier, 'Accuracy of Physician Self-Assessment Compared with Observed Measures of Competence; A Systematic Review', *JAMA*, vol. 296, no. 9, 2006, pp. 1094-1102.
- 88 K. Overeem, H.C. Wollersheim, O.A. Arah, J.K. Cruijsberg, R.P. Grol and K.M. Lombarts, 'Evaluation of physicians' professional performance: an iterative development and validation study of multisource feedback instruments', *BMC Health Services Research*, vol. 12, 2012, <u>https://bmchealthservres.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/1472-6963-12-80</u>, (accessed April 2017).

- 89 C. Violato, J. Lockyer and H. Fidler, 'Multisource feedback: a method of assessing surgical practice', *The BMJ*, vol. 326, no. 7388, 2003, pp. 546–548, <u>www.bmj.com/content/326/7388/546.1</u>, (accessed April 2017).
- <u>90</u> A. Miller and J. Archer, 'Impact of workplace based assessment on doctors' education and performance; a systematic review', *The BMJ*, vol. 341, 2010, c5064, <u>www.bmj.com/content/341/bmj.c5064</u>, [accessed February 2017].
- <u>91</u> L.E. Atwater, J.F. Brett and A.C. Charles, 'Multisource feedback: Lessons learned and implications for practice', *Human Resource Management*, vol. 46, no. 2, 2007, pp. 285-307.
- J.R. Wilkinson, J.G. Crossley, A. Wragg, P. Mills, G. Cowan and W. Wade, 'Implementing workplace-based assessment across the medical specialties in the United Kingdom', *Medical Education*, vol. 42, no. 4, 2008, pp. 364-73, <u>www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18338989</u>, (accessed April 2017).
- 93 C. Wright, S.H. Richards, J.J. Hill, M.J. Roberts, G.R. Norman, M. Greco, M.R.S. Taylor and J.L. Campbell, 'Multisource Feedback in Evaluating the Performance of Doctors: The Example of the UK General Medical Council Patient and Colleague Questionnaires', *Academic Medicine*, vol. 87, 2012, pp. 1668–1678.
- <u>94</u> C. Chan, 'Disruptive Behaviour Amongst Physicians Can we prevent or intervene early?', *The PQII Panel, Council of Academic Hospitals of Ontario: Physician Quality Improvement Initiative,* www.nhlc-cnls.ca/assets/33 The%20PQII%20Panel%20Section%201%20to%204.pdf, (accessed July 2017).
- 95 C. Violato, A. Marini, J. Toews, J. Lockyer and H. Fidler, 'Feasibility and psychometric properties of using peers, consulting physicians, co-workers, and patients to assess physicians', *Academic Medicine*, vol. 72, no. 10, 1997, pp. S82- S84.
- 96 J. Lockyer, C. Violato and H. Fidler, 'What multi source feedback factors influence physician self assessments? A five-year longitudinal study', *Academic Medicine*, vol. 82, no. 10, 2007, pp. S77-S80.
- <u>97</u> T. Donnon, A. Al Ansari, S. Al Alawi and C. Violato, 'The reliability, validity, and feasibility of Multisource Feedback Physician Assessment: A systematic Review', *Academic Medicine*, vol. 89, no. 3, 2014, pp. 511-516.
- <u>98</u> K.A. Khalifa, A. Al Ansari, C. Violato and T. Donnon, 'Multisource Feedback to assess surgical practice: a systematic review', *Journal of Surgical Education*, vol. 70, no. 4, 2013, pp. 475-486.
- **<u>99</u>** T. Theman, H.M. Oetter and D.A. Kendel, 'Revalidation of Canadian physicians', *Canadian Medical Association Journal*, vol. 180, no. 5, 2009, p. 539.
- 100 The transfer of the intellectual property of the PAR program to the MCC took place in 2016. Enhanced questionnaires and reporting templates are scheduled to be finalised by the end of 2017, with survey service delivery to be offered in March 2018. Full operationalisation of the MCC 360 – MSF program will take place in 2019. Source: *College of Physicians and Surgeons of Alberta*, [website], FAQ: How is MSF+ different from PAR?, www.cpsa.ca/your-practice/ipr/, (accessed July 2017).
- <u>101</u> *College of Physicians and Surgeons of Alberta*, [website], <u>www.cpsa.ca/your-practice/ipr/</u>, (accessed July 2017).
- <u>102</u> *College of Physicians and Surgeons of Nova Scotia*, [website], Physician peer review, www.cpsns.ns.ca/Physician-Practice/PhysicianPeerReview, (accessed July 2017).

- <u>103</u> College of Physicians and Surgeons of Nova Scotia, [website], Frequently asked questions, www.cpsns.ns.ca/Physician-Practice/Physician-Peer-Review/Frequently-Asked-Questions#4, (accessed July 2017).
- <u>104</u> *Manitoba Physician Achievement Review*, [website], FAQ, <u>www.mpar.ca/welcome/faq</u>, (accessed July 2017).
- <u>105</u> *Manitoba Physician Achievement Review*, [website], About MPAR, <u>http://mpar.ca/welcome/about-mpar</u>,(accessed July 2017).
- <u>106</u> *College of Physicians and Surgeons of British Columbia*, [website], Assessment processes, <u>www.cpsbc.ca/programs/ppep/assessment-process</u>, [accessed July 2017].
- **107** E.L. Hannan, H. Kilburn, M. Racz, E. Shields and M.R. Chassin, 'Improving the outcomes of coronary artery bypass surgery in New York State', *JAMA*, vol. 271, no. 10, 1994, pp. 761-766.
- 108 P. Aylin, A. Bottle, B. Jarman and P. Elliott, 'Paediatric cardiac surgical mortality in England after Bristol: descriptive analysis of hospital episode statistics 1991-2002', *The BMJ*, vol. 329, no. 7470, 2004, pp. 825-827.
- <u>109</u> G.T. O'Connor, S.K. Plume, E.M. Olmstead, J.R. Morton, C.T. Maloney, W.C. Nugent, F. Hernandez Jr., R. Clough, B.J. Leavitt, L.H. Coffin, C.A. Marrin, D. Wennberg, J.D. Birkmeyer, D.C. Charlesworth, D.J. Malenka, H.B. Quinton and J.F. Kasper, 'A regional intervention to improve the hospital mortality associated with coronary artery bypass graft surgery', *JAMA*, vol. 275, no. 11, 1996, pp. 841-846.
- **<u>110</u>** N. Dixon, *Good practice in clinical audit: a summary of selected literature to support criteria for clinical audit*, London, National Centre for Clinical Audit 1996.
- 111 S. Middleton, 'Audit or research. Should nurse practitioners participate in these types of evaluation and what is the difference between them?', *The Nurse Practitioner Series, Western Australian Department of Health*, vol. 2, no. 1, 2007, pp. 26-32.
- 112 J. Bluestone, P. Johnson, J. Fullerton, J. Alderman and J. BonTempo, 'Effective in-service training design and delivery: evidence from an integrative literature review', *Human Resources for Health*, vol. 11, no. 51, 2013, <u>https://human-resources-health.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/1478-4491-11-51</u>, (accessed April 2017).
- **113** B.S. Bloom, 'Effects of continuing medical education on improving physician clinical care and patient health: a review of systematic reviews', *International Journal of Technology Assessment in Health Care*, vol. 21, no. 3, 2005, pp. 380-385.
- <u>114</u> N. Ivers, G. Jamtvedt, S. Flottorp, J.M. Young, J. Odgaard-Jensen, S.D. French, M.A. O'Brien, M. Johansen, J. Grimshaw and A.D. Oxman, 'Audit and feedback: effects on professional practice and healthcare outcomes', *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, Issue 6, 2012. Available from: <u>https://human-resources-health.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/1478-4491-11-51</u>, (accessed April 2017).
- 115 C.M. Trebble, L. Cruickshank, P.M. Hockey, N. Heyworth, T. Powell and N. Clarke, 'Individual performance review in hospital practice: the development of a framework and evaluation of doctors' attitudes to its value and implementation', *BMJ Quality and Safety*, vol. 22, no. 11, 2013, pp. 948-955.
- 116 R.G. Vahidi, J.S. Tabrizi, S. Iezadi, K. Gholipour, F. Mojahed and V. Rasi, 'Organizational Facilitators and Barriers to Implementing Effective Clinical Audit: Systematic Review', *Journal of Pakistan Medical Students*, vol. 3, no. 1, 2013, pp. 38-45.

- 117 N. Ivers, G. Jamtvedt, S. Flottorp, J.M. Young, J. Odgaard-Jensen, S.D. French, M.A. O'Brien, M. Johansen, J. Grimshaw and A.D. Oxman, 'Audit and feedback: effects on professional practice and healthcare outcomes (Review), *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, Issue 6, 2012. Available from: <u>http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/14651858.CD000259.pub3/full</u>, (accessed April 2017).
- <u>118</u> N. Hawkes, 'Revalidation seems to add little to the current appraisal process', *The BMJ*, Vol, 345, no. 7882, 2012, e7375, <u>www.bmj.com/content/345/bmj.e7375</u>, (accessed April 2017).
- <u>119</u> *Coroners Court of Victoria*, [website], 2016, www.coronerscourt.vic.gov.au/find/legislation/coroners+act+2008, (accessed August 2017).
- **120** M.M. Bismark, M.J. Spittal, L.C. Gurrin, M. Ward and D.M. Studdert, 'Identification of doctors at risk of recurrent complaints: a national study of healthcare complaints in Australia', *The BMJ Quality & Safety*, vol. 22, no. 7, 2013, pp. 532-540.
- <u>121</u> *Medical Board of Australia*, [website], 2017, Codes, guidelines and policies, <u>www.medicalboard.gov.au/Codes-Guidelines-Policies/Code-of-conduct</u>, (accessed August 2017).
- <u>122</u> *Medical Board of Australia*, [website], 2017, Notifications, <u>www.medicalboard.gov.au/Notifications</u>, (accessed August 2017).
- 123 L.J. Donaldson, 'Doctors with problems in an NHS workforce', *The BMJ*, vol. 308, no. 6938, 1994, pp. 1277–82, <u>www.bmj.com/content/308/6939/1277</u>, (accessed April 2017).
- 124 The UK's National Clinical Assessment Service (NCAS) was set up in 2001 and helps improve patient safety by working with the National Health Service (NHS) and other healthcare organisations to resolve concerns about the professional practice of doctors, dentists and pharmacists. NCAS provides a range of services from telephone advice, through to more detailed and ongoing support, to a full assessment of the practitioner's performance. This consists of a workplace-based assessment, which includes a health assessment by a specialist in occupational medicine, a behavioural assessment by an occupational psychologist and an assessment of clinical practice. The components of the clinical assessment include a record review, observation of clinical practice, case-based assessment, site visit, and peer and patient feedback. Services are tailored to the specific case and may include specialised interventions including remediation. Source: National Clinical Assessment Service, [website], 2017, www.ncas.nhs.uk/, (accessed April 2017).
- **125** L.J. Donaldson, S.S. Panesar, P.A. McAvoy and D.M. Scarrott, 'Identification of poor performance in a national medical workforce over 11 years: an observational study', *BMJ Quality and Safety*, vol. 23, no. 2, 2014, pp. 147–152.
- <u>126</u> *Federation of State Medical Boards*, [website], Essentials of a Modern Medical Practice Act, <u>www.fsmb.org/pdf/GPROL_essentials_eleventh_edition.pdf</u>, (accessed August 2017).
- **127** B.W. Williams, 'The prevalence and special educational requirements of dyscompetent physicians', *Journal of Continuing Education in the Health Professions*, vol. 26, no. 3, 2006, pp. 173-191.
- <u>128</u> 'Revalidation system interim report 2016', *UMbRELLA*, [website], <u>www.gmc-uk.org/UMbRELLA interim report FINAL.pdf 65723741.pdf</u>, (accessed August 2017).
- **129** E. Wenghofer, A.P. Williams and D. Klass, 'Factors Affecting Physician Performance: Implications for Performance Improvement and Governance', *Healthcare Policy*, vol. 5, no. 2, 2009, e141-160, <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2805145</u>, (accessed April 2017).

- 130 'Peer assessment evolves with introduction of new tools', *Dialogue*, Vol. 13, no. 2, 2017, pp. 11-13, <u>https://view.joomag.com/dialogue-volume-13-issue-2-2017/0684364001497899579/p11?short</u>, (accessed August 2017).
- 131 'Physician Practice Improvement (PPI)', *Federation of Medical Regulatory Authorities of Canada*, [website], 2016, <u>http://fmrac.ca/wp-content/uploads/2016/04/PPI-System_ENG.pdf</u>, (accessed June 2017).
- 132 L. Leape and J.A. Fromson, 'Problem doctors: is there a system-level solution?', *Annals of Internal Medicine*, vol. 144, no. 11, 2006, pp. 107–115.
- **133** E. Wenghofer, A.P. Williams and D. Klass, 'Factors Affecting Physician Performance: Implications for Performance Improvement and Governance', *Healthcare Policy*, vol. 5, no. 2, 2009, e141-160, https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2805145, (accessed April 2017).
- <u>134</u> 'Population by age and sex, Australia, States and Territories', Australian Bureau of Statistics, [website], 2016, www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs@.nsf/featurearticlesbyCatalogue/7A40A407211F35F4CA257A2200120 EAA?OpenDocument, (accessed April 2017).
- <u>135</u> 'Registration data table March 2017', Registration data <u>www.medicalboard.gov.au/News/Statistics</u>, (Accessed June 2017).
- **136** 'World Alzheimer Report 2015: The global impact of dementia', *Alzheimer's Disease International*, [website], p8, <u>www.alz.co.uk/research/worldalzheimerreport2015summary.pdf</u>, (accessed July 2017).
- <u>137</u> 'Dementia in Australia', *Australian Institute of Health and Welfare*, [website], 2012, www.aihw.gov.au/WorkArea/DownloadAsset.aspx?id=10737422943, (accessed June 2017).
- **138** 'Fight Alzheimer's Save Australia, Submission to the Productivity Commission', *Alzheimer's Australia*, [website], 2017, <u>www.fightdementia.org.au/files/NATIONAL/documents/AA-Submission-to-Productivity-Commission-Human-Services-Inquiry.pdf</u>, (accessed March 2017).
- <u>139</u> K.W. Eva, 'The aging physician: changes in cognitive processing and their impact on medical practice', *Academic Medicine*, vol. 77, no. 10, 2002, S1 6, <u>http://journals.lww.com/academicmedicine/Citation/2002/10001/The_Aging_Physician_Changes_in_Cognitive.2.aspx</u>, (accessed June 2017).
- **140** N. Redfern and P. Gallagher, 'The ageing anaesthetist', *Anaethesia*, vol. 69, no. 1, pp. 1 5.
- 141 G.A. Skowronski and C. Peisah, 'The greying intensivist: ageing and medical practice everyone's problem', *Medical Journal of Australia*, vol. 196, no. 8, 2012, pp. 505 7.
- **142** R.G. Adler and C. Constantinou, 'Knowing or not knowing when to stop: cognitive decline in ageing doctors', *Medical Journal of Australia*, vol. 189, no. 11-12, 2008, pp. 622-4.
- **143** S.J. Durning, A.R. Artino, E. Holmboe, T.J. Beckman, C. van der Vleuten and L. Schuwirth, 'Aging and cognitive performance: challenges and implications for physicians practicing in the 21st century', *Journal for Continuing Education of Health Professionals*, vol. 30, no. 3, 2010, pp. 153-60.
- 144 L. Lee and W. Weston, 'The aging physician', *Canadian Family Physician*, vol. 58, no. 1, 2012, pp.17-18.
- 145 P.G. Caulford, S.B. Lamb, T.B. Kaigas, E. Hanna, G.R. Norman and D.A. Davis, 'Physician incompetence: specific problems and predictors', *Academic Medicine*, vol. 69, no. 10, 1994, s16-8,

<u>http://journals.lww.com/academicmedicine/abstract/1994/10000/physician_incompetence_specific_problems_and.28.aspx</u>, (accessed May 2017).

- **146** J. Turnbull, J. Cunnington, A. Unsal, G. Norman and B. Ferguson, 'Competence and cognitive difficulty in physicians: a follow-up study', *Academic Medicine*, vol. 81, no. 10, 2006, pp. 915-8.
- 147 N. Kataria, N. Brown, P. McAvoy, A. Majeed and M. Rhodes, 'A retrospective study of cognitive function in doctors and dentists with suspected performance problems: an unsuspected but significant concern', *Journal of the Royal Society of Medicine Open*, vol. 5, no. 5, 2014, http://journals.sagepub.com/doi/full/10.1177/2042533313517687, (accessed May 2017).
- 148 E. Mioshi, K. Dawson, J. Mitchell, R. Arnold and J.R. Hodges, 'The Addenbrooke's Cognitive Examination Revised (ACE-R): a brief cognitive test battery for dementia screening', *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, vol. 21, no. 11, 2006, pp.1078-1085, <u>http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1002/gps.1610/full</u>, (accessed May 2017).
- **149** R.G. Adler and C. Constantinou, 'Knowing or not knowing when to stop: cognitive decline in ageing doctors', *Medical Journal of Australia*, vol. 189, no. 11-12, 2008, pp. 622-4.
- **150** S.M. LoboPrabhu, V.A. Molinari, J.D. Hamilton and J.W. Lomax, 'The aging physician with cognitive impairment: approaches to oversight, prevention, and remediation', *American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, vol. 17, no. 6, 2009, pp. 445-54.
- 151 D.A. Davis, P.E. Mazmanian, M. Fordis, R. van Harrison, K.E. Thorpe and I. Perrier, 'Accuracy of Physician Self-Assessment Compared with Observed Measures of Competence; A Systematic Review', JAMA, vol. 296, no. 9, 2006, pp. 1094-1102.
- **152** J. Kruger and D. Dunning, 'Unskilled and Unaware of It: How Difficulties in Recognizing One's Own Incompetence Lead to Inflated Self-assessments', *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, vol. 77, no. 6, 2009, pp. 30-46.
- **153** L.A Bieliauskas, S. Langenecker, C. Graver, H.J. Lee, J. O'Neill and L.J. Greenfield, 'Cognitive changes and retirement among senior surgeons (CCRASS): results from the CCRASS Study', *Journal of the American College of Surgeons*, vol. 207, no. 1, 2008, pp. 69-79.
- **154** R.G Adler and C. Constantinou, 'Knowing or not knowing when to stop: cognitive decline in ageing doctors', *Medical Journal of Australia*, vol. 189, no. 11, 2008, pp. 622-624.
- 155 N.K. Choudhry, R.H. Fletcher and S.B. Soumerai, 'Systematic review: the relationship between clinical experience and quality of health care', *Annals of Internal Medicine*, vol. 142, no. 4, 2005, pp. 260-73.
- **156** F. Goulet, E. Hudon, R. Gagnon, E. Gauvin, F. Lemire and I. Arsenault, 'Effects of continuing professional development on clinical performance: results of a study involving family practitioners in Quebec', *Canadian Family Physician*, vol. 59, no. 5, 2013, pp. 518-25.
- <u>157</u> Y. Tsugawa, J.P. Newhouse, J.D. MacArthur, A.M. Zaslavsky, D.M. Blumenthal, A.B. Jena and R.L. Newhouse, 'Physician age and outcomes in elderly patients in hospital in the US: observational study', *The BMJ*, vol. 357, no. 8106, 2017, j1797, <u>www.bmj.com/content/357/8106</u>, (accessed July 2017).
- **158** L.L. Drag, L.A. Bieliauskas, S.A. Langenecker and L.J. Greenfield, 'Cognitive functioning, retirement status, and age: results from the Cognitive Changes and Retirement among Senior Surgeons study', *Journal of the American College of Surgeons*, vol. 211, no. 3, 2010, pp. 303-7.

- **159** C. Wijeratne and C. Peisah, 'Accepting the challenges of ageing and retirement in ourselves: the need for psychiatrists to adopt a consensus approach', *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, vol. 47, no. 5, 2013, pp. 425-430.
- **160** S.J. Durning, A.R. Artino, E. Holmboe, T.J. Beckman, C. van der Vleuten and L. Schuwirth, 'Aging and cognitive performance: challenges and implications for physicians practicing in the 21st century', *Journal for Continuing Education of Health Professionals*, vol. 30, no. 3, 2010, pp. 153-60.
- 161 C. Peisah and K. Wilhelm, 'The impaired ageing doctor', *Internal Medical Journal*, vol. 32, no. 9-10, 2002, pp. 457-9.
- **162** S.M. LoboPrabhu, V.A. Molinari, J.D. Hamilton and J.W. Lomax, 'The aging physician with cognitive impairment: approaches to oversight, prevention, and remediation', *American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, vol. 17, no. 6, 2009, pp. 445-54.
- 163 M.M. van den Goor, C.C. Wagner and K.M. Lombarts, 'Poor physician performance in the Netherlands: Characteristics, causes, and prevalence', *Journal of Patient Safety*, 2015, <u>http://journals.lww.com/journalpatientsafety/Abstract/publishahead/Poor_Physician_Performance_in_the_Netherlands__.99637.aspx</u>, (accessed May 2017)
- <u>164</u> Institute of Medicine, *To Err is Human: Building a Safer Health System*, Washington, National Academy Press, 1999.
- 165 L.H. Aiken and J.H. Dahlerbruch, 'Physician age and patient outcomes', *The BMJ*, vol. 357, no. 8106, 2017, j2286, <u>www.bmj.com/content/357/8106</u>, (accessed July 2017).
- 166 K.W. Eva, 'Stemming the tide: cognitive aging theories and their implications for continuing education in the health professions', *Journal of Continuing Education in the Health Professions*, vol. 3, no. 3, 2003, pp. 133-140.
- <u>167</u> L.H.Aiken, D.M. Sloane, L. Bruyneel, K. Van den Heede, P. Griffiths, R. Busse, M. Diomidous, J. Kinnunen, M. Kózka, E. Lesaffre, M.D. McHugh, M.T. Moreno-Casbas, A.M. Rafferty, R. Schwendimann, P.A. Scott, C. Tishelman, T. van Achterberg and W. Sermeus, 'Nurse staffing and education and hospital mortality in nine European countries: a retrospective observational study', *The Lancet*, vol. 383, no. 9931, 2014, pp. 1824-30.
- **168** L. Lee and W. Weston, 'The aging physician', *Canadian Family Physician*, vol. 58, no. 1, 2012, pp.17-18.
- **169** R.W. Pong, F. Lemire and J. Tepper, *Physician retirement in Canada: what is known and what needs to be done*, Sudbury, Ontario: Centre for Rural and Northern Health Research, Laurentian University, 2007.
- <u>170</u> 'Medical practitioners workforce 2015', *Australian Institute of Health and Welfare*, 2016, <u>www.aihw.gov.au/reports/workforce/medical-practitioners-workforce-2015</u>, (accessed April 2016).
- <u>171</u> *Medical labour force 2004*, Canberra, ACT, National Health Labour Force Series No. 38, Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2006.
- **172** D.J. Schofield and J.R. Beard, 'Baby boomer doctors and nurses: demographic change and transitions to retirement', *Medical Journal of Australia*, vol. 183, no. 2, 2005, pp. 80-83.
- <u>173</u> 'Senior Surgeons in Active Practice,' *Position Paper*, Royal Australasian College of Surgeons, 2013, www.surgeons.org/media/20264872/2013-10-29 pos fes-fel-048 senior surgeons in active practice.pdf, (accessed May 2017).

- 174 C. Wijeratne, J.K. Earl and C. Peisah, 'Professional and psychosocial factors affecting the intention to retire of Australian medical practitioners', *Medical Journal of Australia*, vol. 206, no. 5, 2017, pp. 209-214.
- 175 The odds of retiring were higher for those with adequate financial resources (adjusted odds ratio [aOR], 1.31; 95% CI, 1.18–1.44) and greater anxiety about ageing (aOR, 1.05; 95% CI, 1.02–1.09). The odds of retiring were lower for international medical graduates (aOR, 0.61; 95% CI, 0.44–0.85), for those with greater work centrality (aOR, 0.89; 95% CI, 0.85–0.92) and greater emotional resources (aOR, 0.96; 95% CI, 0.93–0.98). Source: Wijeratne, Earl and Peisah, Australian and New Zeaand Journal of Psychiatry pp. 209–214.
- <u>176</u> B.M. Draper, 'Editorial: Older doctors and retirement', *Medical Journal of Australia*, vol. 206, no. 5, 2017, pp. 202-203.
- <u>177</u> Welfare of Anaesthetists Special Interest Group, 'Retirement and Late Career Options for the older professional', *Welfare of Anaesthetists*, 2016, <u>www.anzca.edu.au/documents/fa-wel-sig-rd-04-retirement-20161011.pdf</u>, (accessed March 2017).
- **178** S. Lillis and E. Milligan, 'Ageing doctors', *Australasian Journal on Ageing*, vol. 36, no. 1, 2017, pp. 14–18.
- **179** C. Peisah, R.G. Adler and B.W. Williams, 'Australian pathways and solutions for dealing with older impaired doctors: a prevention model', *Internal Medicine Journal*, vol. 37, no.12, 2007, pp. 826-31.
- **180** A.A. Khaliq, H. Dimassi, C.Y. Huang, L. Narine and R.A. Smego Jr., 'Disciplinary action against physicians: Who is likely to get disciplined?', *The American Journal of Medicine*, vol. 118, no. 7, 2005, pp. 773-7.
- 181 General Medical Council, 'Developing our understanding of risk', *The state of medical education and practice in the UK report: 2014*, <u>www.gmc-uk.org/Chapter 2 25112014.pdf 58752936.pdf</u>, (accessed June 2017).
- 182 L.J. Donaldson, S.S. Panesar, P.A. McAvoy and D.M. Scarrott, 'Identification of poor performance in a national medical workforce over 11 years: an observational study', *BMJ Quality and Safety*, vol. 23, no. 2, 2014, pp. 147–152.
- **183** The UK's National Clinical Assessment Service (NCAS) was set up in 2001 and helps improve patient safety by working with the National Health Service (NHS) and other healthcare organisations to resolve concerns about the professional practice of doctors, dentists and pharmacists. NCAS provides a range of services from telephone advice, through to more detailed and ongoing support, to a full assessment of the practitioner's performance. This consists of a workplace-based assessment, which includes a health assessment by a specialist in occupational medicine, a behavioural assessment by an occupational psychologist and an assessment of clinical practice. The components of the clinical assessment include a record review, observation of clinical practice, case-based assessment, site visit, and peer and patient feedback. Services are tailored to the specific case and may include specialised interventions including remediation. Source: Donaldson, Panesar, McAvoy and Scarrott, *BMJ Quality and Safety*, pp. 147–152.
- **184** S. Birkeland, R.D. Christensen, N. Damsbo and J. Kragstrup, 'Patient complaint cases in primary health care: what are the characteristics of general practitioners involved?', *BioMed Research International*, vol. 2013, no. 807204.
- <u>185</u> E. Unwin, K. Woolf, C. Wadlow and J. Dacre, 'Disciplined doctors: Does the sex of a doctor matter? A cross-sectional study examining the association between a doctor's sex and receiving sanctions against their medical registration', *BMJ Open*, vol. 4, no. 8, 2014, e005405, <u>http://bmjopen.bmj.com/content/4/8</u>, (accessed May 2017).

- **186** K. Elkin, M.J. Spittal and D.M. Studdert, 'Risks of complaints and adverse disciplinary findings against international medical graduates in Victoria and Western Australia', *Medical Journal of Australia*, vol. 197, no. 8, 2012, pp. 448–52, <u>www.mja.com.au/journal/2012/197/8/risks-complaints-and-adverse-disciplinary-findings-against-international-medical</u>, (accessed June 2017).
- **187** Physician Peer Review Nova Scotia Guidance on Risk and Supportive Factors in Medical Practice, 2017, <u>www.cpsns.ns.ca/Physician-Practice/PhysicianPeerReview</u>, (accessed August 2017).
- **188** M.M. Bismark, T.A. Brennan, R.J. Paterson, P.B. Davis and D.M. Studdert, 'Relationship between complaints and quality of care in New Zealand: a descriptive analysis of complainants and non-complainants following adverse events', *Quality and Safety in Health Care*, vol. 15, no. 1, 2006, pp. 17 -22.
- 189 S. Birkeland, 'Doctors' risks of formal patient complaints and the challenge of predicting complaint behaviour', *BMJ Quality and Safety*, vol. 25, no. 10, 2016, e2, <u>http://qualitysafety.bmj.com/content/25/10/e2</u>, (accessed August 2017).
- **190** General Medical Council, 'Developing our understanding of risk'.
- **191** M.M. Bismark, M.J. Spittal and D.M. Studdert, 'Prevalence and characteristics of complaint-prone doctors in private practice in Victoria', *Medical Journal of Australia*, vol. 195, no. 1, 2011, pp. 25-8.
- 192 M.M. Bismark, M.J. Spittal, L.C. Gurrin, M. Ward and D.M. Studdert, 'Identification of doctors at risk of recurrent complaints: a national study of healthcare complaints in Australia', *The BMJ Quality & Safety*, vol. 22, no. 7, 2013, pp. 532-540.
- **193** Personal communication between Expert Advisory Group Chair and author.
- **194** M.M. Bismark, M.J. Spittal and D.M. Studdert, 'Prevalence and characteristics of complaint-prone doctors in private practice in Victoria', *Medical Journal of Australia*, vol. 195, no. 1, 2011, pp. 25-8.
- 195 G.B Hickson, C.F. Federspiel, J.W. Pichert, C.S. Miller, J. Gauld-Jaeger and P. Bost, 'Patient complaints and malpractice risk', *JAMA*, vol. 287, no. 22, 2002, pp. 2951-7, <u>http://jamanetwork.com/journals/jama/fullarticle/195008</u>, (accessed August 2017).
- **196** G.B. Hickson, C.F. Federspiel, J. Blackford, J.W. Pichert, W. Gaska, M.W. Merrigan and C.S. Miller, 'Patient complaints and malpractice risk in a regional healthcare center', *Southern Medical Journal*, Vol. 100, no. 8, 2007, pp. 791–6.
- 197 D.A. Weycker and G.A. Jensen, 'Medical malpractice among physicians: Who will be sued and who will pay?', *Health Care Management Science*, vol. 3, no. 4, 2000, pp. 269–77, <u>https://link.springer.com/article/10.1023/A%3A1019014028914</u>, (accessed May 2017).
- **198** M.J. Spittal, M.M. Bismark and D.M. Studdert, 'The PRONE score: an algorithm for predicting doctors' risks of formal patient complaints using routinely collected administrative data', *BMJ Quality and Safety*, vol. 24, no. 6, 2015, pp. 360-8, <u>www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25855664</u>, (accessed August 2017).
- <u>199</u> 'Notifications to the Australian Health Practitioner Regulation Agency: Identifying 'hot spots' of risk', Melbourne School of Population and Global Health, University of Melbourne, [website], mspqh.unimelb.edu.au/research-groups/centre-for-health-policy/law-and-public-health/notifications-to-the-australian-health-practitioner-regulation-agency-identifying-hot-spots-of-risk, (accessed August 2017).
- **200** D.M. Studdert, M.M. Bismark, M.M. Mello, H. Singh and M.J. Spittal, 'Prevalence and Characteristics of Physicians Prone to Malpractice Claims', *New England Journal of Medicine*, vol. 374, no. 4, 2016, pp. 354-362.

- <u>201</u> ibid
- 202 F. Goulet, E. Hudon, R. Gagnon, E. Gauvin, F. Lemire and I. Arsenault, 'Effects of continuing professional development on clinical performance', *Canadian Family Physician*, vol. 59, no. 5, 2013, pp. 518-525, <u>www.cfp.ca/content/59/5/518.short</u>, (accessed August 2017).
- <u>203</u> E. Wenghofer, A.P. Williams and D. Klass, 'Factors Affecting Physician Performance: Implications for Performance Improvement and Governance', *Healthcare Policy*, vol. 5, no. 2, 2009, e141-160, <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2805145</u>, (accessed April 2017).
- **204** R. Lewkonia, N. Flook, M. Donoff and J. Lockyer, 'Family physician practice visits arising from the Alberta Physician Achievement Review', *BMC Medical Education*, vol. 13, 2013, pp. 121, <u>https://bmcmededuc.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/1472-6920-13-121</u>, (accessed August 2017).
- **205** C.S. Hultman, R. Gwyther, M.A. Saou, J.W. Pichert, T.F. Catron, W.O. Cooper and G.B. Hickson, 'Stuck in a moment: an ex ante analysis of patient complaints in plastic surgery, used to predict malpractice risk profiles, from a large cohort of physicians in the patient advocacy reporting system', *Annals of Plastic Surgery*, vol. 74, no. Supplement 4, 2015, S241-6, http://journals.lww.com/annalsplasticsurgery/toc/2015/06004, (accessed May 2017).
- **206** J.W. Pichert, G. Hickson and I. Moore, 'Using Patient Complaints to Promote Patient Safety', in K. Henriksen et al. (ed), *Advances in Patient Safety: New Directions and Alternative Approaches (Vol. 2: Culture and Redesign)*, Rockville, Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality, 2008.
- **207** This process is called the 'peer messenger process.' It was designed by Vanderbilt University Medical Center to address 'high-risk' physicians identified through analysis of unsolicited patient complaints, a proxy for risk of lawsuits, using the PARS system. Source: Pichert, Hickson and Moore, *Advances in Patient Safety*.
- **208** T. Hall, 'Inspired to shine', *SVHA Newsletter*, July 2016, <u>https://svha.org.au/home/newsroom/svha-newsletter/july-2016</u>, (accessed July 2017).
- <u>209</u> 'Major hospitals partner with Cognitive Institute to improve safety culture', *Cognitive Institute*, [website], 2006, www.cognitiveinstitute.org/Resources/MajorHospitals.aspx?utm_source=TractionNext&utm_mediu m=Email&utm_campaign=PeopleKnowHow+August+2016, (accessed July 2017).
- <u>210</u> R. Tamblyn, M. Abrahamowicz, D. Dauphinee, E. Wenghofer, A. Jacques, D. Klass, S. Smee, D. Blackmore, N. Winslade, N. Girard, R. Du Berger, I. Bartman, D.L. Buckeridge and J.A. Hanley, 'Physician scores on a national clinical skills examination as predictors of complaints to medical regulatory authorities', *JAMA*, vol. 298, no. 9, 2007, pp. 993-1001.
- 211 M. Cuddy, A. Young, A. Gelman, D. Swanson, D.A. Johnson, G.F. Dillon and B.E. Clauser, 'Exploring the Relationships Between USMLE Performance and Disciplinary Action in Practice: A Validity Study of Score Inferences From a Licensure Examination', *Academic Medicine*, Post Author Corrections, May 30, 2017, http://journals.lww.com/academicmedicine/Abstract/publishahead/Exploring_the_Relationships_B_etween_USMLE.98203.aspx, (accessed August 2017).
- **212** J.J. Norcini, J.R. Boulet, A. Opalek and W.D. Dauphinee, 'The relationship between licensing examination performance and the outcomes of care by international medical school graduates', *Academic Medicine*, vol. 89, no. 8, 2014, pp. 1157–1162.
- **<u>213</u>** D.J. Hillis and M.J. Grigg, 'Professionalism and the role of medical colleges', *Surgeon*, vol. 13, no. 5, 2015, pp. 292-9.

- <u>214</u> H.S. Wald, D. Anthony, T.A. Hutchinson, S. Liben, M. Smilovitch and A.A. Donato,
 'Professional identity formation in medical education for humanistic, resilient physicians: pedagogic strategies for bridging theory to practice', *Academic Medicine*, vol. 90, no. 6, 2015, pp. 753-60.
- 215 M.C. Mak-van der Vossen, W.N. van Mook, J.M. Kors, W.N. van Wieringen, S.M. Peerdeman, G. Croiset and R.A. Kusurkar, 'Distinguishing Three Unprofessional Behavior Profiles of Medical Students Using Latent Class Analysis', *Academic Medicine*, vol. 91, no. 9, 2016, pp. 1276-83.
- 216 A. Byszewski, J.S. Gill and H. Lochnan, 'Socialization to professionalism in medical schools: a Canadian experience', *BMC Medical Education*, vol. 15, no. 204, 2015, <u>https://bmcmededuc.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12909-015-0486-z</u>, (accessed August 2017).
- <u>217</u> E.A. Goldstein, R.R. Maestas, K. Fryer-Edwards, M.D. Wenrich, A.M. Oelschlager, A. Baernstein and H.R. Kimball, 'Professionalism in medical education: an institutional challenge', *Academic Medicine*, vol. 81, no. 10, 2006, pp. 871-6.
- **218** M.A. Papadakis, G.K. Arnold, L.L. Blank, E.S. Holmboe and R.S. Lipner, 'Performance during internal medicine residency training and subsequent disciplinary action by state licensing boards', *Annals of Internal Medicine*, vol. 148, no. 11, 2008, pp. 869–76.
- **219** K.J. Breen, S.M. Cordner and C.J. Thomson, *Good medical practice: professionalism, ethics and law*, 4th edn, Kingston, A.C.T., Australian Medical Council Limited, 2016.
- **220** B.W. Williams, 'The prevalence and special educational requirements of dyscompetent physicians', *Journal of Continuing Education in the Health Professions*, vol. 26, no. 3, 2006, pp. 173-91.
- 221 J. Cleland, H. Leggett, J. Sandars, M.J. Costa, R. Patel and M. Moffat, 'The remediation challenge: theoretical and methodological insights from a systematic review', *Medical Education*, vol. 47, no. 3, 2013, pp. 242-51.
- **222** C.J. Humphrey, 'Assessment and remediation for physicians with suspected performance problems: an international survey', *Journal of Continuing Education in the Health Professions*, vol. 30, no. 1, 2010, pp. 26-3.
- **223** S. Lillis, N. Takai and S. Francis, 'Long-Term Outcomes of a Remedial Education Program for Doctors with Clinical Performance Deficits', *Journal of Continuing Education in the Health Professions*, vol. 34, no. 2, 2014, pp. 96–101.
- **224** E. Hanna, J. Premi and J. Turnbull, 'Results of remedial continuing medical education in dyscompetent physicians', *Academic Medicine*, vol. 75, no. 2, 2000, pp. 174-6.
- 225 K.E. Hauer, A. Ciccone, T.R. Henzel, P. Katsufrakis, S.H. Miller, W.A. Norcross, M.A. Papadakis and D.M. Irby, 'Remediation of the deficiencies of physicians across the continuum from medical school to practice: a thematic review of the literature', *Academic Medicine*, vol. 84, no. 12, 2009, pp. 1822-32.
- **226** C. Humphreys and R. Locke, 'Provision of assessment and remediation for physicians about whom concerns have been expressed an international survey', *National Clinical Assessment Service King's College*, 2007, <u>www.ncas.nhs.uk/EasySiteWeb/GatewayLink.aspx?alId=9422</u>, (accessed May 2017).
- 227 Academy of Medical Royal Colleges Steering Group on remediation, 'Remediation report', Academy of Medical Royal Colleges remediation reports, 2010, <u>http://aomrc.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/06/Remediation_report_0310.pdf</u>, (accessed June 2017).

- **228** 'Data matters: Linking data to unlock information', *Bureau of Health Information*, 2015, www.bhi.nsw.gov.au/ data/assets/pdf_file/0003/290712/DataMatters.pdf, (accessed August 2017).
- **229** *Excellence and Innovation in Healthcare,* [website], 2017, <u>http://eih.health.nsw.gov.au/</u>, (accessed July 2017).
- 230 F. Sampurno and S.M. Evans (eds) for the Victorian Prostate Cancer Clinical Registry Steering Committee, 'Victorian Prostate Cancer Clinical Registry - Five Year Report', *Prostate Cancer Registry*, 2015, <u>http://pcr.registry.org.au/Files/Annual%20Reports/Vic%20PCR%20Five%20Year%20Report.pdf</u>, (accessed July 2017).
- <u>231</u> 'Surgical variance reports', *Royal Australasian College of Surgeons*, [website], <u>www.surgeons.org/policies-publications/publications/surgical-variance-reports/</u>, (accessed June 2017).
- 232 The Australian Atlas of Healthcare Variation, [website], <u>http://acsqhc.maps.arcgis.com/home/index.html</u>, (accessed July 2017).
- <u>233</u> 'Clinical quality registries', *Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care*, [website], www.safetyandquality.gov.au/search/Clinical+quality+registries, (accessed July 2017).
- <u>234</u> 'Patient-reported outcome measures', *Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care*, [website], <u>www.safetyandquality.gov.au/search/proms</u>, (accessed July 2017).
- 235 'Arthroplasty Clinical Outcomes Registry National (ACORN) 2015 Annual report', *Whitlam Orthopaedic Research Centre*, 2015, www.acornregistry.org/images/ACORN_AnnualReport_2015.pdf, (accessed July 2017).
- <u>236</u> 'Patient experience', *Australian Commission on Safety and Quality in Health Care*, [website], www.safetyandquality.gov.au/search/patient+experience, (accessed July 2017).
- 237 'Our standard sets', *International Consortium for Health Outcomes Measurement (ICHOM)*, [website], <u>www.ichom.org/medical-conditions</u>, (accessed July 2017).
- **238** P.G. Norton, E.V. Dunn, R. Beckett and D. Faulkner, 'Long-term follow-up in the peer assessment program for nonspecialist physicians in Ontario, Canada', *The Joint Commission Journal on Quality Improvement*, vol. 24, no. 6, 1998.
- **239** 'Peer and practice assessment', *The College of Physicians and Surgeons of Ontario*, [website], www.cpso.on.ca/CPSO-Members/Peer-Assessment, (accessed July 2017).
- **240** '2015 CPSO Annual Report by the numbers', *The College of Physicians and Surgeons of Ontario*, [website], 2015, <u>www.cpso.on.ca/CPSO/media/documents/Publications/Annual-Report/2015-</u> <u>Annual-Report infographic.pdf</u>, (accessed July 2017).
- **241** R.G. McAuley, W.M. Paul, G.H. Morrison, R.F. Beckett and C.H. Goldsmith, 'Five-year results of the peer assessment program of the College of Physicians and Surgeons of Ontario', *Canadian Medical Association Journal*, vol. 143, no. 11, 1990, pp. 1193-9.
- **242** P.G. Norton and D.A. Faulkner, 'A longitudinal study of performance of physicians' office practices: data from the Peer Assessment Program in Ontario, Canada', *The Joint Commission Journal on Quality Improvement*, vol. 25, no. 5, 1999, pp. 252-8.
- <u>243</u> 'The professional inspection visit', *Collège des médecins du Québec*, [website], <u>www.cmq.org/publications-pdf/p-3-2015-02-01-en-visite-inspection-professionnelle.pdf</u>, (accessed June 2017).

- <u>244</u> 'Peer Assessment', *The College of Physicians and Surgeons of Ontario*, [website], <u>www.cpso.on.ca/CPSO-Members/Peer-Assessment</u>, (accessed July 2017).
- **245** T. Theman, H.M. Oetter and D.A. Kendel, 'Revalidation of Canadian physicians', *Canadian Medical Association Journal*, vol. 180, no. 5, 2009, p. 539.
- <u>246</u> 'Practice checkup: Quality in Practice', *College of Physicians and Surgeons of Alberta*, [website], <u>www.cpsa.ca/your-practice/practice-checkup/</u>, (accessed July 2017).
- 247 Rules for member participation, *College of Physicians and Surgeons of Alberta*, [website], 2015, www.cpsa.ca/wpcontent/uploads/2015/09/2015 PhysicianCompetenceAssessmentProgramRules.pdf, (accessed July 2017).
- **248** S. Abd Elwahab and E. Doherty, 'What about doctors? The impact of medical errors', *Surgeon*, vol. 12, no. 6, 2014, pp. 297-300.
- 249 T. Bourne, L. Wynants, M. Peters, C. Van Audenhove, D. Timmerman, B. Van Calster and M. Jalmbrant, 'The impact of complaints procedures on the welfare, health and clinical practise of 7926 doctors in the UK: a cross-sectional survey', *BMJ Open*, vol. 5, no. 1, 2015, e006687, <u>http://bmjopen.bmj.com/content/5/1/e006687</u>, (accessed July 2017).
- **250** 'CME Content: Definition and Examples', *Accreditation Council for Continuing Medical Education*, [website], <u>www.accme.org/requirements/accreditation-requirements-cme-providers/policies-and-definitions/cme-content-definition-and-examples</u>, (accessed July 2016).
- <u>251</u> 'Registration standard: Continuing professional development', Medical Board of Australia, Mandatory registration standards, <u>www.medicalboard.gov.au/Registration-Standards</u>, (accessed April 2016).
- **252** Adapted from 'Standards for assessment and accreditation of specialist medical programs and professional development programs', *Australian Medical Council*, [website], 2015, Assessing specialist medical education and training, <u>www.amc.org.au/accreditation/medical-education</u>, (accessed May 2016).
- <u>253</u> ibid
- <u>254</u> J. Travaglia and D.V. Debono, *Peer review in medicine: a comprehensive review of the literature*, Sydney, Australia, Centre for Clinical Governance Research in Health, University of New South Wales, 2009.
- <u>255</u> 'Revalidation definition', *International Association of Medical Regulatory Authorities*, [website], <u>www.iamra.com/glossary#revalidation</u>, (accessed April 2016).
- **256** 'An introduction to revalidation', *General Medical Council*, [website], <u>www.gmc-uk.org/doctors/revalidation/9627.asp</u>, (accessed April 2016).